



Nastel XRay

User's Guide

Version 1

Document Number: XRUG1.07

© 2017-2022 Nastel Technologies, Inc. All rights reserved.

Document Title: Nastel XRay User's Guide **Nastel Document Number:** XRUG1.07 **Document Release Date:** April 2022

Published by:

Research & Development Nastel Technologies, Inc. 88 Sunnyside Blvd, Suite 101 Plainview, NY 11803

Copyright © 1998-2022. All rights reserved. No part of the contents of this document may be produced or transmitted in any form, or by any means without the written permission of Nastel Technologies.

Confidentiality Statement: The information within this media is proprietary in nature and is the sole property of Nastel Technologies, Inc. All products and information developed by Nastel are intended for limited distribution to authorized Nastel employees, licensed clients, and authorized users. This information (including software, electronic and printed media) is not to be copied or distributed in any form without the expressed written permission from Nastel Technologies, Inc.

Acknowledgements: The following terms are trademarks of Nastel Technologies Corporation in the United States or other countries or both: TransactionWorks, M6 AutoPilot, AutoPilot/IT, AutoPilot/Enterprise, M6 for WMQ, AutoPilot/WMQ, M6 Web Server, M6 Web Console, AutoPilot/WEB, MQControl, MQControl Express, AutoPilot/Transaction Analyzer, AutoPilot/WAS, AutoPilot/Transaction Monitor, AutoPilot/OS Monitor, Nastel Navigator.

The following terms are trademarks of the IBM Corporation in the United States or other countries or both: IBM, MQ, MQSeries, WebSphere, WebSphere MQ WIN-OS/2, AS/400, OS/2, DB2, AND AIX, z/OS.

The following terms are trademarks of Hewlett-Packard in the United States or other countries or both: OpenView, HP-UX.

Compaq, the Compaq logo, AlphaServer, Compaq Insight Manager, CDA, DEC, DECnet, TruCluster, ULTRIX, and VAX Registered in U.S. Patent and Trademark Office. Alpha and Tru64 are trademarks of Compaq Information Technologies Group, L.P in the United States and other countries.

SNMPc, SNMPc, WorkGroup, and SNMPc Enterprise are trademarks of Castle Rock Computing in the United States or other countries, or both.

Sun, Sun Microsystems, the Sun logo, iForce, Java, Netra, N1, Solaris, Sun Fire, Sun Ray, SunSpectrum, Sun StorEdge, SunTone, The Network is the Computer, all trademarks and logos that contain Sun, Solaris, or Java, and certain other trademarks and logos are trademarks or registered trademarks of Oracle Corporation and/or its affiliates.

InstallAnywhere is a registered trademark of ZeroG Software in the United States or other countries, or both.

This product includes software developed by the Apache Software Foundation (http://www.apache.org/). The Jakarta Project" and "Tomcat" and the associated logos are registered trademarks of the Apache Software Foundation

Intel, Pentium and Intel486 are trademarks or registered trademarks of Intel Corporation in the United States, or other countries, or both

Microsoft, Windows, Windows NT, Windows XP, .NET, .NET Framework and the Windows logos are registered trademarks of the Microsoft Corporation.

UNIX is a registered trademark in the United States and other countries licensed exclusively through X/Open Company Limited.

"Linux" and the Linux Logos are registered trademarks of Linus Torvalds, the original author of the Linux kernel. All other titles, applications, products, and so forth are copyrighted and/or trademarked by their respective authors.

SCO CUSA, SCO Doctor, SCO Doctor for Networks, SCO Doctor Lite, SCO Global Access, SCO MPX, SCO MultiView, SCO Nihongo OpenServer, SCO OK, the SCO OK logo, SCO OpenServer, SCO Open Server, SCO Portfolio, SCO POS System, SCO ToolWare, and The World Never Stops are trademarks or registered trademarks of Caldera International, Inc. in the U.S.A. and other countries, All Rights Reserved.

Oracle® is a registered trademark of Oracle Corporation and/or its affiliates.

Other company, product, and service names may be trademarks or service marks of others.

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS	III
HISTORY OF THIS DOCUMENT	v
CHAPTER 1: ABOUT NASTEL XRAY	1
1.1 Introduction	1
1.2 Key Benefits	2
1.3 Activities, Events and Snapshots Concept Overview	2
1.3.1 Example: My Workday	3
1.3.2 Example: Grocery Shopping	4
1.4 Data	4
1.5 JKQL	4
CHAPTER 2: USING NASTEL XRAY	5
2.1 Δοσεςείνος Νλάτει ΧΡλγ	5
	5
2.2 LANDING FAGL	5
2.2.7 Analyze rour buta. Import a rife information informa	0
2.2.2 Explore a Demo	. 12
2.2.7 Disable Landing Page	15
2.2.4 Disuble Lunuing Luge	16
2.3 Renository	10
2.3.7 Repository	18
233 logout	18
234 Search	19
2 3 5 Default Date & Time Range	. 19
2.3.6 Main Menu	
2.4 Dashboards	22
2.4.1 Sample Dashboards	
2.4.2 Dashboard Actions	23
2.4.3 Summary Panel	29
2.4.4 Console Panel	30
2.4.5 End User Monitoring	31
2.5 VIEWLETS	31
2.5.1 Create / Open Viewlets	32
2.5.2 Edit Query	43
2.5.3 Undo / Redo	43
2.5.4 Viewlet Chart Types and Samples	44
2.5.5 Date and Time	93
2.5.6 Refresh Viewlet	95
2.5.7 Viewlet Menu	95
2.5.8 Filtering and Display Options	97
2.5.9 Rename Viewlet	103
2.5.10 Share Viewlet	104
2.5.11 Nastel AutoPilot Integration	106
2.6 Import / Export	109
2.6.1 Data	109
2.6.2 Viewlets	111
2.6.3 Dashboard	112
2.6.4 Sets	114

CHAPTE	R 3: SETTINGS	116
3.1	Admin Settings	116
3.1.1	1 Branding	116
3.1.2	2 Sets	120
3.1.3	3 Organization	124
3.1.4	4 Views	139
3.1.5	5 jKQL Scripts	140
3.1.6	5 Alerts	143
3.1.7	7 Viewlet	149
3.1.8	3 Graph	150
3.1.9	9 Features	150
3.2	User Settings	151
3.2.1	1 Two-factor Authentication	151
3.2.2	2 Change Password	153
3.2.3	3 Date & Time Range	154
3.2.4	4 Configure Dashboards	154
3.2.5	5 Configure Schemas	159
3.2.6	5 Repository	163
3.2.7	7 Personal Tokens	163
CHAPTEI	R 4: FUNCTIONS	165
11	GENERAL FUNCTIONS	165
4.1 4.2		165
4.2 1.2		166
ч.5 Д Д		167
4.4 4.5	BUILT-IN AGGREGATE FUNCTIONS	169
4.5		171
		174
CHAPTE		1/4
5.1	GET	176
5.2	Show As	177
5.3	SUBSCRIBE TO	178
5.4	Additional Query Options	178
СНАРТЕ	R 6: USE CASE EXAMPLES	181
6.1	ROOT CAUSE ANALYSIS OF APPLICATION PERFORMANCE PROBLEMS	181
6.2	Real User Monitoring	182
6.3	Managed File Transfer (MFT)	182
6.4	APPLICATION PERFORMANCE MONITORING	183
6.5	MOBILE ANALYTICS	184
6.6	KAFKA MONITORING	186
CHAPTEI	R 7: TROUBLESHOOTING	187
		400
INDEX		190

History of this Document

		Table 1. Document History
Release Date	Doc Number	Summary
January 2019	XRUG1.00	Initial release.
May 2019	XRUG1.01	The concept of data types with examples added (section 1.3), updated Chapter 2: Using Nastel XRay, sections 2.3 Toolbar, 2.5 Viewlets (detailed descriptions of viewlet types and their options with samples added), Chapter 4: Functions, Chapter 5: Using jKQL. New content added: 2.4.2.4 Assign to Teams, Chapter 3: Settings.
August 2019	XRUG1.02	Added information on two-factor authentication and the online Help site. Updated information on viewlets including renaming, filtering, and editing/creating using forms. Added Chapter 7, Troubleshooting.
September 2019	XRUG1.03	Updated figure numbers in sections 2.5.7 and 2.5.8. Minor formatting update to Case 7 in Chapter 7.
March 2020	XRUG1.04	 Updated miscellaneous figures. Updates to sections 2.3.6, 2.4.4, 2.5.5, 3.1 and 3.2. Added information about the following new features: Sharing viewlets (section 2.5.10) Closing dashboard tabs (section 2.4.2.3) Expanding/collapsing viewlets (section 2.5.8.6) Data loss prevention in dashboards and viewlets (2.4 and 2.5) Undo/redo viewlets (section 2.5.3) "Move to dashboard" option for <i>Console</i> viewlets (section 2.4.4) Configurations for charts that have axes, like bar and col charts (2.5.1.2) Tree viewlets (2.5.4.14) Drilldown feature (2.5.1.2) Override option (2.6.2.1, 2.6.3.1 and 2.6.4.1)
April 2020	XRUG1.05	Add option, "Use data from another Repository," to section 2.4.2.1, Dashboard Actions – Create.
February 2021	XRUG 1.6	Update figures 2.4.2.2-A (Open Dashboard) and Figure 3.2.5-C (Add Fields for Schema). Add figure 3.2.5-D (Alias Names). Update section 3.1.1.4. Update section 2.5 (add links to viewlet chart type sections). Add sections 2.5.4.15 (Clustering), 2.5.4.16 (Correlation), 2.5.4.17 (Feature Suggestion, 2.5.4.18 (Forecast) and 2.5.4.19 (Expected). Add sections 2.5.11 - Nastel AutoPilot Integration, and 2.5.4.20 – Images.

_

Table 1. Document History						
Release Date	Doc Number	Summary				
April 2022	XRUG 1.7	Add information on logo image size limit in section 3.1.1.1 (Logos). Add support note to section 2.5.4.20 (Images). Add sharing info to Images section (2.5.4.20). Added Admin sections for Views and jKQL Scripts.				

Chapter 1: About Nastel XRay

1.1 Introduction

For IT Ops professionals, members of the DevOps group, and developers, the ultimate advantage would be to know everything as it happens in their business – and everything that could happen. To know all and see all with complete vision is the competitive ideal: operations managers armed with real-time analytics, detecting performance problems before delays arise; the company discovering trends the moment they form.

If there is a function in modern technology that offers anything close to this ideal of omniscience, it's providing real-time analytics to prevent problems (or at least their impact) and forensics to resolve the problems you can't prevent.

Such awareness is difficult to attain, and it is often impossible for companies to know in advance what events need to be analyzed and when that analysis must happen. IT must store and analyze everything, or risk missing evidence of operational lags, risks, or rising customer trends. For security compliance reasons alone, enterprises are required to maintain good logs, store them securely for at least one year, and review them daily.

An important consideration is whether staff are looking at the data with the right degree of resolution. A common strategy is to restrict support staff to low-resolution viewlets, so they can isolate a problem to a specific infrastructure tier and then pass the problem to a specialist, who starts diagnosing the problem all over again with a different tool. While this approach works, it is time-consuming, expensive, and disruptive. A more productive approach would be to allow application support to use a high-resolution analysis, equipping them with the forensic tools to both diagnose a problem and immediately begin its resolution.

To answer business-centric questions and provide guidance for decision-makers, Nastel XRay combines:

Analytics using advanced predictive anomaly detection and machine learning algorithms for problem prevention across apps, messaging, logs, mobile, and the IoT.

Insight into applications, including payment processing, trade compliance, order tracking, healthcare claims processing, compliance, machine data, and more.

Visibility across the IBM stack (MQ, IIB, DP, MFT), Java, mobile, and the newer open-source technologies such as Kafka, STORM, Spark, MQTT, log files, Python, REST, and much more. Multi-tenancy with private data repositories available on premise or in SaaS.

Lambda architecture with grids for real-time, in-memory analytics as well as historical analytics, data replication, and time-to-live for all streaming data.

End-to-end business transaction tracking that spans technologies, tiers, and organizations. Intuitive, easy-to-use data visualizations and dashboards.

These capabilities fuse seamlessly across dynamic IT environments, from mobile to mainframe. They provide the broad array of analytic and decision-support capabilities needed by developers, IT admins, and business analysts to satisfy real-time operations intelligence and APM needs.

1.2 Key Benefits

Key benefits are insight, visibility, prediction, and machine learning that is easy-to-use to:

Improve service to customers and reduce operational risk – using machine learning analytics.

Highly scalable with self-service access, without need for data scientists – using flexible web-based UI's and natural language for ease of use and a powerful Lambda architecture with microservices for scalability.

Reduce support costs – via Docker deployment, open-source data collectors and ease of use.

1.3 Activities, Events and Snapshots Concept Overview

The Nastel XRay data model consists of the following items:

Events: Actions or occurrences recognized by software that may be handled by the software. Event is the smallest item, which can be measured by time.

Activities: A collection of related tracking events (TrackingEvent) and other sub-activities. Relation is established via a grouping specified by a developer or set of correlators (across thread, application boundaries). Activities may have a set of user-defined properties which are grouped into property snapshots (PropertySnapshot).

Sets: Named collections of Activities that meet specific criteria.

Snapshots: A collection of properties with category, name, and a time stamp associated with when the snapshot is taken. Activities may have one or more property snapshots.

Dictionaries: Generic, free-form items that can have user-defined properties.

Sources: Represent origins of Events and Activities. They can be references generically as Sources, or by the specific class of source:

GeoLocation; DataCenter; Network; Device; Address; Server; Process; Runtime; AppServer; Application; SourceUser; VirtualSource

The concept of activities, events and snapshots are displayed in the following figure.



Figure 1.3-A. Activities, Events and Snapshots Concept

1.3.1 Example: My Workday

See *Figure 1.3.1-A* below for an example. The main activity is "My Workday" which is the highest (super) activity. It is the outcome of smaller activities, events, and snapshots.

For example, "My Workday" consists of the following smaller activities:

- I come to work
- I go to lunch
- I have a Skype call

These smaller activities are outcomes of related events. For example, "I come to work," consists of the following related events:

- I open the office door with my key card
- I say hello to my colleague
- I turn on my computer

Events not related to the main activity can exist; they occur on their own without any parent activity. For example, "a bird hit a window." It happened during your workday, and you saw it in your office, but it is not related to your workday (the main activity).

The events can have snapshots. Snapshots are collections of event data aspects which can be measured statistically. For example:

- The amount of time it took to enter the office with my key card
- The eye color of my colleague
- The type of computer I use



Figure 1.3.1-A. Example: My Workday

1.3.2 Example: Grocery Shopping

You are buying products in the supermarket (this is the activity). The event would be the process of scanning the product barcodes. The snapshots are all related to the event of scanning. Examples are the time it took to scan the products, package color, product weight.

Activity: You are buying products in the supermarket

Event: The process of scanning product barcodes

Snapshots: The time it took to scan, product package colors, product weight

1.4 Data

Users can either stream their data or upload a file (<u>Section 2.2.1</u>) to use Nastel XRay to analyze and present their data.

1.5 jKQL

jKQL is an English-like query and stream processing language for analyzing machine data in flight (Fast Data) and at rest. It defines the syntax of statements used for manipulating data in the Nastel XRay Data Model. It enables the user to search, filter, group, and count data. It is designed to be used by both the business user and the data scientist. Use jKQL to analyze anomalies, behavior, flows, relationships, and patterns in time-series data as it relates to your business. (See <u>Chapter 5: Using jKQL</u>).

Chapter 2: Using Nastel XRay

Nastel XRay puts your data (streaming or imported from a file) in a repository and displays it as a collection of customized viewlets grouped into one or more dashboards depending on your needs.

2.1 Accessing Nastel XRay

- 1. Open your internet browser.
- 2. Go to the URL address provided by your System Administrator *and press* **Enter**. The Nastel XRay *login dialog box is displayed*.

M X	STEL Ray
2. Login ID	
Password	
LOGIN	Forgot Password ?
Not registered for Nastel subscription <u>here</u>	XRay yet? Sign up for a
Terms of Servic	e Privacy Policy
By logging in you	agree to these terms.



The login dialog box may display your company logo instead of the Nastel XRay logo. Please see <u>Section 3.1.1, Branding</u>.

3. Enter your **Login ID** and **Password** and click **LOGIN**. If you would like to reset your password, click **Forgot Password**.



Please note that the *Forgot Password* page is specified by going to the **Main Menu** and selecting **Admin Settings > Branding > Login Page > Forgot Password URL** (see <u>Section 3.1.1.2, Login Page</u>).

4. By default, the Landing Page is displayed. Please see the next section, 2.2, Landing Page, for more information.

2.2 Landing Page

The Landing Page is used as an initial screen for Nastel XRay novices, providing guidance on what the solution provides as well as an easy-to-use wizard for importing data. Experienced users can skip this screen and go directly to their dashboards by clicking **Go to Dashboard**.

The landing page can be accessed at any time by clicking the **Main Menu** and selecting **Landing Page** (*Figure 2.3.6-A*).

The Landing Page provides three options:

- Analyze Your Data (<u>Section 2.2.1</u>): import your data
- Explore a Demo (Section 2.2.2): sample walk-throughs
- Go to Dashboard (Section 2.2.3): view your dashboard

	Operational Analytics Ma	ade Easy!
	Where do you want to sta	rt?
Analyze Your Data	Explore a Demo	Go to Dashboard
	A	
	Choose a demo:	
FRIM	Order Tracking IoT	DevOps
	Start a demu	

Figure 2.2-A. Landing Page

2.2.1 Analyze Your Data: Import a File

To import your data, select **Analyze Your Data** from the Landing Page (*Figure 2.2-A*). The following file formats are supported:

- .xls, .xlsx
- Apache log
- .CSV
- Custom (with configuration)



From the dashboard, users can also import data by clicking the green **Import Data** button located on the top right of the screen. Please note that this button does not appear for sample repositories.

Perform the following to import your file:

1. Click **Choose File** to select a file to import.

STAGES	PREVIEW					
XLS til						
LOG Ħ	No file	e chosen		Choose File		
<mark>csv</mark> ဇ		(OR DRAG YOUR	FILE HERE		
CUS TOM + config	 					
Cancel					١	lext →

Figure 2.2.1-A. Import File

2. If you have selected the wrong file, you can update it by clicking **Change** and selecting another file. Click **Next**.

STAGES	UPLOAD	MEVEW	NIPORT	VIEWLETS	PUBLISH	6			
XLS									
Log			Sample	-data-for-jKoc	N xisx		Change		
				OR	DRAG YOUR	FILE HERE			
1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1									
Cancel								Next	

Figure 2.2.1-B. Change Your File Selection

3. Analyze the preview. If your file does not look correct, click **Advanced** to change processing options.

	CFG	RELDATE S-TRU	E						
1	HDR	Source	SourceFQN						
2	ROW	Source	APPL=amqsget.exe#SERVER=QM_C:HPENVY0113						
3	ROW	Source	'APPL=amqsput.exe#SERVER=QM_C:HPENVY0113'						
4	ROW	Source	RUNTIME=2588@HPENVY0113#SERVER=HPENVY0113#NETADDR=169_254_40_205#DATACENTE Streams'						
5	HDR	Event	EventID						
6	ROW	Event	'0228976b-cdd6-11e8-b9d7-005056c00008'						
7	ROW	Event	'0238c40c-cdd6-11e8-b9d7-005056c00008'						
8	ROW	Event	'06960db5-cdd7-11e8-b9d7-005056c00008'						

Figure 2.2.1-C. Preview Imported File

		First row as header :	O Yes O No		File encodin	0: UTF - 8		
		Column separator:	¥.;	•	Decimal charact	ter		
	CFG	RELDATES=FALSE						
1	HDR	Source				SourceFQN		
2	ROW	Source		'APPL	CHL RECEIVER T	O_QM_B#SER	VER=QM_B:HPE	NVY01
3	ROW	Source		'APP	L=CHL:SENDER TO	QM_B#SERV	ER=QM_AHPE	WYO11
4	ROW	Source			'APPL=amqsget.ex	e#SERVER=Q	M_AHPENVY01	13
5	ROW	Source			'APPL=amqsget.ex	e#SERVER=0	M_B:HPENVY01	13
- Arrison of	ROW	Source			'APPL=amqsput.ex	e#SERVER=Q	M_AHPENVY01	13
6					A se allocate	and and any other for the second second		A. 1

Figure 2.2.1-D. Advanced Options for Imported File

- 4. The following options are available:
 - First row as header Specify if the first row is a header row.
 - File encoding Select encoding type.
 - **Column separator** From the drop-down menu select the column delimiter: comma, semicolon, or tab.
 - **Decimal character** Specify the decimal number delimiter: period or comma.

After you have made your selections, click **Next**.

5. This screen allows you to:

- Change the name of column headers. You can select from the drop-down list or type over the existing header name.
- Map data imported into Nastel XRay to an existing field within the Nastel XRay data model. Alternatively, by selecting the option "new property," this can be used to import custom data and label it with a name that has relevance to the user.
- Remove a column.

Click **Next** to continue.

	New property *	New property *	
	CFG	RELDATES=FALSE	
	Generic •	Generic •	
_	Generic String	RELDATES=FALSE	1
1	Number	Source	SourceFQN
2	ROW	Source	'APPL=CHL:RECEIVER:TO_QM_B#SERVE
3	ROW	Source	'APPL=CHL SENDER TO_QM_B#SERVER
4	ROW	Source	'APPL=amosget.exe#SERVER=QM_
5	ROW	Source	'APPL=amqsget.exe#SERVER=QM_
6	ROW	Source	'APPL=amqsput.exe#SERVER=QM_
T	ROW	Source	'APPL=nsrpl exe#SERVER=QM_A
_			RUNTINE:0812/00000113#SERVER:000113#NETADOR:160.754

Figure 2.2.1-E. Additional Advanced Options for Imported File

- 6. The fields on the following screen are optional. Populate them to make the data more detailed.
 - **Application name:** Enter the application name.
 - **Server name:** Enter the name of the server.
 - **Network address:** Enter the data source IP address.
 - **Data center:** Specify the name of the data center.
 - **Geo address** Click **Use current location** to populate the field with the latitude and longitude of your current location.

STAGES	UPLOAD	MANAGE	MAP			VIEWLETS	PUBLISH	
Application nar	ne			Server	name			
Network addres	55			Data c	enter			
Geo address								
40.7953408, -7	3.4715904	<u>← Us</u>	e current loca	<u>tion</u>				
Cancel						← B	ack S	tart import

Figure 2.2.1-F. More Advanced Options for Imported File

Click **Start import** to import your file.

STAGES —	UPLOAD	PREVIEW		VIEWLETS	PUBLISH		
				100%			
			Waiting fo	r stream to start.			
TD							
To Background	Abort					← Back	Next →

Figure 2.2.1-G. Import Process

The import process can be run in the background by clicking **To Background**. To cancel the import, click **Abort**. A confirmation dialog box will appear when the import is finished. Click **Next**.

If you selected to run the import process in the background, you can view the imported data by going to **Main Menu** > **Import / Export** > **Data** where you can create viewlets and specify a dashboard (see <u>Section 2.6.1, Data</u>, for more information). Otherwise, continue to step 7.

7. A summary of the data will display on the following screen. Click next to select viewlets or click **Finish** to load default viewlets.

STAGES -	UPLOAD	MANAGE	⊘ MNP	EVENT	IMPORT	VIEWLETS	PURLISH
Total lines:		Current line:	Т	Total Bytes:	Byte	s streamed:	Elapsed time:
520		27	I	573,386		23,796	287ms
	-9 Ar			Skipped activities:		3	
				1			
To Background	Abio	a.(Back	Next

Figure 2.2.1-H. Imported File Summary

8. A default set of viewlets is provided. By default, all viewlets are selected (selected viewlets appear in blue). Simply click a viewlet to unselect it (unselected viewlets appear in full color). Click **Next** to add the selected viewlets to a dashboard.



Figure 2.2.1-I. Viewlets for Imported File

- 9. Add your viewlets to an existing dashboard or create a new dashboard.
 - Add to Dashboard section- Add your viewlets to an existing dashboard by selecting a dashboard from the **Select dashboard** drop-down list.
 - **Create New Dashboard** section Add your viewlets to a new dashboard. Enter a name for the new dashboard and select one, two, or three columns.

ADD TO DASHBO	ARD	CREATE NEW DASHBOARD	
Select dashboard		Dashboard name:	
Select	•	New Dashboard	
		Page layout:	
		One column	
		Two columns	
		Three columns	

Figure 2.2.1-J. Add Imported File Viewlets to Dashboard

Click **Finish** to display your imported data in your dashboard.



2.2.2 Explore a Demo

Clicking **Explore a Demo** on the *Landing Page* provides walk-throughs of the following four business issue scenarios where Nastel XRay can be used to solve a problem:

- **RUM** (Real User Monitoring): illustrates how to determine the root cause of poor end-user experience. (Go to <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=OuYvkRix6iM</u> to watch a brief use-case demonstration.)
- **Order Tracking:** illustrates how to trace the flow of an order from order placement through verification, payment, shipping, and more.
- **IoT**: illustrates the Internet of Things (IoT) as used in athletics, specifically basketball.
- **DevOps**: illustrates how to analyze the Build and Deploy processes.



Figure 2.2.2-A. Choose a Demo

Each walk-through starts with an explanation of the problem, the solution, and the steps taken to solve the problem. To view a demo, select it and click **Start a demo**.

At the end of each demo, there is an option to load your own data into the example. Click **Load your data** and select your file (refer to <u>Section 2.2.1, Analyze Your Data</u>, for information on importing data).

Another helpful vis Viewlet.	sualization	is the	Compariso				
We are comparing builds and attempting to catch variances between different instances of the same test. We are filtering this to show the slowest five events.							
This Viewlet is an easy way to compare multiple items and detect what is different.							
		Load y	our data				
←	Back		FINISH				

Figure 2.2.2-B. Load Your Data

The next section is a walk-through of the **Order Tracking** demo.

2.2.2.1 Order Tracking Demo

After selecting **Explore a Demo**, select **Order Tracking**. Click **Start a demo**.

	IT Operational Ana	alytics Made	Simple
	Where do you	want to start?	
Analyze Your Data	Explore a C] Demo	Go to Dashboard
18	Choose a d	emo:	
RUM	Order Tracking	IOT	DevOps
	Start a der	по	
	Use case: Ord	er Tracking	

Figure 2.2.2.1-A. Start a Demo

A viewlet is displayed which shows a topology map of the business milestones. The jKQL query that produced this viewlet is shown at the top of the viewlet.

Coder Process Business Milestones	This Vendet shows a lopping map showing
picile get relatives show as topology 🔊 🔊 🕫 🖒 🛇	butines objectives (milestanes).
C Set 1 Dritsed	The health bar underhealth each icon is colored to Burbole status
	icons are clicked on in order to drill into the details and participantics of These business objectives.
August Stellmant	
An and a set of the se	
	Cancel Next
SLA Stotcessful	

Figure 2.2.2.1-B. Order Tracking Demo – Page 1

- The health bar under each icon is color coded to reflect status (green = good, yellow = warning, red = critical).
- To drill into the details of an event, click the icon. Click **Next** to view the details of the circled milestone, **Order Placed**.
- Clicking the health bar for **Order Placed**, produces a pop-up menu for drill-down into SLAs and performance metrics for transactions and activities.

- 00	fer Process f	Residents Millestones									6	Closing on the health bar for	Order Placed, will
(KOL 9	et relatives	show as topology								(B.)	00 Ø N	produce a pop-up menu fui drill- performance metrics for trainacti	lown into SLAs and ons, and Activities.
g X 🖬		set 1 Serf	Message —	- Enclosed								Click we SLA to see the objection of the second to the second to the second to the second to the second the second to the second	e of Elapsed Time armactions that del ar objective
								6-6-6-6-	Press Parent	1.000	Dis Pastat		
-	1	Order Placed		n				Gent 18	- <u></u>	General II			
	Deter Parent	Activities	(21)	lar	water		Deler Romer		Personalization				
	Ť	Transactions	(27)	Gam		Gern 16		Deet 10					
		Objectives		1									-
		 SLA ElacoadTime → 2 set 	iones									+ Bax	MENT -+
		Not mat	(24)										Cancel
		+ Succession											
. 9.4		Successful											

Figure 2.2.2.1-C. Order Tracking Demo – Page 2

- Click **SLA** to see the objective of **Elapsed Time <= 2 seconds**.
- Choose Not Met to see the transactions that did not meet the required performance objective.
- Click **Next** to proceed.

This screen shows the open **Console** where the slow transactions are listed. In this example, a transaction was selected, and topology chosen. Click **Next** to view the topology.

Contemposed Busin	The consolic opens up showing the transactions its						
ROLE Get Activity field	ware slow.						
ActivityName	StartTime	ElapsedTime	Severity	Exception	CompCode	Paren	Click on one and select "Topnings" from the popup.
AcceptDraw	2016-09-15 12:20:33	70001 2:1718	() BEQ		SUCCESS	a0:031	The transaction topology for that single transaction in checkword
Acceptorate	2016-09-10 12:20:42	1620 2:0475	O mea		C SUCCESS	102427	
Events	2018-89-15 12:28:92	0570K 2,1018	O MER		O SUCCESS	100173	
	15						
							+-70401 19810 ++
							Canori

Figure 2.2.2.1-D. Order Tracking Demo – Page 3

This screen shows the topology. By clicking the various icons, you can drill down into each event to see the root cause of the problem.

					Clicking on the event failure icon will show a list o SQL requests that failed.
			VALIDATE ORDERS QUE	iE The	Clicking an the message icon in one of the even fisted shown the SQL call that was executed.
	Avg 163mm	VertiOrare			The root cause for transactions that mbosed the SLAs was a SQL request that timed out
	WebOrders		VerbCredit		
10.000	Activities	(27)	Count: 1		
weed	Activity Status	Could (27)			
	A Exception	D	CREDIT ORDERS QUEL	E DroeReva	Load your data
	Others	27		Avg Orm	
	Events	108)			
	Severity	Court (108)			
	C Error	7			
	R. time				- Had FWI8H
	Com.	4			
	Others	92			

Figure 2.2.2.1-E. Order Tracking Demo – Page 4

This is the end of this demo. You can either:

- Return to the Landing Page by clicking Finish.
 OR
- Import your own data file into the example by clicking **Load your data** and following the prompts (see *Section 2.2.1, Analyze Your Data*, for more information).

2.2.3 Go to Dashboard

The **Go to Dashboard** option on the Landing Page takes you to your dashboard if you have previously created one. If no dashboards exist, you will be asked to create one (*Figure 2.4.2.1-B*).

See the next section, Disable Landing Page, for information on the **Never show again** option.

2.2.4 Disable Landing Page

The landing page can be disabled to allow users to view their dashboard immediately after logging in. Perform one of the following to disable the landing page:

• Before clicking **Go to Dashboard** from the Landing Page, enable the **Never show again** option.



Figure 2.2.4-A. Landing Page – Never Show Again

 Or on the Main Menu, select User Settings > Configure Dashboards to open the Configure Dashboard dialog box. Select Off for Landing page and click Save (See <u>Figure 3.2.4.5</u>).

2.3 Toolbar

The main toolbar of the screen has the following options. Use the figure below as a reference.

- A-C: Repository Quota Limits (Section 2.3.1.1)
 - A: Data Points
 - B: Stream Messages Per Day
 - C: Stream Bytes Per Day
- D: Repository Drop-down (Section 2.3.1)
- E: Search (<u>Section 2.3.4</u>)
- F: Current User
- G: Help (<u>Section 2.3.2</u>)
- H: Log Out (<u>Section 2.3.3</u>)
- I: Default Date & Time (<u>Section 2.3.5</u>)
- J: Main Menu (Section 2.3.6)
- K: Import Data button (Section 2.2.1)
- L: Add Viewlet button (Section 2.5.1)
- M: **Modify** button (<u>Section 2.5.8.1</u>)



Figure 2.3-A. Main Toolbar

2.3.1 Repository

To load a repository, select it from the **Repository** drop-down menu on the main toolbar as seen in the figure below. Repositories appearing under **Global Repositories** are sample repositories available to all users (see <u>Section 2.4.1, Sample Dashboards</u>, for more information).



Figure 2.3.1-A. Repository

Each section within the **Repository** drop-down menu represents a different organization (organization name will be bolded) and their repositories. Use the search field to quickly search the menu.

test 🔺
repo2
test
testing
tikrool2Repo
test
morka
pomidoras
Global Repositories
Sample
Sample-AnomalyDetection
Sample-DevOps
Sample-EUM
Sample-IOTSports
Sample-Middleware
Sample-Mobile
Sample-OrderTracking

Figure 2.3.1-B. Repository Drop-down Menu

2.3.1.1 Repository Quota Limits

The **Repository Quota Limit** drop-down (immediately to the left of the **Repository** dropdown) displays your data and repository limits (dependent on your license). Click the **Repository Quota Limit** drop-down menu to view limit amounts for **Data points**, **Stream messages per day** and **Stream bytes per day**.

For limited licenses, the data point usage percentage will display within the drop-down.



Figure 2.3.1.1-A. Data Points Percentage

For unlimited licenses, **Unlimited** will display.

Data points	Unlimited	•	111	•
			Search	0,

Figure 2.3.1.1-B. Unlimited Data Points

Clicking on the limit bar will generate a **Data Points** dashboard consisting of viewlets displaying data points of events, activities, and snapshots from the latest week (see <u>Section</u> <u>5.4</u> for examples of "Last" and "Latest").

Data Points - 2019-05-0*	
Sunynary	0
Data Points - Events	ß
QL> get number of events for latest week group by starttime bucketed by hour show as linechart	いってほうへく
Data Points - Activities	P
KQL> get number of activities for latest week group by starttime bucketed by hour show as linecha	✓ > C @ @ @ C < √
Data Points - Snapshots	12
QL> get number of snapshots for latest week group by snapshottime bucketed by hour show as linecha	art [⊃] つ ⊂ 🔟 🏛 C < 🗸

Figure 2.3.1.1-B. Data Points Dashboard

2.3.2 Help

Click the question mark icon on the toolbar (*Figure 2.3-A*) to access the help page. This link is defined in **Main Menu > Admin Settings > Branding > Index Page > Help url** (see <u>Section</u> <u>3.1.1.4, Index Page</u>).

2.3.3 Logout

Click the **Logout** icon O on the toolbar (*Figure 2.3-A*) to exit the system. Before exiting, the following dialog box appears asking if you would like to save or discard updates made.



2.3.4 Search

At the top right of the screen there is a **Search** field used to search through event data. Within the **Search** field, enter a word or phrase relevant to event data. The search will run a jKQL query as follows:

jKQL> Find `typed search word' in Events

The results will display in a viewlet within a new dashboard titled, **Search -** *search query***-** *(date and time*). In the below example, **longest activity** was entered in the **Search** field.

1	NASTEL			Data points	Data ports Unlimited •		-	Ru	fa ? ()
C	XRay					longest activity	α,	This Year	• =
E	h first Dashinari	Search - kingent activity	e.					Insort Data ef	Viewlit) +
	Search Results - longe	st activity							ø
jRG	Find 'longest activi	ty' in Events						MC 3	nov.
	item Type	EventID	Events Count	Score	Properties (RELDATE)	i=n]			
8	EVENT	ci92c369-201-1149-8699-0.1		10.053714	Activity				1
-10	EVENT	cli95(7)(2-3/21-11el-3888-0211		10.383714	Adapte				
.0	EVENT	c9013cb5-3Q1-11e0-8889-0.1		10.353714	Activity				
-02	EXENT	c29a166c.3023-11e9-3688-0 1		10.353714	Activity				
10	EVENT	c1940011-3021-11e9-9869-001		10.353714	Activity				
10	EVENT	c80389b-3421-11e9-8888-031		10.353714	Activity				
0	EVENT.	c186611-301+11e6-5888-001+		10.353714	Activity				
-02	EVENI	c38118d3-3521-11e8-9888-001		10.353714	Activity				
- 62	EVENT	c3922717-3f21-11e9-38880-0 1		10.353714	Batterity				
10	EVENT	clip55671-3(21-11e)-3889-0-1		10.353714	Activity				
-10	EVENT.	c899c84c-3/21, 11e9-8588-0(1		19.353714	Activity				
÷.		and the camero		I+ Page 1	art			Vi	w 1 32 of 32

Figure 2.3.4-A. Search Field



Please note that the Search box only searches events data. To search through activity and snapshot data, use jKQL queries (see <u>Chapter 5</u>).

2.3.5 Default Date & Time Range

Use the **Date & Time Range** option on the toolbar (*Figure 2.3.5-A*) to set the date and time for the viewlets of the selected repository. Click the drop-down menu to customize. The following are possible options:

Predefined

- This: Hour, Week, Month, Year
- Last: Hour, Week, Month, Year
- Today
- Yesterday

Custom

- Limit
 - o This
 - o Earliest
 - o Last
 - o Latest
- Value: Enter a number value (available when *This* is not selected)
- Units
 - o Minute
 - o Hour
 - o Day
 - o Week
 - o Month
 - o Year

Date range

- From: Enter the start date and time, or select from the scheduler with additional options.
- To: Enter the end date and time, or select from the scheduler with additional options.



Figure 2.3.5-A. Date & Time Range

Please note that this date and time range will only be effective for the current session; when you exit and log back in, the default date and time range will be used. To set the default date and time range go to **Main Menu** > **User Settings** > **Date & Time Range** (see <u>Section 3.2.3</u>, <u>Date & Time Range</u>).

2.3.6 Main Menu

The **Main Menu** is accessed by clicking the menu icon \blacksquare at the top right of the screen. This menu provides the functionality described in Table 2 below.



Figure 2.3.6-A. Main Menu

	Table 2. Main Menu Functions
	Expand to access the following viewlet options:
Viewlet	• Create: <u>Section 2.5.1</u>
	• Open : <u>Section 2.5.1.4</u>
	Expand to access the following Dashboard options:
	• Create: <u>Section 2.4.2.1</u>
Dashboard	• Open: <u>Section 2.4.2.2</u>
Dashboard	• Save: <u>Section 2.4.2.5</u>
	• Save As: <u>Section 2.4.2.6</u>
	Change Layout: <u>Section 2.4.2.8</u>
Import / Export	Expand to access the Import / Export sub-menu. See <u>Section 2.6, Import / Export</u> , for more information.
Admin Settings	Opens the <i>Admin Settings</i> dialog box. Please see <u>Section 3.1, Admin Settings</u> , for more information. Please note that only administrative users with repository permissions will have this option available.
User Settings	Please see Section 3.2, User Settings, for more information.
Landing Page	Takes you to the Landing Page (<i>Figure 2.2-A</i>).

Feedback	Opens the page to leave feedback and ask questions. This page is defined in Branding > Index Page > Leave Feedback .					
	Displays the user's data point definitions and application information. Includes links for getting collectors and license information:					
About	 Click Get Collectors to open the page of open-source collector download links. The Get Collectors URL can be changed in Branding > Index Page > Collectors URL. Click License to view license and upgrade information. The license URL can be changed in Branding > Index Page > License URL. 					

2.4 Dashboards

A dashboard is a collection of viewlets. Your data repository can have multiple dashboards. Each dashboard is displayed by clicking the desired dashboard tab located at the top of the screen.



Figure 2.4-A. Dashboard Tabs

A red asterisk appearing at the front of a dashboard name signifies an unsaved dashboard. To save a dashboard, right click the dashboard tab and select **Save**, or select **Dashboard** > **Save** from the main menu. If your browser crashes before saving, the dashboard will be restored upon next login.



Figure 2.4-B. Unsaved Dashboards

2.4.1 Sample Dashboards

In your system sample repositories are provided. You can find these within the **Global Repositories** section of the **Repository** drop-down menu (see <u>Section 2.3.1</u>). It is recommended to review the sample repository dashboards before creating your own.

The **Sample Order Tracking** dashboard is shown in the figure below. To open this dashboard, select the **Sample-OrderTracking** repository. The individual viewlets are described in <u>Section 2.5.4, Viewlet Chart Types and Samples</u>.



Figure 2.4.1-A. Sample Dashboard

Global Repositories have limited features. For example, if you right click on a dashboard tab of a Global Repository, **Save As** and **Set As Default** are not available in the pop-up menu because this is a "sample" repository which is read-only. Updates made in sample repositories are not saved before changing the repository or logging out. If it were a repository created by you, all functions would be available.



Figure 2.4.1.B. Dashboard Menu

2.4.2 Dashboard Actions

2.4.2.1 Create

Users create multiple dashboards as a way of grouping different data or analytics. While all could be on a single dashboard within the same repository, it can be more convenient to break them up by separate dashboard tabs.

After clicking **Go to Dashboard** from the **Landing Page** (*Figure 2.2-A*), the *Create new Dashboard* dialog box opens if no dashboards have been previously created.

You can also create a new dashboard by going to **Main Menu** > **Dashboard** > **Create** (*Figure* <u>2.3.6-A</u>) or by clicking + e plus button immediately to the right of the existing dashboard tabs.



Figure 2.4.2.1-A. Create Dashboard Button

leshboard Name		0
age Layout	_	-
One Column	Two Columns	Three Columns
Use data from a Repository. Sa	nother Repository mple-OrderTrackin	g ,
Generate initial	viewlets	

Figure 2.4.2.1-B. Create New Dashboard Dialog Box

To create your dashboard:

- 1. Enter a name for your dashboard.
- 2. Select the number of columns.
- 3. To make writing queries easier, enable the **Use data from another Repository** option to specify data will come from a distinct repository. Select the repository from the drop-down menu. The repositories you can select from are the ones that are available to you, including global repositories.
- 4. To create a set of default Viewlets, select **Generate initial viewlets**.
- 5. Click **Create**. Your dashboard has been added. The figure below shows a new dashboard with a set of default viewlets displayed as thumbnails. By clicking the viewlet thumbnail, the viewlet opens in the Console at the bottom of the screen.



Figure 2.4.2.1-C. Default Viewlets

The upper portion of the screen above is called the Summary Panel. It contains summary viewlets which are used when counting the number of objects like events, activities, or snapshots and presenting the count in a summarized view. It can be closed and default to closed when no summaries are defined for that dashboard (See <u>Section, 2.5.4.10 Summary</u>).

2.4.2.2

To open a dashboard, go to **Main Menu** > **Dashboard** > **Open**. The *Open Dashboard* dialog box opens. If there are no additional dashboards, this option will be greyed out.

All saved dashboards will be listed in the **Dashboard Name** drop-down menu. Select the desired dashboard and click **Open**.

Open Dashboa	rd		
Dashboard Name	var		•
Cancel		Create	Open

Figure 2.4.2.2-A. Open Dashboard

2.4.2.3 Menu

To display the menu of a dashboard, right click on the dashboard tab. A pop-up menu opens with the following options:

- Assign to Teams (<u>Section 2.4.2.4</u>)
- Save (<u>Section 2.4.2.5</u>)
- Save As (<u>Section 2.4.2.6</u>)

- Set As Default (<u>Section 2.4.2.7</u>)
- Configure (<u>Section 2.4.2.8</u>)
- Close other tabs: close all other tabs except for the tab you are currently viewing
- **Close tabs to the right**: close all tabs appearing to the right of the tab you are currently viewing
- **Close tabs to the left**: close all tabs appearing to the left of the tab you are currently viewing

2.4.2.4 Assign to Teams

The **Assign to Teams** option allows you to enable view and modify permissions for teams. Hover over this option to view all teams which have been added to the dashboard's repository.

r!-!-
لا⊒ا
NOTE

To create a team, add a user to a team and manage team repositories, go to **Main Menu > Admin Settings > Organization > Teams** (see <u>Section 3.1.3.4.1, Edit Team</u>, for more information).

After hovering over the **Assign to Teams** option, simply click the eye icon to enable viewing privileges and/or the pencil icon for modifying privileges (clicking on the pencil icon selects both options). Enabled options for the teams will appear in green. Assigning teams viewing privileges prevents the users from saving changes.

Please note that this feature is only available for creators of the dashboard (dashboard owners), users who belong to a team with modification permissions, and repository admin users.

Anomalies	× Orders		Ţ
Assign to Teams	General		٦
Save			-
Save As			
Set As Default		ParentiD	
Configure	(<u>fdec8f1</u>	d-0d12-11e6-9270-dCR	ES
Close other tabs	<u>]fdec8f1</u>	c-0d12-11e6-9270-d0P	RC
	<u> fdec680</u>	0a-0d12-11e6-9270-d 0	NL
Close tabs to the right	<u>Ifdea934</u>	48-0d12-11e6-9270-d R	ES
Close tabs to the left	<u>Ifdea934</u>	48-0d12-11e6-9270-d P	<u>rep</u>

Figure 2.4.2.4-A. Assign to Teams

2.4.2.5 Save

To save a dashboard to a repository so that it appears every time you log in, either right click on the dashboard tab and select **Save** from the pop-up menu (*Figure 2.4.2.4-A*), or go to **Main Menu** > **Dashboard** > **Save** (*Figure 2.3.6-A*). A dialog box appears confirming that the dashboard has been saved.

Con	firmation	6
0	OrderTracking Dashboard saved successfully	

Figure 2.4.2.5-A. Dashboard Successfully Saved

2.4.2.6 Copy (Save As)

To make a copy of a dashboard, go to **Main Menu** > **Dashboard** > **Save As** or right click the dashboard tab and select **Save As** from the pop-up menu. Type in a new name for the dashboard.

2.4.2.7 Default

Your default dashboard is indicated by a green bar on the top of the tab. When a repository is loaded, the default dashboard will automatically display first.



Figure 2.4.2.7-A. Dashboard Tabs

To set a dashboard as the default, right click on the tab of the dashboard and select **Set As Default** from the pop-up menu (*Figure 2.4.2.4-A*). The dashboard is now set as default and will have a green bar located at the top of its tab.

2.4.2.8 Change Layout

Users can change the layout and schema of the dashboard. Open the *Change Layout* dialog box by right clicking the dashboard tab and selecting **Configure** (*Figure 2.4.2.4-A*) from the pop-up menu, or go to **Main Menu** > **Dashboard** > **Change Layout**. The *Change Layout* dialog box opens.

Change Layout		
Sample-OrderTracki	ng	
One Column	Two Columns	Three Columns
Schema: Select		T
Cancel		Apply

Figure 2.4.2.8-A. Change Layout

A new layout can be selected (one, two, or three columns). Select an option from the **Schema** drop-down menu. The schema will change how viewlets are displayed in your dashboard. The schema selected will control which columns are displayed and their sequence in viewlets (See <u>3.2.5, Configure Schemas</u>]. Please note that schemas are not available for Global Repository dashboards (the sample repositories).

To go back to the default schema where all columns are displayed in viewlets, choose **Select** from the **Schema** drop-down menu.

Polonially			
One C	olumn	Two Columns	Three Columns
Schema	Select		

Figure 2.4.2.8-B. Change Schema

Additional dashboard customization options are available on the *Configure Dashboard* dialog screen. See <u>Section 3.2.4, Configure Dashboards</u>, for more information.

2.4.2.9 Dashboard Arrangement

The order in which dashboards display can be changed. Click on the tab of the dashboard you would like to move and drag and drop it to a new position.

2.4.2.10 Close

To close a dashboard, simply click the **X** located on the right side of the dashboard tab. The **X** will appear if the dashboard is currently displayed. For dashboards not displayed, hover over the tab and the **X** will appear.



Figure 2.4.2.10-A. Delete Dashboard

Once the **X** is clicked, a confirmation dialog box will appear. If it's a global repository dashboard, the dialog box will confirm the close action (*Figure 2.4.2.10-B*). If the dashboard is in a repository created by you, the dialog box will ask to save your changes (*Figure 2.4.2.10-C*).

Co	nfirmation	
0	Are you sure you want to c Please save your unsaved	iose "General" dashboard? changes
	Don't Save	Save

Figure 2.4.2.10-B. Close Dashboard Confirmation

2.4.2.11 Import / Export

Please see <u>Section 2.6.3, Dashboard</u>, for more information on importing and exporting dashboards.

2.4.2.12 Rename

Please see <u>Section 3.2.4.1, Rename</u>, for more information.

2.4.2.13 Delete

Please see <u>Section 3.2.4.3, Delete Dashboard</u>, for more information.

2.4.2.14 Refresh

Please see <u>Section 3.2.4.6, Refresh Dashboard</u>, for more information.

2.4.3 Summary Panel

The Summary panel appears at the top of the screen. It contains summary viewlets, which can be created several ways. See <u>Section 2.5.4.10</u>, <u>Summary</u>, for more information about summary viewlets.

Q	Conters Playment	69	ThiscassTrendAlasta	Register/User		
-	displayed out of 188 returned.					
Rai	Activity Sconscard: Latest Week 77 Activities 20	Gromap: Events (ty location show as geomap		く下の職業した[3]	
Add	Mityt Location Elapses Severity Activitie	0	and the	1823	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

Figure 2.4.3-A. Summary Viewlets

2.4.3.1 Auto-Play Viewlets

Summary viewlets can automatically scroll for easy viewing. To implement this feature, enable **Auto-Play** located at the top right of the **Summary** panel.



Figure 2.4.3.1-A. Turn On Auto-Play



Figure 2.4.3.1-B. Turn Off Auto-Play

2.4.3.2 Scrolling Viewlets

Summary viewlets not displayed on the screen can easily be viewed by clicking on the left and right arrows at each end of the Summary panel.

Course insue and	manyteine	Minurated	1 am	Destant	1	Martin +	CALL Providence	
	Event Coard A Tourist Coard (7-206			Vermel 4 Add D	in p N ere	Security Card IV. 10. 70 Received Card 3252M	Anti-	

Figure 2.4.3.2-A. Scrolling Summary Viewlets

2.4.3.3 Show / Hide Section

The Summary panel can be hidden by simply clicking the **Summary** tab to collapse the section. The system can be configured to automatically have the Summary panel hidden every time you log in. Please see <u>Section 3.2.4.4, Summary Console</u>, for more information.

	E Summary E										
Summary of the Order Process Flow for Latest V											
P	ocessID), Avg(ProcessII	D), Max(ThreadID), Min(Th	AcceptOrder	CreditValidate							
	67.1K	22.3K	548	4	69	6					

Figure 2.4.3.3-A. Show / Hide Summary Section

2.4.4 Console Panel
When users click on data records from any of the viewlets on a dashboard to view additional details, new viewlets will open in the **Console** panel allowing users to drill deeper into the data.

Within the **Console** panel, new temporary viewlets can be created (see <u>Section 2.5.1.3, Create</u> <u>Temporary Viewlet</u>).

Click the **Console** tab **Console** to display or hide this section. When no viewlets are in the **Console**, the section will collapse automatically. The viewlets in the Console panel are temporary – they will not be saved after switching repositories or logging out.

If any data is clicked within **Console** panel viewlets, the additional details will display in new tabs.

			6					_
Snapshot Details	· Disagonol Details						0.00	(#()#(
1020 Get Stapshot v	where Properties (SET_NAM	CRELATED') - 'activity'					⊠ш∰З∨	▲ @
SnapshotName	SnapshotTime	Category	SET_NAME.RELATED	changs.window.ms	code	grace.petiod.ma	latast.change.ms	
Runkhrmog	\$7(2015.7.14,32.MM	LophJ	activity		CLUB -		8	
Rentlettod	9/7/2019 7:14:22 AM	Loos)	actives'		ttal	Chevron a		
1024	3(7)2019.7:12:43.AM	Laosi	activity	50		240000	1551935623427	유난

Figure 2.4.4-A. Viewing Console Viewlet Details

Console panel viewlets can be moved to the **Summary** panel so that they can be saved for future sessions. Click the **Move to dashboard** button to perform this.



Figure 2.4.4-B Console Viewlet Toolbar – Move to Dashboard

2.4.5 End User Monitoring

The Nastel XRay RUM (Real-User Monitoring) plugin (<u>https://github.com/Nastel/jkool-rum-plugin</u>) can be added to get data and monitor web pages using Nastel XRay. When the data is streamed through this plugin to Nastel XRay, the **EUM** button will appear on the main toolbar. When clicked, it produces a separate dashboard with viewlets that can be used to monitor the activity data of your webpages. Examples of these viewlets can be found in the **Sample-EUM** repository.



Figure 2.4.5-A. End User Monitoring Button

2.5 Viewlets

Viewlets display data in various chart layouts. Examples of possible viewlet layouts along with jKQL queries are provided in the sample dashboards of the Global Repositories. The chart layouts include the following:

- <u>Table</u>
- <u>Column</u>
- <u>Bar</u>

- <u>Line</u>
- <u>Pie</u>
- <u>Stack</u>

- <u>Geo Map</u>
- <u>Scorecard</u>
- <u>Area</u>
- <u>Summary</u>
- <u>Topology</u>
- <u>Anomaly</u>
- <u>Histogram</u>

- Compare
- <u>Tree</u>
- <u>Clustering</u>
- <u>Correlation</u>
- Feature Suggestion
- <u>Forecast</u>
- <u>Expected</u>

A red asterisk appearing in front of a viewlet name signifies an unsaved viewlet. Save the viewlet from the viewlet's menu (click the down arrow on the top right corner, see <u>2.5.7</u> <u>Viewlet Menu</u> for more information), or save the entire dashboard (see <u>2.4.2.5 Save</u>). If your browser crashes before saving, the viewlet will be restored upon next login.



Figure 2.5-A. Viewlets

2.5.1 Create / Open Viewlets

Viewlets can be created by using forms or jKQL queries. To create viewlets, open the *Create/Open Viewlet* dialog box by clicking the **Viewlet** button at the top right of the screen (*Figure 2.5.1-A*) or by going to **Main Menu** > **Viewlet** > **Create** (see <u>Section 2.3.6, Main Menu</u>). Users that have the jKQL query interface suppressed (see <u>Section 3.1.3.1, Create New Users</u>, for more information on suppressing jKQL queries) will have the **Viewlet Form** button instead (*Figure 2.5.1-B*; see <u>Section 2.5.1.2 Create a Viewlet with a Form</u>).



Figure 2.5.1-A. Create Viewlet with Viewlet Button



Figure 2.5.1-B. Create Viewlet with Viewlet Form Button

The *Create/Open Viewlet* dialog box opens. See sections 2.5.1.1 (Create Viewlet with a jKQL Query) and 2.5.1.2 (Create a Viewlet with a Form) below on how to add viewlets.

2.5.1.1 Create Viewlet with a jKQL Query



1. After clicking the blue **Viewlet** button, select **Create Viewlet with jKQL** on the *Create/Open Viewlet* dialog box.

Create Viewlet with jKQL	
Create Viewlet with a Form	
Open Existing Viewlet	

Figure 2.5.1.1-A. Create/Open Viewlet – Create Viewlet with jKQL

2. In this example, the query **Get Log** is entered. As you type, suggestions are provided in a drop-down list.

Create View	vlet		0
Define Query	Get		
Viewlet Name	Event Snapshot Activity		Ì.
	Last First	Suggestions are provided as you enter your query.	
Cancel	Top Bottom	2	ite
_	Latest Earliest Rest		

Figure 2.5.1.1-B. Enter a jKQL Query

3. Enter a name for your viewlet. In this example, **My First Query** was entered.

Create View	let	0
Define Query	Get Log	
Viewlet Name	My First Query	
Cancel	1	Crutan

Figure 2.5.1.1-C. Name Your Viewlet

				Surrente		_	
My First Que	ry .						12
KQL> Get Log						Þ	jo ⊂ M ∰ 3 < •
RepositoryID	LogID	LogType	Token	StatementType	ItemType	Severity	Description
teno_Ruta\$Kool	56b0b7e4-3f31-11e9-aafc-0242ac120007	QUERY.		GET	EVENT	1 INFO	Completed Query
tepo_RutaSKool	569cbab1-3f31-11e9-aafc-0242ac120007	QUERY.		GET	SNAPSHOT	1NEO	Completed Query
repo_Ruta\$Kool	5692817e-3f31-11e9-aatc-0242ac120007	QUERY.		GEI	EVENT	O INEO	Completed Query
repo_Ruta\$iKool	5686738b-3f31-11e9-aafc-0242ac120007	QUERY.		GET	ACTIVITY	O INFO	Completed Query
tepo_Ruta5iKool	58833f38-3f31-11e9-aafc-0242ac120007	QUERY		GET	EVENT	1 INEO	Completed Query
tepo_Ruta\$Kool	5861b896-3/31-11e9-aatc-0242ac120007	QUERY.		GET	SNAPSHOT	O INED	Completed Query
repo_Ruta\$Kool	5680ce33-3f31-11e9-aafc-0242ac120007	QUERY.		GET	EVENT	O INEO	Completed Query
repo_Ruta\$Kool	567d99e0-3/31-11e9-aafc-0242ac120007	QUERY		GET	EVENT	O INED	Completed Query
repo_Ruta\$Kool	587869bc-3/31-11e9-aa/c-0242ac120007	QUERY.		GET	EVENT	O INEQ	Completed Query
repo_Ruta\$Kool	5677a669-3131-11e9-auto-0242ac120007	QUERY		GET	ACTIVITY	O INEQ	Completed Query
tepo_Ruta\$Kool	5611b8a3-3f31-11e9-aafc-0242ac120007	QUERY		GET	EVENT	O INEQ	Completed Query

Figure 2.5.1.1-D. My First Query

4. Click **Create**. Your first viewlet is added to the dashboard.

2.5.1.2 Create a Viewlet with a Form

Select **Create Viewlet with a Form** on the *Create/Open Viewlet* dialog box.

Create Viewlet with jKQL	
Create Viewlet with a Form	
Open Existing Viewlet	

Figure 2.5.1.2-A. Create/Open Viewlet – Create Viewlet with a Form

The form view opens with all available options for the viewlet. Options are explained in the sections immediately below.

Viewiet Name	Viewlet Time	
Events viewlet	the second second	A. (0) 11 (0) 11
V Data Type		
Historical O Real-time	$\omega = \sim 1$	
Event -	> Viewlet Setting	
✓ Time Period	✓ Schema	
Unspecified -	Scheme	ToherR Born Deshboard +
✓ Fields	Y Drilldown	
Events Count	Drilldown to:	Conteile +
✓ Group by	Scheme	Infanti Irom Bris Viowiet -
v Filters 0	Close	Greate Preview

Figure 2.5.1.2-B. Form Options

2.5.1.2.1 Viewlet Name

Specify a name for the viewlet. The name must be unique; if a viewlet name already in use is entered, the field border will appear red and the **Create** button will be deactivated.

2.5.1.2.2 Data Type

Within this section, select if you would like to view **Historical** or **Real-Time** data:

- **Historical**: Select the data type from the drop-down menu. Specify the timespan you would like to view within the **Time Period** section immediately below, select from the following:
 - **Unspecified**: No time filter will be used
 - **Predefined**: Select from the predefined options.
 - **Custom**: Specify a custom time period using a value and a selected time unit.
 - **Date Range**: Enter specific start and end dates.
- **Real-Time**: Select the data type from the drop-down menu. Populate the following fields within the **Real-time Settings** section immediately below:
 - **Frequency:** The time interval in which the viewlet is refreshed with new data.
 - **Window Size:** The amount of the most recent responses from the server to report on. For example, if set to 50, the data is displayed from the latest 50 responses.

2.5.1.2.3 Fields

Within this section, specify the fields to display in the viewlet. Depending on the chart type, the **Count** option is required for certain viewlets (please see <u>Section 2.5.4, Viewlet Chart Types</u> <u>and Samples</u>, for more information on viewlet types). Associated required fields will be signified with a red box as seen in the figure below.

→	Viewlet Type			
✓ Fields	₩₩ िs ↓hi È ₩ △ Ⅲ <	• ∿• 🥥)) Siail An S		
Events Count	Label Severity			
Group by	Value Choose			
Severity -	Grouping threshold, %			
Filters O	✓ Legend			
ny Field - Contains All of -	2 Show			
Variable 🗖	✓ Drilldown			
rder 🖉	Drildown to:	Console		
psedTime • Equal •	Schema	Inherit from	Dashboard =	
	Close	Create	Preview	

Figure 2.5.1.2-C. Field Requirements

Click the **Add •** button to add a field. From here you can select multiple fields and their associated functions. These fields and the operation outcome of the selected function will display in the viewlet. Please see <u>Section 4.5 Built-in Aggregate Functions</u> for more information on these functions.



Figure 2.5.1.2-D. Add Fields



In the example below, the fields and their information are displayed in the pop-up.

Figure 2.5.1.2-E. Fields Example

2.5.1.2.4 Group By

Within this section, select an option from the drop-down menu to use as the criteria to group data. Items with numerical elements will have a **bucket** option which allows you to specify how data should be grouped. Enable this option and select the type of bucketing. The types of bucketing are described in <u>Section 2.5.4.13</u>.

2.5.1.2.5 Filters

Use the **Filters** section to add multiple filters. Click the **Add** button 🗄 to add a filter and select an operator.



Figure 2.5.1.2-F. Filters Options

After selecting the filter and operator, populate the **Value** field or click the settings button

to filter by **Variables** or **Fields** (depending on the item type, these filtering options may not be available). Please note that one filter tab can be used at a time. For more information on filtering with variables, see <u>Section 2.5.8.1, Filtering with Variables</u>.

✔ Filt	ers				Ð
Elapse	dTime	-	= Equal]
Value	<u>Variable</u>	<u>Field</u>			
				•	

Figure 2.5.1.2-G. Filters Options

When a time-related filter is selected, the appropriate time can be set by clicking on the calendar icon . The field value automatically populates with the current day/time, but you can change it using the time widget. Click **Done** when finished.

✓ Filters	÷
ReportTime	•
	🛗 🔹 👘

Figure 2.5.1.2-H. Filters Operators

0		Ju	ne 201	19		0
Su	Мо	Tu	We	Th	Fr	Sa
						1
2	3	4	5	6	7	8
9	10	11	12	13	14	15
16	17	18	19	20	21	22
23	24	25	26	27	28	29
30						
Accu	racy	M	iliseco	nd		•
Time		0	9.57.3	9.580	25	_
Haut						
Minut	le					0
Seco	nd				0	
Millis	econd			- 6	9	
Nov					De	me
		-			-	

Figure 2.5.1.2-I. Time Setup

Click the **Variable** tab and then the pencil button to create or modify variables used to filter viewlets. After the pencil button is clicked, the **Create new variable** window opens (see <u>Section 2.5.8.1, Filtering with Variables</u>, for more information).

🗸 Fi	lters				÷
GeoL	ocation		= Equal	•	
Value	Variable	Field			-
				٠	

Figure 2.5.1.2-J. Variable Filtering

When you select the **Field** tab, a drop-down menu becomes available. The selected fields will be filtered using operators from this list.



Figure 2.5.1.2-K. Filters Operators

2.5.1.2.6 Viewlet Type

Select the viewlet type within this section. Please see <u>Section 2.5.4, Viewlet Chart Types and</u> <u>Samples</u>, for more information on viewlet types.

2.5.1.2.7 Viewlet Settings

Modify viewlet options. Please note that not all viewlets will have this section. Select the X and Y axes values and the **Collated by** option (available for column, bar, line, stack, and area charts).

To set the axis width and label display (axis labels can display vertically or horizontally), click

the **Settings** button immediately to the right of the X and Y axis fields. Specify either **Auto** or **Manual** (enter pixel value) for the width and check off the **Rotate labels** setting to rotate the Axis labels.

Enable the **Show** option within the **Legend** section to display the chart definitions.

X axis	StartTir	ne			٠
Rotate I	abels:				•
Axis wid	t 1::	Auto	Manual	100] px
Y axis	Events	Count			۰
Collated	by E	entName			
Stack by	Seve	nty			
✔ Le	gend				

Figure 2.5.1.2-L. Bar chart Form Options

Pie charts will have the following options to specify: **Label**, **Value** and **Grouping threshold**, %.



Figure 2.5.1.2-M. Pie chart Form Options

2.5.1.2.8 Drilldown

The drilldown feature is a convenient way to investigate a given problem in more details. You can either drilldown to a viewlet's details within the *Console* panel, which is the default method, or to a target dashboard (including the current dashboard) that utilizes variables. The variable filter from the data selected in the originating viewlet is passed to the specified dashboard and updates that dashboard's viewlets using the variable.

The following is an example scenario of drilling down to a target dashboard:

- Dashboard #1: Contains a viewlet with data for average temperature by state. You have configured this viewlet to drilldown to Dashboard #2 using its state variable.
- Dashboard #2: Contains the following three viewlets which have a filter defined for state:
 - Temperature by city
 - Humidity by city
 - Rainfall by city

When you select a specific state within the viewlet located in Dashboard #1, you will be brought to Dashboard #2. All three viewlets in Dashboard #2 will reflect data for the state selected from Dashboard #1's viewlet.



Watch the following video for an overview of the drilldown featured: <u>https://vimeo.com/383411780</u>



Topology and geomap viewlets do not have the drilldown option.

Console	
Inherit from Dashboard	
	Console Inherit from Dashboard

Figure 2.5.1.2-N. Drilldown Options

The **Drilldown** section controls viewlet filtering within and across dashboards. From the **Drilldown to** dropdown setting, select one of the following options to specify how the drilldown will behave:

- **Console**: this option is enabled by default. Leave this option set if you want to open drilldown results within the *Console* panel. Within the *Schema* field, specify which schema to apply to the viewlet (the schema determines which fields are displayed within the viewlet).
 - -OR-

Dashboard: select this option to drilldown to a specific dashboard. This option should only be used with dashboards that utilize variables (see <u>Section 2.5.8.1, Filtering</u> <u>with Viewlets</u>, for more information) as data will be passed to them upon drilldown. Select the desired dashboard from the **Dashboard Name** field. The selected dashboard's associated variables will display. Select the parameter you want to pass into the variable. From this point forward, when you click on the configured data in the viewlet, instead of going to the *Console* panel, you will be brought to the selected dashboard instead. Please note, if the destination dashboard is closed, it will automatically open. All the viewlets will be updated to show you data for the specified variable from the originating dashboard.

If **Self** was selected for the dashboard, when drilling down, instead of opening a new dashboard, the current dashboard will be refreshed. This is a handy way of creating a dashboard that you want to quickly refresh its viewlets with variable data. There are lots of other use cases, for example, you can have your top 10 problematic queues in MQ located at the top of the dashboard which will be dynamically updated.

2.5.1.3 Create Temporary Viewlet

Create temporary viewlets in the **Console** panel by clicking the **+** button immediately to the right of the **Console** tab. Enter a query in the jKQL query line to generate your desired viewlet. For more information on the Console panel, please see <u>Section 2.4.4, Console Panel</u>.



2.5.1.4 Open Existing Viewlet

Selecting **Open Existing Viewlet** on *Create/Open Viewlet* dialog box will open the *Open Existing Viewlet* dialog box. The view can be changed by selecting **Details** from the **View By** drop-down for a more descriptive view (*Figure 2.5.1.4-B*). Use the **Sort By** drop-down to arrange the viewlets in alphabetical order or by chart type. Quickly search for viewlets by viewlet name using the search box.

Select a viewlet and click **Open**. The dashboard's focus will now be the selected viewlet.

The Open Existing Viewlet dialog box can also be opened from the **Main Menu** (Section 2.3.6).



Figure 2.5.1.4-A. Open Existing Viewlet – View By Icons

Open Existing Viewlet(21)	View By: Details	 Sort By: 	Гуре 🔻	C
Viewlet Name			Туре	Dashboard Name
Anomaly Monitor			Anomaly Chart	Sample-OrderTracking
Events for Latest Hour by Location			Bar Chart	Sample-OrderTracking
Elapsed Time for Order Events			Chart	Sample-OrderTracking
Geomap: Events by location			Geo Map	Sample-OrderTracking
Histogram of Recent Events			Histogram	Sample-OrderTracking
Test IT Summary			Based on Objectives	Sample-OrderTracking
Appdex Zones			√ Line Chart	Sample-OrderTracking
Exponential Moving Average for Elaps	sedTime		√ Line Chart	Sample-OrderTracking

Figure 2.5.1.4-B. Open Existing Viewlet - View By Details

2.5.2 Edit Query

The query line becomes an editable field after you click the edit query icon or you can simply click the query line. Make your changes. As you edit, you will be prompted with suggestions as in *Figure 2.5.1.1-B*.



Figure 2.5.2-A. Edit Query

2.5.3 Undo / Redo

The undo and redo buttons are used to revert or reapply changes from the current user session history. Changes tracked which can be undone or reapplied include updates made to viewlet names, settings, and queries.



Figure 2.5.10-E. Undo / Redo Buttons

2.5.4 Viewlet Chart Types and Samples

The data in viewlets can be formatted in various chart types.

Easily update a viewlet's chart type by clicking the **Chart** icon \blacksquare . The selected chart type of a viewlet will be highlighted blue. See Sections 2.5.4.1 – 2.5.4.13 below for an explanation of each chart type. Within each section there are samples of the chart types and an explanation of a scenario in which the chart type is useful. Some of these samples can be found in the **Sample-OrderTracking** repository.



Figure 2.5.4-A. Chart Types

2.5.4.1 Table

Table is the default chart type for viewlets. All data imported will display unless a schema is used. In table viewlets, schemas control what columns are displayed and in what order. See <u>Sections 3.2.5, Configure Schemas</u>, and <u>2.4.2.8 Change Layout</u> for more information. Use the scroll bar at the bottom of the viewlet to view additional columns. Columns can also be expanded by hovering over the line separators within the header sections.

Click columns headers to sort the data in ascending (
) or descending (
) order.

-	Credit Validation Exception	ns				4
jka	Get the Activities from	n 'Verify Credit' that did no	ot meet the 'SLA' show	w as table	כ כ	
-	ActivityID 🗢	ParentID	ActivityName	Severity	Bon Ju	× EndTime
	22748a84-c957-11e7-af2b-0	773ddbc9-ca26-11e7-9502-0	CreditValidate	1 INFO	11/14/2 8888 4-6	017_6:16:16 P
	5fcbe219-ca24-11e7-9dcf-0a	7efc80b9-ca24-11e7-9502-0	CreditValidate	1 INEQ	11/15/2 2 🔘 1/1	(I) 017.6:45:26 P
	94a918d5-c1c4-11e7-a62c-0	d735a942-ca28-11e7-9502-0	CreditValidate	1 INFO	11/5/20	17. 2.58 25 AN
	9816b076-c95b-11e7-974b-0	99375e0b-ca26-11e7-9502-0	CreditValidate	1 INFO	11/14/2	017 6:48:11 P
	b42b23e2-ca2b-11e7-87b9-0	bb7faae8-ca2b-11e7-9502-0	CreditValidate	1 INFO	11/15/2	017.7:37:18 P
	c9ab1957-ca2a-11e7-9c49-0	b837efa1-ca2a-11e7-9502-0	CreditValidate	1 INFO	11/13/2017 7 29 54 PM	11/13/2017 7:29:57 P
	d0c3ca3a-c953-11e7-aec8-0	df3ff1cf-ca25-11e7-9502-005	CreditValidate	1 INFO	11/14/2017 5:52:28 PM	11/14/2017 5:52:30 P
	ee362942-bf13-11e7-ad1b-0	237ec242-ca25-11e7-9502-0	CreditValidate	1 INFO	11/1/2017. 4:49:58 PM	11/1/2017. 4:50:01 PM
<			lene l	Leaf		*
			ia da Page 1	of 1 +> ++		View 1 - 8 of 8

Figure 2.5.4.1-A. Table

Viewlets with a lot of data to display will have multiple pages. Use the left and right arrows to easily navigate through the pages. The **First** and **Last Page** buttons **a** allow users to quickly jump to the first and last pages. Use the **Previous** and **Next Page** buttons **a** to navigate through each page. Enter a page number to load a specific page.

	- Viewlet 4							
jKQ	L> get activities			<u>ו</u> ש כ כ	l 🛗 C \prec 🗸			
	ActivityID	ParentID	ActivityName	Severity	StartTime			
	fb4e23e3-c953-11e7-adb4-0	3a720c14-ca26-11e7-9502-0	ShipOrders	1 INFO	<u>11/14/2017, 5:52:</u> ^			
	fb4daeb2-c953-11e7-adb4-0	3a720c14-ca26-11e7-9502-0	PaymentProcess		<u>11/14/2017, 5:52:</u>			
	fb4d6091-c953-11e7-adb4-0	3a720c14-ca26-11e7-9502-0	ProcessFraudAlerts	1 INFO	<u>11/14/2017, 5:52:</u>			
	fb4ceb60-c953-11e7-adb4-0	3a720c14-ca26-11e7-9502-0	RouteOrder	1 INFO	<u>11/14/2017, 5:52:</u>			
	fb4c762f-c953-11e7-adb4-0a	3a720c14-ca26-11e7-9502-0	<u>CreditValidate</u>	1 INFO	<u>11/14/2017, 5:52:</u>			
	fb4c00fe-c953-11e7-adb4-0a	3a720c14-ca26-11e7-9502-0	ValidateOrder	1 INFO	<u>11/14/2017, 5:52:</u>			
	fb4968ed-c953-11e7-adb4-0	3a720c14-ca26-11e7-9502-0	AcceptOrder	1 INFO	<u>11/14/2017, 5:52:</u>			
	fa6357c6-ca23-11e7-aa9b-0	190ff968-ca24-11e7-9502-00	ShipOrders	1 INFO	<u>11/15/2017, 6:42:</u>			
	fa6330b5-ca23-11e7-aa9b-0	190ff968-ca24-11e7-9502-00	PaymentProcess	A WARNING	<u>11/15/2017, 6:42:</u>			
	fa6309a4-ca23-11e7-aa9b-0	190ff968-ca24-11e7-9502-00	ProcessFraudAlerts	1 INFO	11/15/2017, 6:42:			
•					Þ			
		ia ≪a P	°age <mark>1 of 9 ⊨> ►</mark> i		View 1 - 100 of 847			

Figure 2.5.4.1-B. Page Navigation

Click on any of the data records to view additional details in a new viewlet within the **Console** section. See <u>Section 2.4.4, Console Panel</u>, for more information.

						Statistics and		
	alledy Datats							
Get Activity from Verify Credit that DOES NOT MEET OBJECTIVE 'SLA' where SetName in ('Verify Credit') and Severity - 'INFO'								
	Activity®	Permitto	ActivityName	Severage	torthe	LodTone	ElapsedTime	Location
	ex352542-br12-11e7-ad10-0.2	37m242 se25-11eT-9502	-CamitOohiate	O INED	McG2017_4,49.50 PM	11/1/2217.4.50.01.FM	2is.200mm	Cam Jogna
	00c2ca3a-c953-11a7_eec6-0	ramatica25-11e7-8562-0	15 Conditionidate	O INFO	11/14/2017 5:52 28 PM	13/54/2017 5:32:30 PM	24.45210	Euria fostes
	c800.1857-ca2a-11e7-8c49-C9	037ets1-ca2e-11e7-0502	Conditionaliste	O INESO	11/13/2017 7:29:54 FW	1513/2017 J.2R.M.PM	21,650mg	Ecos Ecenar
	64252362-ca26-11e2-8768-(b	671amid-ca2b-11a7-8502	d CraditVandate	O INFO	11/15/2017.7.37.15.PM	11/15/2017 7.17.18.PM	2n.871mm	Casts Atantas
	00186076-1950-1147-0748-19	0375e00 ca26.11e7.0502	d Gradits/addata	O thirtp	11/14/2017. 0.48.00 FM	15/54/2017 (5:45:11.FM	2x,287ms	Eats. Execut
	94#818d5-c1c4-11e7-#52c-Cd	7350942 ca28:1167-9562	S Greathlastate	🕜 ituED	11/5/2017 2 58 22 AM	11/5/2017 2:58:25 AM	2s.816ms	Entis Entite
	10126218-ca24-11a7-0401047	akutuse ca24.11a7.0582	0 Creditividate	O INFO	31/15/2017 6.45.21 PM	13/15/0817 8-45-26.PM	34.6208	Exits Frietza
	22740404-0857-1147-6520-0-7	7268bcb-sa26-1167-9502	d Canittónhiate	O mto	11/14/2017 8:18:13 PM	15/14/2017 10:10:10:090	23.35800	Cata Torna

Figure 2.5.4.1-C. Additional Details in Console

2.5.4.1.1 Table Menu Options

Users have different options to dig deeper into the data of table charts. Select all desired records or use the top box to select all records. A pop-up menu appears. Select an option from the pop-up menu to view additional data details within the **Console** section.

The pop-up menu options depend on the data type. A viewlet containing events (*Get events*) will have the following menu items:

- Related
- Parent
- Analyze
- Topology
- Compare (available only when more than one line is selected)

A viewlet containing activities (*Get activities*) will have the following menu options:

- Events
- Related
- Parent
- Topology
- Root Cause (available only for severity status of Error, Halt, Failure, Fatal or Critical)
- Children (available when one or more activities with children are selected)
- Compare (available only when more than one line is selected, see *Figure 2.5.4.1.1-A* and *Figure 2.5.4.1.1-B*).

Tables produced by jKQL queries with the following expressions will not have a pop-up menu: snapshots, logs, actions, active users, count of/number of, token, organization, teams, repository, set, license, fields, items, relatives, provider types, keywords, parameter, dictionary, features, access token, IP location, resource, group by.

Nastel XRay User's Guide

Chapter 2: Using Nastel XRay

100 M 100				
Events	ParenttD Act	ivityName Severity	StartTime	EndTime
Column	PERFORM	MANCE ONDICE	10/1/2019 6 59 18 PM	10/1/2019.6:59.18 PF
Related		Ø EBROR	10/2/2019 10:29:49 AM	10/2/2019 10:29:55 A
Parent	0+0412-11e6-9270-d DOCUME	NT_DOWNLOAD_ O NOTICE	10/2/2019 10:29:55 AM	10/2/2019 10 29:55 A
Topology	9-0d12-11e6-9270-d DOCUME	NT_PROCESSING O NOTICE	10/2/2019 10 29 55 AM	10/2/2019 10:29:55 4
Children	3.0d12-11e8-9270-d0 DOCUME	NT_READY_TIME () NOTICE	10/2/2019 10 29 55 AM	10/2/2019 10:29:55 4
6 Compress	1-0d12-11e8-9270-dC PAGE_RE	NDER_TIME ONDTICE	10/2/2019 10 29:55 AM	10/2/2019 10 29 55 A
Compare	05-0d12-11e6-9270-d FRONT_E	ND_TIME ONTICE	10/2/2019 10:29:55 AM	10/2/2019 10 29:55 A
dea9340.0012-11e6-927	0-0 10e95ac6-0012-11e6-9270-0 RESPONS	SE_AVAILABLE_TI O NOTICE	10/2/2019 10:29:50 AM	10/2/2019 10 29 55 4
de55ac7-0d12-11e5-927	0-0 10695ac6-0012-11e6-9270-0 SERVER	CONNECTION TI D NOTICE	10/2/2019 10 29 49 AM	10/2/2019, 10 29:50 A
	Anne and a second s	2.1.2		T

Figure 2.5.4.1.1-A. Table - Select All

Ċ	> get activities				E	9 ° M ∰ 3 < √
1	ActivityID	ParendD	ActivityName	Severity	StartTime	EndTime
1	ff946d72-0c90-11e6-818b-dC		PERFORMANCE	G NOTICE	10/1/2019 6:59:18 PM	10/1/2019 6:59 18 PM
l	17e7a57-0d12-11e6-ba5c-dC	-		O ERBOR	10/2/2019 10:29:49 AM	10/2/2019 10:29:55 A
	Events	Co12-11e6-92	ALA DOCUMENT_DOWNLOAD	OLO NOTICE	10/2/2019 10:29:55 AM	10/2/2019 10:29:55 A
	LTUILS	Ub-0d12-11e6-923	10-d DOCUMENT_PROCESSI	NC CO NOTICE	10/2/2019 10:29:55 AM	10/2/2019 10:29:55 A
	Related	9-0d12-11e8-927	0-4CDOCUMENT_READY_TIN	AE O NOTICE	10/2/2019 10:29:55 AM	10/2/2019 10:29:55 A
	Parent	9-0d12-11e6-927	0-dCPAGE_RENDER_TIME	O NOTICE	10/2/2019 10:29:55 AM	10/2/2019 10:29:55 A
	Topology	o5-0d12-11e6-92	70-d ERONT_END_TIME	O NOTICE	10/2/2019 10:29:55 AM	10/2/2019 10:29:55 A
		-6-0d12-11e6-923	0-d RESPONSE_AVAILABLE		10/2/2019 10:29:50 AM	10/2/2019 10:29:55 A
	Children.	-6-0d12-11e6-923	70-d SERVER_CONNECTION	TI O NOTICE	10/2/2019 10:28:49 AM	10/2/2019 10:29:50.A
	in the second	*****		~	(a) = (a)	
			In Page 1	of51 ++ +1		View 1 - 20 of 1,00

Figure 2.5.4.1.1-B. Table – Select One

After selecting an option on the pop-up menu, a new viewlet related to the option selected will open in the **Console** section.

If **Events**, **Related**, **Parent**, **Children** or **Analyze** were selected, the data will display in a table by default. You can modify the jKQL query to customize the viewlet. These tables have their own pop-up menus which allow users to dig deeper into data. Every selection from the pop-up menu will open a new viewlet within the **Console** section.

2.5.4.1.1.1 Events

jka	N> get events				5]o⊂≡≡⊜c∢~
	Related	ParentID	EventName	EventType	Severity	StartTime
10	Record	d-0012-11e6-9270-d0	RESPONSE	EVENT	MOTICE	10/2/2019 10:29:55 A
1	Paren	C.0d12-11e6-9270-d0	PROCESSING	EVENT	NOTICE	10/2/2019 10:29:55 4
1	Topology)u-0d12-11e6-9270-d	ONLOAD	EVENT	O NOTICE	10/2/2019 10:29:55 A
10	Compare as Table	18-0d12-11e6-9270 d	RESPONSE_START	SEND	O NOTICE	10/2/2019 10:29:55 A
10	TRECK THE CONTENT OF STOLES OF FOR	48-0d12-11e6-9270-d	PrepareShippingSlip	EVENT	O NOTICE	10/2/2019 10:29:54 A
1	fdec1a81-0d12-11e6-ba5c-difde	a9348-0d12-11e6-9270-d	ReadOrderContents	RECEIVE	O NOTICE	10/2/2019 10:29:54 A
1	Idec1a80-0d12-11e6-ba5c-ditde	a9348-0d12-11e6-9270-d	SendShipment	SEND	O NOTICE	10/2/2019 10:29:54 A
	fdec1a7f-0d12-11e8-ba5c-d0fde	a9348-0d12-11e6-9270-d	EvaluateFraud	RECEIVE	NOTICE	10/2/2019 10:29:54 A
10	fdebf36e-0d12-11e8-ba5c-dCfde	a9348-0d12-11e6-9270-d	PossibleFraud	SEND	O NOTICE	10/2/2019 10:29:53 A
12	to the second second second		* *	in the second	-	
			Page 1	of 84 🗪 🖬		View 1 - 20 of 1,680

Figure 2.5.4.1.1.1-A Events

The above example was generated by selecting **Events** from the activity's table pop-up menu. The tab name is the selected menu option and the name of the main viewlet. In the example above, the tab name is **Events_Event Severity**.

2.5.4.1.1.2 Related

The below figure is the viewlet that appears when **Related** is selected from the pop-up menu of the **Events_Event Severity** tab. The table displays events which have the same selected Activity ID(s).

ú –						Contract Contract	
I	Events_Event Seventy	Related Events					
100	5 Get Event where Add	vityID in (117e7a57-0d12-	11e6-ba5c-d0509928t	5e76') show as lable			
	EventiD	ParentiD	EventName	EventType	Severity	StartTime	EndTime
-63	Mechfics-0012-11e6-baSc-d	Mec811#-0412-11e8-9270-0	RESPONSE	EVENT	O NOTICE	5/22/2017 10:29:55 AM	6/22/2017. 10:29:5
01	Meclifti5-0d12-11e8-ba5c-d	htec011c-0#12-11e6-9270-p0	PROCESSING	EVENT	NOTICE	6/22/2017 10:29:55 AM	5/22/2017 10:29 5
0	10ec68a4-0012-11e0-0a5c-d	1dec680a-0012-11e0-9270-0	ONLOAD	EVENT	O NOTICE	9/22/2017 10:29:55 AM	5/22/2017 10:29 5
-	Mec4193-0d12-11e6-ba5c-d	1dex8348-0d12-11e6-9270-d	RESPONSE START	SEND	O NOTICE	6/22/2017 10:29:55 AM	6/22/2017 10:29.5
61	Mec4192-0012-11e0-ba5c-d	1dee0345-0d12-11e6-0270-d	PrepareShippingSile	EVENT	O NOTICE	6/22/2017 10:29:54 AM	5/22/2017 10:29 5
(i)	Mec1x81-0d12-11e3-ba5c-d	10ex9340-0d12-11e6-9270-d	ReadOnterContents	RECEIVE	O NOTICE	6/22/2017 10:29:54 AM	5/22/2017 10:29:5
0	Mec1a80-0012-11e5-ba5c-d	10ee0348-0d12-11e5-0270-d	SendStrioment	SEND	O NOTICE	5/22/2017 10:29:54 AM	5/22/2017 10:29:5
0	Mec1a77-0d12-11e8-ba5c-dl	Mee5345-0d12-11e0-9270-d	EvaluateFraud	RECEIVE	O NOTICE	6/22/2017 10:29:54 AM	6/22/2017 10:29 5
	and the second state of the second	and the second second shares in	and the second se	the second of the second se	and the second second	diam do the shirt has been and	a matched and the second

Figure 2.5.4.1.1.2-A. Related

2.5.4.1.1.3 Parent

Select **Parent** from the pop-up menu to open a viewlet which displays parent activities (activities with a greater hierarchical status) of the selected activities or events. Only items with values within the **ParentID** column will have a **Parent** menu option on the table's pop-up menu.

The parent activities of other activities or events will display. An activity without a **ParentID** means that it is the prime activity with the highest hierarchical status.

	ctivity Details	4D in ('006a118a	ea94-11e7-a55d-000c291696	561', '005a118a-ea94	-11e7-a55d-000c29169661	Comm +	14-000c29169661', '014
	ActivityID	Parentiti	ActivityName	Severity	StartTime	EndTime	ElapsedTime
67.	105a91a8-eb20-11e7-ado4-0		EINTECH	1 INEQ	2/5/2018 6:14:12 FM	3/5/2018 6:14:21 PM	96.402ms
8	01408c3f-fac8-11e7-b87e-00		ENTECH	O INEQ	3/25/2018 5 17 33 PM	3/25/2018 5:17:33 PM	454ms 316us
13	005a118a-ea94-11e7-a656-0		StateChappe TO StateCha	1 INEQ	3/5/2018 1.25:00 AM	3/5/2018 1 25:03 AM	21 540mg
	005847c-ef2b-11e7-0b1d-00		StateChappe TO StateCha	1 INEQ	3/10/2018; 9:36:01 PM	3/10/2010. 9.36.01 PM	675ma 19948

Figure 2.5.4.1.1.3-A. ParentID

2.5.4.1.1.4 Analyze

The analyze function creates an analysis of what factors impacted events. To make the analysis, this function uses event and related event data, which is a collection of snapshots.

After selecting **Analyze** from the pop-up menu of the Event table, the **Create an Analysis Viewlet** window appears. Specify desired options. Please note that **Show Trend Line** becomes active when **Show Elapsed Time** is enabled. Enable the **Remember My Choice** check box if you would like to save your selections. Click the **Next** button for additional customization or **Create** to create the viewlet.



Figure 2.5.4.1.1.4-A. Create an Analysis Viewlet

Create an Analysis \	/iewlet			
Make your Selection o	or go Next.			
Select a Snapshot and	d then select the properties	to display		
Snapshot Name	Snapshot Properties	Selected Prope	rties	
PS MarkSweep				
Activity				
ShoppingCart				
Cancel		< Previous	Next >	Create

Figure 2.5.4.1.1.4-B. Create an Analysis Viewlet - Additional Options

Select a snapshot from the **Snapshot Name** column and select all desired options from the **Snapshot Properties** column. The selected properties will display in the last column. Click **Create** to finish or **Next** for additional customization.

Make your Selection o	or go Next.				
Select a Snapshot and Snapshot Name	d then select the properties Snapshot Properties	s to	display Selected Prope	inties	
PS MarkSweep Memory Activity ShoppingCart	OverheadUsec SlackUsec TotalCpuUsec WaitUsec WaitUsec WaitUsec WaitUsec WaitUsec		 Activity (4) BlockedCourt BlockedUsec WaitUsec WaitedCount 	nt :	

Figure 2.5.4.1.1.4-C. Create an Analysis Viewlet - Select Options

Select which items you would like the viewlet to display and click **Create**. The *Analyze_Event Details* viewlet will appear within the Console panel.



Figure 2.5.4.1.1.4-D. Create an Analysis Viewlet - Select Items

2.5.4.1.1.5 Topology

Select Topology in the pop-up menu to generate a topology viewlet using the selected items within the **Console** section. For more information on topologies, see <u>Section 2.5.4.11</u>, <u>Topology</u>.

2.5.4.1.1.6 Root Cause

When selecting activity table records with a severity status of Error, Halt, Failure, Fatal or Critical, **Root Cause** will be an option on the pop-up menu. Clicking this will open a viewlet in the **Console** section displaying a topology. The topology will allow you to dig deeper into the data and find the root cause of the issue.



Figure 2.5.4.1.1.6-A. Root Cause

2.5.4.1.1.7 Children

Select **Children** from the pop-up menu to open a viewlet which displays child activities. Please note that not every data record will have child activities and will therefore not have the **Children** option in the pop-up menu. Activities or events of an activity will display.

2.5.4.1.1.8 Compare

Select more than one record to enable the **Compare** option within the table's pop-up menu. This will open a compare table within the **Console** panel (See <u>Section 2.4.4, Console Panel</u>).

		A11220 E		
Company, Stationy Court, 19				
HEL- Compare Event when	en Excell) in (WEBSI aufs 11e7 a654-000;2910/611, WEBSI aufs 11e7 a558-000;2	91996(F, Waa672 av03 11a7 a/Ed.000;291996(F) show as comparisable	80	SHIT DVAR
Contraction (Contraction)	Marchane 1	Contraction of the local data	- Different	
Add .	International and the Contraction of the International States		2	
Same .	107.014	10 ¹ 211		127.8
Applications				
Nation	Inference State@tatgest, New Viewer	0140-34Pprel@Prosp.3-medial	(4)	. HEMI
Owthe	Hitz	(ma)		1000
Cheffor				
Sarajus.	8.0000	AMILEDS .		10.03
Stamoto .	(hardenginesed-and	Antiphigheanities		2000
Into Ceterinee	Next, Next	(Intel Park		.16889
(Description)				
Demilie .	1954	Fire Office	. Here 325an	343
Excerna	and the second se	And a second sec		1000
Endition	25.00 HL 121.02 HR	#10.0mm, x 3# 22 AM	VALUE 184	25.0
Exercit.	Period 72 walks Hart with research (see a)	man and the state second states and	+	2010
Exercises	the Oasp	. Institute		. Third
Electron .	6422	avant		39400
Country .	4			-
Quere for fame	A			
Gaston mark	44.	1.44		84 .

Figure 2.5.4.1.1.8-A. Compare Table in Console

You can also view a compare table in the main workspace by using the 'Compare' command in a jKQL query line, for example:

Query: jKQL> Compare Activity where ActivityID in ('activity ID of first selected activity', 'activity ID of second selected activity') show as comparetable

Venter 195			18
Hill> Corques Addrey where	Autory(1) in (new10854 wall? The? a554.000x25109661, web/k52? wall? The? a554.000x251099	ST) shoe as conguerdable	~ > > な信差しの国
Congett	Designers, Delivers, J.	Density Drives J	and the second se
theffire-	Desired, Strate, Brit	Selbis mission	to drive ;
Elections .	H	Q	£
Approximition of the second se	ARCONE, VLDA 10 PM	60018.0.0c 4790	-711 Hiles
Elapand Tran-	To SERIES	the efforts	-0x113He
to do in Annes	Earline, Delver, Delve	- Dampiele (Melono), Domoi	
nutrip/Mater	80	00	
Additioner	NOT 281 146 09 104 20.12.207.208 146 164.23.34 220 201 110 00 208 228 110	HER 2011 THE HER FOR \$2 12 1217 JULY 199 FOR 201 JA AUDI 201 HE HER 2010 THE	
an and a			
nation editoria	And a second		
appliane	THE Denty ESCORPTS STREAM STREAM DRIVE THE AVERAGE STREAM	IPST Description Fill Public Provide Links and Description of State Avenue	
tireptum.	NUCLEY CONTRACTOR OF	RECEN	
Ophil constitues	BET, DOTE, DOTE, DOL Rose, recommens	BCF, DCFR, DCFR, DCR, Aver, Westmann	

Figure 2.5.4.1.1.8-B. Compare Table in Workspace

In the **Compare** column the items to compare are displayed in alphabetical order. Change the order by clicking the sort buttons, (ascending) or (descending). This same function is available in all other columns.

The green column with **Master** Master located in the column header signifies the master record. All other selected records will display in blue and will be compared to the master record. To change the master record, simply click the **Master to Compare** button Master to compare within any of the other blue columns. The column will move to the first position and will change to green. All other fields will now be compared against this new master.

In the **Difference** column, the **+** and **-** symbols signify whether there is a difference. If the difference can be measured mathematically, the numeric value will be displayed (for example, the microsecond difference of elapsed time, *Figure 2.5.4.1.1.8-C*).

To change the width of the columns, hover over the lines between column headers until you see the size icon $\leftarrow II \rightarrow$. Move it left or right to adjust column width.

Event b1e5ef5c-f31c-11e8-93a7-0242ac12000a Master	Event b1e3a568-f31c-11e8-93a7-0242ac12000a Master to compare	Difference
b1e52c12-f31c-11e8-a2df-0242ac12000d	b1e3092e-f31c-11e8-a2df-0242ac12000d	+
5ms 755µs	4ms 868µs	-887µs
11/28/2018, 4:48:40 PM	11/28/2018, 4:48:40 PM	-
b1e5ef5c-f31c-11e8-93a7-0242ac12000a	b1e3a568-f31c-11e8-93a7-0242ac12000a	+
b1e52c12-f31c-11e8-a2df-0242ac12000d	b1e3092e-f31c-11e8-a2df-0242ac12000d	+
11/28/2018, 4:48:40 PM	11/28/2018, 4:48:40 PM	-
11/28/2018, 4:48:40 PM	11/28/2018, 4:48:40 PM	-
11/28/2018, 4:49:17 PM	11/28/2018, 4:49:17 PM	-

Figure 2.5.4.1.1.8-C. Difference Column

The viewlet can be updated to display only rows with differences. Click the **Viewlet Menu** button and select **Edit Viewlet**. Enable the **Only Show Differences** option on the form. Only rows in which the data is different will now display.



Figure 2.5.4.1.1.8-D. Compare Table - Edit Viewlet

 Viewlet Name 		
Compare_Events viewle	i.	
✓ Time Period		
Unspecified		
Viewlet Type		
✓ Viewlet Settings		
Only Show Differences		Ø
Close	Apply	Preview

Figure 2.5.4.1.1.8-E. Only Show Differences

2.5.4.1.2 Table Arrangement

Users can create a customized table with specified columns and column order. Use 'fields' and 'order by *<field name>* asc' or 'order by *<field name>* desc' expressions (*asc* is ascending order and *desc* is descending, see <u>Section 5.4, Additional Query Options</u>, for more information on jKQL sorting options).

The following is an example:

Query: jKQL> Get activities fields ParentID, ActivityID, EventID order by ParentID desc

jka	L> Get activities fields Pa	arentID, ActivityID, Eventi	D order by ParentID desc	२ २ २ 🛍 🛍 २ < 🗸
	ParentID	ActivityID	EventID	l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l
	f765b591-ca28-11e7-9502-0	7b54c832-c316-11e7-83e7-(f65c5ca2-ca28-11e7-9502-0	*
	f765b591-ca28-11e7-9502-0	7b556474-c316-11e7-83e7-	f63d89f9-ca28-11e7-9502-00	
	1765b591-ca28-11e7-9502-0	7b556475-c316-11e7-83e7-	f6649a06-ca28-11e7-9502-0	
0	f7654060-ca28-11e7-9502-0	7b51bae2-c316-11e7-83e7-	f6326664-ca28-11e7-9502-0	
	f7654060-ca28-11e7-9502-0	7b527e34-c316-11e7-83e7-	f6178b60-ca28-11e7-9502-0	
	f7654060-ca28-11e7-9502-0	7b527e35-c316-11e7-83e7-	f63acad8-ca28-11e7-9502-0	
	f7654060-ca28-11e7-9502-0	7b52cc56-c316-11e7-83e7-0	1603671d-ca28-11e7-9502-0	
	f765405f-ca28-11e7-9502-00	7b56eb21-c316-11e7-83e7-0	f6e7d2e4-ca28-11e7-9502-0	-
		💷 🛹 🛛 Page 1	of9 +> +1	View 1 - 100 of 847

Figure 2.5.4.1.2-A. Custom Table Arrangement

This query will produce a table composed of three columns in the order specified in the query. The data will be sorted by the **ParentID** column in descending order (*Figure 2.5.4.1.2-A*).

Table columns can also be rearranged manually. Simply click and drag a column header to the new desired position.

2.5.4.1.3 Sample: Credit Validation Exceptions

Query: jKQL> Get the Activities from 'Verify Credit' that did not meet the 'SLA' show as table

-	Credit Validation Exception	15				Ľ
jka	L> Get the Activities from	Verify Credit' that did no	ot meet the 'SLA' show	as table		осш≝ас⊀∨
	ActivityID	ParentiD	ActivityName	Severity	StartTime	EndTime
	ee362942-bf13-11e7-ad1b-0	237ec242-ca25-11e7-9502-(CreditValidate	1 INFO	11/1/2017, 4:49:58 PM	11/1/2017, 4:50:01 PM 3
0	d0c3ca3a-c953-11e7-aec8-0	df3ff1cf-ca25-11e7-9502-005	CreditValidate	1 INFO	11/14/2017. 5:52:28 PM	11/14/2017.5:52:30 PM 2
	c9ab1957-ca2a-11e7-9c49-0	b837efa1-ca2a-11e7-9502-0	CreditValidate	1 INFO	11/13/2017.7:29:54 PM	11/13/2017.7:29:57 PM 2
	b42b23e2-ca2b-11e7-87b9-(bb7faae8-ca2b-11e7-9502-0	CreditValidate	1 INFO	11/15/2017.7:37:15 PM	11/15/2017.7:37:18 PM 2
	9816b076-c95b-11e7-974b-0	99375e0b-ca26-11e7-9502-0	<u>CreditValidate</u>	1 INFO	11/14/2017. 6:48:09 PM	11/14/2017.6:48:11 PM 2

Figure 2.5.4.1.3-A. Sample Viewlet – Credit Validation Exceptions

The viewlet above is in the **Sample-OrderTracking** repository. It is showing an example of exceptions or errors for specific activities. Here we are checking for ones that missed their service level agreement (SLA) requirements. A user would utilize this to find the errors and then drill down into the specifics in the **Console** to try and learn why. This is part of the forensics process.

2.5.4.1.4 Sample: Snapshots

A table of snapshots will not have check boxes. To get additional data details, click on the underlined elements. Additional details will display in the **Console** section (*Figure 2.5.4.1.4-B*). See <u>Section 2.4.4</u>, <u>Console Panel</u>, for more information.

Nastel XRay User's Guide

jKQL> Get snapshot	s				とう 3 画 単 3 。	4 ~
SnapshotName	SnapshotTime	Category	BlockedCount	BlockedUsec	Count	
PS MarkSweep	6/22/2017. 12:21:53 PM	GarbageCollector			213	-
PS Scavenge	6/22/2017.12:21:53 PM	GarbageCollector			1378	
Activity	6/22/2017. 12:21:45 PM	Java	1090	3000		
CPU	6/22/2017. 12:21:39 PM	Java			8	
Memory	6/22/2017, 12:21:32 PM	Java				
PS MarkSweep	6/22/2017, 12:21:32 PM	GarbageCollector			213	
Activity	6/22/2017. 12:21:30 PM	Java	1090	3000		
PS Scavenge	6/22/2017.12:21:30 PM	GarbageCollector			1	
Thread	6/22/2017, 12:21:30 PM	Java	69	35000	69	1
Activity	6/22/2017.12:21:25 PM	Java	1090	3000		
CPU	6/22/2017. 12:21:25 PM	Java			8	
DO MarkQuinna	6/00/0017 10-01-06 DM	GarbagaCollector			10	. *
		14	age 1 of 1 +> ++		View 1 - 8	87 of 87



par de pulpad	where brill browane -	wanth						84	2 IN E GAVE
Inspelicibiene	Respiration	Calegory	HickedCoart	Richard Start	Overheadthee	Techtion	TotalCan/Ann	Builton	WeitelCont
stehr	NZ10117_1221-01PM	1898	3000	.309.9	382.115	.1218	110001.1	32,403000	191
(an	\$722817 12.21 M PM	iter .	1978	100	182.15	109	15800.1	2240388	547
sain .	6/22/2017 12:21:25 PM	2008	1898	2002	362.175	1289	12808-1	32493000	3.47
later (8220317-12.2016799	1003	1000	2092	362.175	1000	15600.1	10.000000	147
Adams .	6220812.12.20.42.PM	-30.0	3898	3092	962.525	3308	11008.1	20.00303	342
Nam -	60220817 12:20:44.99	all	1384	17812528	185.7	18.00	15800.1	188080	12302
iudeth-	6/22/0817-12:20.44.PM	1000	3898	3090	362.025	3308	15690.1	20.480000	240
aduto .	8220317.32.0134.956	1000	2361	11812528	385.2	2000	12800.1	188989	12153
520	6222817 1220 12PM	UR1	2286	2002	182.475	1209	35800.3	23 602000	345
Selvity .	6702017 2 22 13 PM	404	2001	.3000	362.175	1209	15806.1	10.403000	847
Adulty	6/00/1.3.22.1J.PM	404	2362	12812528	185.2	4688	108061	188383	12212
tubeh	6/12017 2.2028 FM	- Alexa	3220	3099	184,03	1218	31600.1	22,983009	340
labely .	6/520/T 2/1938 PM	108	7362	17812525	3852	- 4688	15400.3	188080	52352

Figure 2.5.4.1.4-B. Detailed Console Viewlet

If a user has permissions to run jKQL queries, the jKQL query can be modified by changing the *Show as* expression.



Figure 2.5.4.1.4-C. Changing the Show As Expression

Nastel XRay User's Guide

THE OWNER OF A								
A REAL PROPERTY AND A REAL								
MOL* Gas Activity where Serverity = WW3NIWG							R 91	a Bovall
Autorizatio Passelli Autorizatione	Sec.14	Telline	1.000	Department	limiter	Betweetellater	Researching	Ceriebaue
Betastics232-104) while 3x528:0413002-014-mm/ft come	A THREAD	111342017 3.52,40,854	11142817 5.52 AURO	Attes \$79x8	Automotic devices at			Demois 123/UNA
INTERNAL CATE LINE AND A TRANSPORT AND A TRANSPORT AND A TRANSPORT	A WHAT	10/10/2017 A 45/24 PM	101302817-8.45235198	1818.2524	Locates Bowley			Delete C22CD-0
Mitantitudity, Unit, Adds & 18102078-0424-0167, 89024 Excenditions	A Walkers	10350017.84234.PM	20152017-0.4234198	39ms.8484a	Lupdon Zonient			Demoir 121123-0
Internet and a second a se	A YARRING	10/16/00/1 # 42:00 PM	214362817 64233 PM	12ma.800v8	Lipping Bretent			(anent 1010)@.
entropy and a second	A Voluments	11/12/17 43442 (%)	TOTODIT AND ADDRESS	liters \$45or	Lonion Seniorei			Delete LONGT @.
ametalisation of a static descentration and an and approximate and	A contained	1015(2017) E-40.20 AM	10/10/2017 15:40:20 AM	Altern Akkur	Lentes Review			Orderin solicities:
International Action of Action of Conditional Conditional Action and Actio	A Wenned	10133(0017 6-46/20 AM	10762817 8-4629-M	3803.206.8	Same destant			Damy VIIII.
installockie balletie unter auch 1000 Al formalitanes	A Wateress	11113/301/7 8 49-30-AM	10103-007-0-46-28-AM	42ms.000us	Losies Javient			Drmm12120200
Internet of the second seco	A WARNING	MAXID B 4 TROUBLES	2010/01/ 64620 /44	22012-02014	Sandra Revisor			Detecter 111112-01
execution of a state to a stat	A tooeAnteis	11/35/2017 T.IO.46.PM	1010202017.17.10.46.250	20mil.00ka	Looks Arrists			Demoin.0250Adb:
a 11:000 and a local attention and the 200 attention and the 200 attention and a local attention attention and a local attention atte	A THATAN	11/31/09/7 7:30:38 FM	TATACAST. CALLS FOR	lins MAR	Variable Allegand			Drief Up (10)
#1968abaa25.0x1.etee.8.229e08aaa25.2857.8922.0.1premethanes	A WARREN	HUMBERT, TURNERM	10/02/01/ 11/04/70/	These Selling	Lotation Environment			Dom/9.121123-0
*Telephone approximate and approximate	A contained	16/30/2017 (110:46 PM	101022017 1110 x0 PM	10mi 449ut	Landen Review			Emailer 121-024
etstetsf.catt.thet.assed.com/includio.list.4802.015.execttranes	A. CONTRACTO	HURSDALL 2 YOL DR PM	ICRADIC CREAKING	Allera Alleva	Autor Jones			Domin LILLING
Historick and Train Aller in 10076464 (2023) that 0002 67 proceedings		HIDDRT 4 WAT PM	ITERSOUT A MEATINE	121223-86-e1	Linder Solicit			Demoid 121(204)
eschatts and an and a statistical and the constitution	A. 106655540	11122017 A 68-57 PM	IDDUDT ARATEM	101111014	Lotion Revenue			Domest 121/12/06
#Inc2018-0013-First-A00e-012c5754d3-cs25-First-A002-07a-remotificances	A Walkannig	11(12317.448.0279)	11102017-4-40-62 PM	30ms.201a	London Textand			Deterio (21)(250 -
1 M	-							· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
			Page 1 (#2) at an	2				500 \$1.000 at 100



				0				
Doublest 10								
And a Cost share EvenType - TECENE							S. 9 k	BOVAR
E Dentil Ferriti Distilia	e Developer	Second g	inerties	Gellies	Capacities	1000	Bennetaliana	Researchingen
Epidemic and a second secon	RECEIVE	O intil	ATTACK 220 ST PM	4002017 22231 PM	429993534	Aux Joneses, SA	WEIGHTE ERDERNISCHEN	1001000
Existing allowing the state at the state and state and state and state and state and state and state at the state at th	NECENE .	O tato	610017-2-2052-PM	8/5/2017 2/20152/PM	32(6),623(4)	Mieth Ponty	5HIR (RDERS, MUELE)	68189G
Enclosed and many and an enclosed and and of Ecological and an enclosed an enclosed and an enclosed an enclosed and an enclosed and an enclosed and an enclosed and an enclosed an encl	HIGENE	A MARRING	ATTRN 1, 200 SHAW	ADURIT 7,08,52 PM	ta éthna	Electronic Verses	FRAND CREEKE GUILLE	DENERGY
Environmentary Control on Manufacture Control of Manufacture Control of Manufacture Control of Manufacture Control of Control on Manufacture Contro	RECOVE .	Omth	8/10911 2/20-49.PM	ATT2811 2.25 ALMM	Milma Million	Los Venas Alexante	NOUTE ORDERS OLDER	ORIGING
²⁰ Description rest allocation rest and divergences	HICOME.	Onro	67,00-01 2.20 46 (94)	1070817 23942494	(trained laboration)	Face flame	USER ORDERLOUEUE	onine .
N I TAXABLE INCIDENT TAXABLE INCIDENTS	Address of	0	STATUTE OF A PROPERTY.	STATUTE OF STREET, STR	No. of Concession, Name	Statement Da	Contractory of the local division of the loc	titlet fill.
Decision and the state of Central Association of Central Association (Central Association)	BSCRVE	Onta	6T320-C 3.32-41.PM	WITHOUT 1.00.84 PM	18-btd.25-d	Add Advention (GA	WALDATE OPDIERS SNOT	ESCHERC.
messdati (His. 11a) al ta al eschini 21.0%, thei and al functioned antes	w Heczive	Onto	ATTRACT A DE REPAY	AT0817 236304M	1010.07948	Munt Dotter	SHOP, CHORER, BUILLIN	2010/06
metal52-86, their active an escaled in the contract of the service of the serv	esseve	A VMEREIA	610201 1.20.2LPM	107000-22838-09	18.252m	Trianformation Advention	TRANS, OF EXTLANTING	DEMONS
incland. Ris. Unit-Dis. a million. Bis. Contactled Early Miletter	1953278	Own	WIDERT LINESTER	NORT LILER	ittims/Med	Los Venue fimune	HOULDERFELOALE	101656
inducer. Was that ethe in mobilities who that exclude taxant certification.	BECENE	0 1102	WITCHL THEAT AND	ACCRV1 2.04.01 FM	EIDes.100-4	Excit. Phones	URDO GROEFE GOOLE	DEHERIC
· Intelligent Attion 11 and all and intelligible Attached and Anti-Attached Anti-Attached Attached Att	a Hective	Onco	ALTONO 3 10 -14 PM	ACCENT COURSERSE	2010.0254	Mars Rives	THEF CHEERS CAUTUR	ULHERS.
Historia Atta, Ital, allas al dallarei. Atta, Del adal al Resilient	MESSENE .	Ø IBBOS	WITCHIEF J. TH. YE. PM	ACCENT 2 28-10/PM	13cx.5814	Lintin Arniet	BALINERY, OKDERG, QUEL	ESKIRING
matholis-blo, their after at an 2015 Blo. Opinioth 1 at Reselve Royle	HISONE	Onte	#10001318-074V	whited standard	2120330-01	Los Verses Toronte	HIS/10 CHERRIS GUELE	URHENGC
Exclusion in Society, interfection investments and an exclusion.	HECTORE	Onte	AUGUST-1200-21/201	WHERE JUST	40109-005-0	Takin Platent	UNKLICONCERN, UVBUS	101605
entities table the attempt with each table the Apple PassOpperium	NECENE N	O neu	8220117-122132.84	ADDRESS STREET, STREET, ST.	Mine STRue	Marri Panta	3HIP CHORRS MUCUE	SECTOR STATES
Exercise Control of	meaning	A. Volation	8.220017 12:21 10 PM	\$12222117 12 21 AT PM	ta imieis	Stations Vermi	PRIMO CREATE COREA	
A			Peterson Peterson				24 C 44 F	-
12			and a state					Steen 1 - 100 of 900

Figure 2.5.4.1.4-E. Event Details

2.5.4.2 Column

Column charts allow users to view a large data set in an easy-to-read column view. See <u>Section 2.5.8, Filtering and Display Options</u>, for information on filtering options available.



Figure 2.5.4.2-A. Column

Hover over any of the bars in the chart to view a status pop-up.



Figure 2.5.4.2-B. Status Pop-up

Click on any of the bars in the chart to view additional details in a **Console** viewlet. See <u>Section 2.4.4, Console Panel</u>, for more information.

2.5.4.2.1 Sample: Elapsed Time for Order Events

Query: jKQL> Get the number of events fields Min(ElapsedTime), Max(ElapsedTime), AVG(ElapsedTime) group by location show as colchart



Figure 2.5.4.2.1-A. Sample Viewlet - Elapsed Time for Order Events

The viewlet above is in the **Sample-OrderTracking** repository. It uses the functions min, max, and average as applied to elapsed time for events.

2.5.4.3 Bar

Bar charts generate data in a viewlet with horizontal bars. See <u>Section 2.5.8, Filtering and</u> <u>Display Options</u>, for information on filtering options available.

Similar to the Column chart explained above in <u>Section 2.5.4.2, Column</u>, hovering over the bars will display a status pop-up and clicking on the bars will open a **Console** viewlet to view

additional details. See <u>Section 2.4.4, Console Panel</u>, for more information. Number, count or other numeric expressions must be included in the query or form.



Figure 2.5.4.3-A. Bar

2.5.4.3.1 Sample: Events for Latest Hour by Location



Figure 2.5.4.3.1-A. Bar Chart – Events for the Latest Hour by Location

The bar chart viewlet is useful as it allows you to easily see the differences of various item counts, grouped by location, severity, or other keyword.

2.5.4.3.2 Sample: Events by Severity

Nastel XRay User's Guide

Chapter 2: Using Nastel XRay



Figure 2.5.4.3.2-A. Bar Chart – Events by Severity

This bar chart shows the number of events, grouped by severity. Modify the chart colors in **Main Menu** > **Admin Settings** > **Graph** to make the viewlet more informative and easier to analyze (*Section 3.1.8*).

2.5.4.4 Line



Hover over the dots to view a status pop-up and exact axes values.

105								_	
80			ActivityN Location Activities StdDev(E	ame: PaymentP London, Englar Count: 105 lapsedTime):	vocess id 3ms		/		
60			832µs				(
40					1				
20						\setminus /			
0						N.			
	AcceptO	CreditV	Orders	aymentProcess	Process	Registe	RouteOrder	ShipOrders	Validat

Figure 2.5.4.4-B. Status Pop-up

Click on any of the dots to view additional details in a **Console** viewlet. See <u>Section 2.4.4,</u> <u>Console Panel</u>, for more information.

2.5.4.4.1 Sample: Exponential Moving Average for ElapsedTime

Query: jKQL> get events compute EMA(ElapsedTime, 20) show as linechart



Figure 2.5.4.4.1-A. Sample Viewlet – Exponential Moving Average for ElapsedTime

The viewlet above is in the **Sample-OrderTracking** repository. An exponential moving average (EMA) is being computed to chart elapsed time over a window of time. EMAs are used with trends and enables one to see the rate of change between one data point and the next.

2.5.4.4.2 Sample: Events for Latest Time Range by Location

Query: jKQL> Get the number of Events for the latest 4 years group by location show as linechart



Figure 2.5.4.4.2-A. Sample Viewlet - Events for Latest 4 Years by Location

The viewlet above is in the **Sample-OrderTracking** repository. It is a line chart showing the trend in important event occurrences. Clicking on any of the "dots" or points will take the user to the **Console** where they can see additional details about each event. From there they can compare events or display the topology of an individual transaction.

2.5.4.5 Pie



Figure 2.5.4.5-A. Pie

2.5.4.5.1 Sample: Serious Event Distribution

Query: jKQL> Get the number of events for the latest hour where severity > 'WARNING' group by location, severity order by severity show as piechart



Figure 2.5.4.5.1-A. Sample Viewlet - Serious Event Distribution

The viewlet above is in the **Sample-OrderTracking** repository. It is a pie chart which is often used when counting something and you want to show the distribution of results for each member of a group or specifically severity in this case. This approach makes it easy to see where the biggest groups are that may need attention and further forensic analysis.

2.5.4.6 Stack



Figure 2.5.4.6-A. Stack

Stack charts must contain **Group By** expressions.

2.5.4.6.1 Sample: Orders for the Latest 3 Days that Missed their SLA

Query: jKQL> Get the number of activities for the latest 3 days that did not meet 'SLA' group by location, activityname, severity, starttime bucketed by minute show as stackchart



Figure 2.5.4.6.1-A. Sample Viewlet - Orders for the Latest 3 Days that Missed their SLA

The viewlet above is in the **Sample-OrderTracking** repository. It is searching for missed SLAs (service level agreements) and is presenting them in a stacked bar chart grouped by name, location, severity, and time.

Stacked bar charts are a powerful way to display a lot of data about the status of something in a very concise way.

2.5.4.7 Geo Map

Geo map viewlets are useful when transactions and operations between different countries or even continents are needed to be monitored and analyzed. Geo maps are used when location is important, and you want to first start with that, then drill down to specific applications when troubleshooting a problem.

Supported types for geo map viewlets are relatives and activities – select them while creating a viewlet with a form or specify them in a jKQL query line. If using activity data type, the viewlet must have the 'Group by GeoLocation' expression.

Below is an example of a geo map viewlet, which can be found in the **Sample-OrderTracking** repository (*Figure 2.5.4.7.1-A*).

2.5.4.7.1 Sample: Geo Map Events by Location

Query: jKQL> Get relatives show as geomap



Figure 2.5.4.7.1-A. Sample Viewlet - Geo Map Events by Location

The above viewlet displays the set of items within a geographic location. Each icon (push pin) represents a location (for example, United States) and the collection of all the entities such as applications, activities, events, and servers in that location. Each of the arrows shows a relationship between entities in one location with another. The dotted line shows a parent-child relationship (called enclosed) between the locations, while a solid line would represent an observation of an event in one location sending a message to an event in another (called send-to).

You can modify the jKQL query and get a geo map of activities where the data will focus on the perspective of agents.

2.5.4.7.2 Sample: Geo Map Activities

Query: jKQL> Get activity group by geolocation show as geo map



Figure 2.5.4.7.2-A. Sample Viewlet – Activities Geo Map

On the left side of the geo map viewlet, there are zoom in (), zoom out () and fit to screen () buttons for better scope of the data.

On the right side of the viewlet there is a grey copy of the map. It is used as a navigation field to quickly change the map's focus.



Figure 2.5.4.7.2-B. Geo Map – Navigation Field

After clicking on a specific location, the entire country will appear in light blue.



Figure 2.5.4.7.2-C. Selecting a Country

Click on the health bars above country names to drill into the data.



Figure 2.5.4.7.2-D. Country Health Bars

A status window opens. Click on any of the items to view additional details in a viewlet. The viewlet opens in the **Console** section.

Applications	(3)
Activities (105)
Activity Status	Count (105)
L Exception	0
Others	105
Meeting objectives	Count (365)
Meet all	365
Partially meet	0
Do not meet	0
Events 🔜 🖬 (14	6)
Severity	Count (146)
🔥 Warning	16
O Enor	16
B Failure	-4
Critical	3
O Halt	्रा
O Fatal	6
Others	100

Figure 2.5.4.7.2-E. Status Window

	-			ARCTIC	0			
KOL> Get Source who	ore ServerName in (Ps	iymentServerSWIFT, Fr	audDetection', 'ProcessSi	erver110", "WebServer10	07) and SourceType='AP	PL'show as table	図り産業のく	. Cl
SourcePGN	SourceName	SourceType	CountryName	Latitude	Longitude	AppBlame	ServerName	
APPL-WerthOnterr#SERVE	E Mech/Ordera	APPL	UNITED STATES	30,88628	-01.01277	Muth/Cidera	EscapeServert10	11.0.4
APPL+ProcessParmentetti	ProcessParenets	APPS,	UNITED STATES	41.07453	.01.65505	Comment.	EastnextServerSWET	1112.9
APTSVietOrdere#SERGD	() Web/Crubeca	ACTS.	LIMITED STATES	30.95638	-63.01277	WestsOrdern	Withdenwer100	11.0.0

Figure 2.5.4.7.2-F. Additional Details

2.5.4.8 Scorecard

Activity Scorecard	I: Latest Week				77 Activi	ties 🕑
KOL> Get the numb	er of Activities for the lates	t hour where the sever	ity > "INFO" group	by Activ	шэсша	c⊀∨
ActivityName =	Location	ElapsedTime	Seventy	100 Es	₩ ₽×	
	Miami.Florida	3s.25ms	O HALT	V 9	ad 🗉 📗	1
		31.382ms	O HALI	盘 🛆	I <	
	New York XX	38.25015	O HALI	iai da	- 1	
		<u>3s 382ms</u>	O HALI	_	1	
	Paris France	31,25511	O HALT		1	
		3s.382ms	O HALT		1	
	Washington Mirginia	31.25mt	O HALI	1	1	
		3s.382ms	O HALI		1	
						-

Figure 2.5.4.8-A. Scorecard

To create a scorecard viewlet, **Group by** must be used. Use within the jKQL query (see <u>Section</u> <u>2.5.1.1, Create Viewlet with a jKQL Query</u>) or select within the Create / Edit viewlet form (see <u>Section 2.5.1.2, Create a Viewlet with a Form</u>).

2.5.4.8.1 Sample: Activity Scorecard Latest Week

Query:jKQL> Get the number of Activities for the latest week where the severity > 'INFO' group by ActivityName, location, elapsedtime, severity order by ActivityName, severity desc show as scorecard

KOL> Get the number	of Activities for the latest week	where the severity > 'INFO' g	roup by ActivityName, loc	ation, elapsed. 📐 🕽 🔿 🕍 🛍 🛱 🚭 ሩ 🗸
ActivityName #	Location	ElapsedTime	Severity	🗰 °s Ju 💕
Orden	Las Vegas Nevada	<u>3s 19ms</u>	O HALI	1 · · • • • •
		<u>3s 25ms</u>	O HALT	₩∧≣≺
		3s.50ms	O HALT	
		<u>3s 81ms</u>	O HALI	
		<u>3s 113ms</u>	O HALI	1
		<u>3s 120ms</u>	O HALI	1
		<u>3s 152ma</u>	O HALI	1
		<u>3s 164ms</u>	O HALT	1
		3s.225ma	O HALI	1
		3s.232mi	O HALT	1
		36 303ms	O HALT	1 .

Figure 2.5.4.8.1-A. Sample Viewlet – Activity Scorecard Latest Week

The viewlet above is in the **Sample-OrderTracking** repository. It is a Scorecard being used in this example to display details about activities that have an important severity (ones that need attention). The scorecard layout groups activity names in the first column and their details in the subsequent columns. Each row shows an additional instance of activities with the same name. Activity names are not unique. They are differentiated by their activity ID.

The line, **severity desc show as scorecard**, within the jKQL query sorts the results in descending order.

Scorecards are most often used as a grouping mechanism to see the status of a specific application or activity at a glance.

2.5.4.8.2 Sample: SLA Violation Scorecard

Query: jKQL> Get the number of Activities for the latest week that did not meet the 'SLA' group ActivityName, location, elapsedtime order by ActivityName show as scorecard
- SLA Violation Scorecar	d		11 Activities 🖄
JKQL> Get the number of	Activities for the latest week that	did not meet the 'SLA' group by A	ctivityName,. 📐 🕽 🗇 🔟 🋗 😂 < 🗸
ActivityName =	Location	ElapsedTime	Activities Count
CreditValidate	Paris, France	<u>2s 287ms</u>	1
		<u>2s 453ms</u>	1
		<u>2s 650ms</u>	1
		<u>2s 871ms</u>	1
		<u>2s 984ms</u>	1
		<u>3s 67ms</u>	1
ValidateOrder	Los Angeles, CA	<u>2s 37ms</u>	1
		<u>2s 109ms</u>	1
		<u>2s 484ms</u>	1
		<u>2s 497ms</u>	1

Figure 2.5.4.8.2-A. Sample Viewlet – SLA Violation Scorecard

The viewlet above is in the **Sample-OrderTracking** repository. It is a scorecard displaying SLA violations for each activity grouped by location.

2.5.4.8.3 Sample: Application Performance Index Analytics

Query: jKQL> Get activities fields Apdex(ElapsedTime, 3sec,4.5sec) group by ActivityName, location order by ActivityName show as scorecard

Application Performance Index Analytics						
JKQL> Get activities fields Apdex(ElapsedTime	, 3sec,4.5sec) group by ActivityName, location or	der by ActivityName 📐 'O 🗇 🕍 🏛 🞜 🤞 ۷	~			
ActivityName +	Location	Apdex(ElapsedTime, 3000000, 4500000)				
AcceptOrder	New York. NY	1.0	1			
CreditValidate	Paris_France	0.990476				
<u>Orders</u>	Las Vegas, Nevada	0.504762				
	London, England	0.504762				
	Los Angeles, CA	0.504762				
	Miami, Florida	0.504854				
	New York. NY	0.495146				
	Paris. France	0.504762				
	Washington, Virginia	0.509615				
PaymentProcess	London, England	1.0	*			

Figure 2.5.4.8.3-A. Sample Viewlet - Application Performance Index Analytics

The viewlet above is in the **Sample-OrderTracking** repository. It is using the statistical function Apdex. Nastel XRay comes with a large library of functions built into it including Bollinger bands, EMA, SMA, Floor, Median, Round, Standard Deviation, and many more.

Apdex stands for application performance index. It defines a method for reporting and comparing the performance of software applications to measure user satisfaction.

Here it is used to determine the experience of users in each geographic area for each activity and its related applications. A "0" means no users are satisfied, while a "1" means all users are satisfied. A number in-between shows a mix of satisfaction levels. This is measured in relationship to the target elapsed time, in this case, between 3 to 4.5 seconds.

2.5.4.8.4 Sample: Function Analysis

props('COUNTRY NAME') show as scorecard

Query: jKQL> Get Activities fields StdDevPop(properties('OrderAmount')), StdDevSample(properties('OrderAmount')), VariancePop(properties('OrderAmount')), VarianceSample(properties('OrderAmount')) for this year group by

- Function Analysis				(Z)
jKQL> Get Activities fields S	SidDevPop(properties("OrderAmor	unt')), StdDevSample(propertie:	s('OrderAmount')), VariancePo.	
COUNTRY_NAME =	StdDev(Properties('OrderAr	StdDevSample(Properties(*	Var(Properties("OrderAmour	VarSample(Properties('Ord-
PERU	58.078353	58.359605	3373.095046	3405.843541
UNITED STATES	59.816239	60.103129	3577.982433	3612.386111

Figure 2.5.4.8.4-A. Sample Viewlet – Function Analysis

The same query can be written without noting "properties," as in the example below (a simpler way of writing the query). The query will produce the same viewlet. See <u>Chapter 5: Using jKQL</u> for more information on jKQL queries.

```
Query: jKQL> Get Activities fields StdDevPop(OrderAmount),
```

```
StdDevSample(OrderAmount), VariancePop(OrderAmount),
```

VarianceSample(OrderAmount) for this year group by COUNTRY_NAME show as scorecard

- Function Analysis				Z
jKQL> Get Activities fields S	StdDevPop(properties("OrderAmor	unt')), StdDevSample(properties	s('OrderAmount')), VariancePo.	▶ り ○ 単 世 ≎ ⊀ ∨
COUNTRY_NAME +	StdDev(Properties("OrderAr	StdDevSample(Properties(*	Var(Properties("OrderAmour	VarSample(Properties(*Ord-
PERU	58.078353	58 359605	3373.095046	3405.843541
UNITED STATES	59.816239	60.103129	3577.982433	3612.386111

Figure 2.5.4.8.4-B. Sample Viewlet – Function Analysis

The viewlet above is in the **Sample-OrderTracking** repository. It is an example of using standard deviation on the order amount field. Standard deviations are used to determine how far a value is from the expected value or mean and can illustrate the volatility of this value over time.

2.5.4.9 Area



Figure 2.5.4.9-A. Area

Area charts are used to represent values over a specified period of time. The general tendencies of data changes or other items are visually represented. In the example below, the frequency of dpStatusCPUUsage snapshots (with defined word in snapshot name) from the previous 10 months is displayed.

2.5.4.9.1 Sample: CPU Usage

The viewlet below can be found on the **DataPower Metrics** dashboard of the **Sample-Middleware** repository.



Figure 2.5.4.9-A. Area Chart – CPU Usage

Query: jKQL> Get snapshots for latest 10 month where snapshotName contains 'dpStatusCPUUsage' show as areachart

Hover over chart points to view details in a pop-up display, or click a point to view the details in a Console panel viewlet.

Nastel XRay User's Guide



Figure 2.5.4.9-B. Area Chart - Details

2.5.4.10 Summary

Summary viewlets are used to quickly view various data totals of the repository. They are displayed in the Summary panel (*see <u>Section 2.4.3</u>, Summary Panel*).

2.5.4.10.1Adding Summary Viewlets

2.5.4.10.1.1 Add Summary Viewlet from a Dashboard Viewlet

Add a new summary viewlet from a dashboard viewlet by clicking the **Change chart type** and selecting the **Summary** chart type.



Figure 2.5.4.10.1.1-A. Add Summary from Viewlet

2.5.4.10.1.2 Add Summary Viewlet when Creating a Viewlet with a Form

When creating a viewlet using a form, users can specify to add a summary viewlet. See Create a Viewlet with a Form (*Section 2.5.1.2*) for more information.

Within the **Fields** section, enable the **Count** option. Depending on the data type, this option can be displayed as **Events Count**, **Activities Count**, or **Snapshots Count**.

When **Create** is clicked and the viewlet is generated, a summary viewlet will also be created.

Viewlet Name	
Summary	
✔ Data Type	
Historical O Real-time 🔵	
Event	
✓ Time Period	
Unspecified	*
✓ Fields	(+
Events Count	
✓ Group by	÷
✓ Filters	0
✓ Viewlet Type	
📕 Ta 🥼 🍺 🔨	~ ● M ⊕ ⊞
A 🗐 🗟 🖬 A	
 Viewlet Settings 	
✓ Drilldown	
Drilldown to:	Console
Schema	Inherit from Dashboard 🔹
Close	Create Preview

Figure 2.5.4.10.1.2-A. Count Option

2.5.4.10.1.3 Add Summary Viewlets When Creating New Dashboards

When adding a new dashboard, enable **Generate Initial Viewlets** on the *Create new Dashboard* dialog box. Please see Create a Dashboard (<u>Section 2.4.2.1</u>) for more information on adding a new dashboard. Three default viewlets will be created: Activities Count, Events Count and Snapshots Count.

Dashboard Name	1	
Page Layout		
One Column	Two Columns	Three Columns

Figure 2.5.4.10.1.3-A. Create New Dashboard – Generate Initial Viewlets

2.5.4.10.1.4Add Summary Viewlet from the Create/Open Summary Dialog Box

1. Click the **Create Summary** icon **I**



Figure 2.5.4.10.1.4-A. Create Summary Icon

2. The *Create/Open Summary* dialog box opens. An explanation of each option is explained below.



Figure 2.5.4.10.1.4-B. Create/Open Summary Dialog Box

2.5.4.10.1.4.1

2.5.4.10.1.4.1 Create a Basic Summary

Selecting the **Create a Basic Summary** option will open the *Create Summary* dialog box. Specify **Define Query** and **Viewlet Name**.

Figure 2.5.4.10.1.4.1-A. Create Summary Dialog Box

The summary viewlet is now created in the Summary panel.



Figure 2.5.4.10.1.4.1-B. Summary Viewlet

2.5.4.10.1.4.2

2.5.4.10.1.4.2 Create a Summary Based on

Objectives

Selecting **Create a Summary Based on Objectives** on the *Create/Open Summary* dialog box will open the *Wizard: Summary Based on Objectives* dialog box. Perform the following:

1. Select all desired objectives. Multiple objectives can be selected from the same set.

ie	ct objectives	STATES STORES		
-	arch objectives			
	Set name	Set criteria	Objective name	Objective criteria
ė,	Game	((ActivityName equals ("sendfact")))	Completed	ActivityStatus='ENU'
6	Game	((ActivityName equals ("sendfact")))	Completed Without Errors	Count(Eventid) = 0 where CompCo
	NEWSET	((ActivityName equals ("Sendfact")))	Completed	ActivityStatus='END'
	NEWSET	((ActivityName equals ("Sendfact")))	Completed_WithoutErrors	Count(Eventid) = 0 where CompCo.
	d	SetName has any of ('d_ChildSet1'	HasAllSteps	list(SetName) has all of ('d_ChildSe.
	e_ChildSet1	(ActivityName equals ("aaa"))	8	name = **
	KooDataExport	ActivityName="CreditValidate"	SLA	ElapsedTime < 2 seconds
	Place Order	ActivityName="AcceptOrder"	SLA	ElapsedTime < 2 seconds
	Place Order	ActivityName="AcceptOrder"	Successful	CompCode = "SUCCESS"
	ctives can be selected	only from the same set		

Figure 2.5.4.10.1.4.2-A. Wizard: Summary Based on Objectives - Objectives

2. Select either **Activities** or **Events** for the Data Type.

	-0-	-0-	-0-	-0	
	OBJECTIVES	DATA TYPE	TIME	SAVE	
hoose data type					
Activities					
Events					

Figure 2.5.4.10.1.4.2-B. Wizard: Summary Based on Objectives – Data Type

3. Select a time limit from the drop-down menu.

	OBJECTIVES	DATA TYPE	TIME	SAVE	
hoose time limit					
Unspecified					
Unspecified					_
Predefined					
Custom					
Date range					

Figure 2.5.4.10.1.4.2-C. Wizard: Summary Based on Objectives - Time

4. Enter a name for the viewlet within the **Viewlet name** field. From the **Dashboard** drop-down, select which dashboard the new viewlet should be added to. Click **Save**.

	OBJECTIVE	S DATA TYPE	TIME	SAVE	
iave built quen	y in a viewlet				
/iewlet name	Summary of Activities				
ashboard	JKL-2040	*			

Figure 2.5.4.10.1.4.2-D. Wizard: Summary Based on Objectives - Save

The viewlet is now added to the Summary panel with three fields:

- **All**: Represents the count of activities that met the criteria of all selected objectives.
- **Partial**: Displays the count of activities that met the criteria of at least one of the selected objectives.
- **None**: The count of activities which did not meet any of the selected objectives' criteria.



Figure 2.5.4.10.1.4.2-E. Summary Viewlet Based on Objectives

2.5.4.10.1.4.3

2.5.4.10.1.4.3 Open Existing Summary

Selecting **Open Existing Summary** on *Create/Open Summary* dialog box will open the *Open Existing Viewlet* dialog box (*Figure 2.5.1.4-A*). See <u>Section 2.5.1.4, Open Existing Viewlet</u> for more information on *Open Existing Viewlet*. Select a viewlet and click **Open**. The dashboard's focus will now be the selected viewlet.

The Open Existing Viewlet dialog box can also be opened from the Main Menu (Section 2.3.6).

2.5.4.10.2Tear Off Viewlets

The Summary Dock can be opened in its own browser window. Click the **Tear Off** button to view the summary viewlets in their own window. See <u>*Tear Off*</u> for more information.

Data Points - 2018-12-1 +		t Data t Viewlet +
Snapshot Count 📐 💭 🖂	Viewlet 4	Tear off
Snapshots Count	ALL	PARTIAL
32.2K	0	0

75

Figure 2.5.4.10.2-A. Summary – Tear Off

2.5.4.10.3Exact Total

Hover over a count to view the exact total.



Figure 2.5.4.10.3-A. Summary – Exact Total

2.5.4.10.4Edit Viewlet Query

Click the **Edit Query** button to update the viewlet's query.



Figure 2.5.4.10.4-A. Summary Viewlet - Edit Query Button

PaultimeState 95 III S PaultimethataStr 95 III S	Event Count	Activity Caused		
KQL> subscribe to count of activities output every 60 seconds show as	Events Count	Activities Count		
summary	17.2K	65.4K		
	4	N		

Figure 2.5.4.10.4-B. Summary Viewlet – Edit Query

2.5.4.10.5Reset Query

Click the **Reset Query** button to reset a viewlet's jKQL query to the last saved query.



Figure 2.5.4.10.5-A. Reset Query

2.5.4.10.6Refresh Viewlets

To refresh summary viewlets, click the **Refresh Viewlet** button. This process will check for new data.



Figure 2.5.4.10.6-A. Refresh Viewlet Button

2.5.4.10.7Viewlet Menu

The **Summary Viewlet Menu** button allows users to edit, save, save as, remove, or delete summary viewlets.

			_			Summary	•	_
	RealtimeStats 🔷 🛌 🔠 🔽	ReaffimeDataStr 💎 📐 📊 🔽	Ev	ent Count	20	Activity Count	× 2 ∨	Sna
			Edit Vi	Edit Viewiet		Activities Count		Sn
	Connection failed!	Waiting for new data		Save Viewlet		65.4K		
			F	Save As View	vlet	- Integration		- Carlos
— Vi	iewlet 2			Remove View	vlet			
jkql>	KQL> get number of Event group by EventName, Severity show as scorecard			Delete Viewl	et :			
Even	EventName 🕈			Export Views	et.			

Figure 2.5.4.10.7-A. Summary Viewlet Menu

2.5.4.10.7.1 Edit Viewlet

Selecting **Edit Viewlet** allows users to update the summary viewlet's details using a form. After making updates, click **Preview** to view changes before saving. To cancel and discard changes, click **Close**. To save changes made, click **Apply**.

Chapter 2: Using Nastel XRay

Accession	Conditional	Origen	PagementProcess	Viewiet Name	
Activities Count 69	69	-	49	Summary of the Order Process Time for Latent Work	
^			^	V Data Type	
Proceed Secondary,	Registertiser	And a state of the	ShipCoders	Munical O Beatime O	
69	6		68	Active	
		_		V Time Period	
				Curtare	
				Loon Literat	
				Wite E	
				dian. Prest.	
				✓ Fields	•
				S Activities Cause	
				- Group by	0
				Activityfound	-
				✓ Filters	
				Viewlet Type	
				111 St. Jack 🔄 🗸 🕒 📈 🖽	
				Viewlet Settings	
				V Drilldown	
				Difficient to Carticle	
				Scheme Industry Deletioned	
				Charles National Streets	

Figure 2.5.4.10.7.1-A. Edit Summary Viewlet

2.5.4.10.8Real-time Subscription Viewlet Options

For real-time subscription summary viewlets, use the **Real Time Menu** button to set an interval and pause/resume the viewlet data.

		_	_	E Summary E	0
RoaltimeStats 😤 🔀 🕅 🔽	RealTimeDataStr 🕆 🔀 🔢 🔽	Event Count	XCV	Activity Count	NOV
Frequency (Seconds)	×	Events Count		Activities Count	
Wat	50 BU	47	2K	65.	4K
				<u>N</u>	

Figure 2.5.4.10.8-A. Real Time Menu Button

2.5.4.10.9Visual History of Changes

The Summary viewlets include line charts displaying increase/decrease count history as seen in the below figure.

Snapshot Count 📐 🕽 🖸 🗸	Event Count 📐 🕽 🕄 🗸	Activity Count 📐 🕽 🞜 🗸
Snapshots Count	Events Count	Activities Count
196	268.6K	9.4K

Figure 2.5.4.10.9-A. Count History Chart

2.5.4.11 Topology

6		_							Surrent and						
year	Set Relative	of Activity	y for last yea	ar where A	Activity1D in	(14951283-61	6c-11e6-	a7da-d0505	1928be76') sh	ow as topology		5	o c⊾	山台:	C 4 V
0° 0° 11 1	Server		epikation (Cut	aCenter	 Resource 	01	Database	Constant	I Sent Mer	mage (— Ads O Avg: 3s 65ms Count: 1 Avg: 1s 72ms				4
									WebOrder	WebServer 1000	Court: 1	Steffedu	à		
											Avg: 552m 852ja Count: 1				

Figure 2.5.4.11-A. Topology

A topology is often used to see the "flow" of what happened, and when it happened. This is very helpful in understanding the status of your applications and objectives.

2.5.4.11.1Sample: Steps in the Order Process Business Milestone

Query: jKQL> get relatives show as topology

Ikar>	get relative	s show as topole	ogy						5.	°⊃ ⊂ IM ∰	0 4 v
€.	🗎 Set	Sent Miss	agii Enc	losed Objective	s 🗖 SLA	Successful					
		Avge 228ms 964ps Counts 10	Register User				Ang 104ms 615ps		Process Fraud		
-	Place Order		Arg 777ins 554ja Count: 9		Velly Credit	Avg 7ms 892ps	Count: 14 Online Routier	Avg 890ms 115ps Court: 140	-12		
=		Avg: 228ms Elja Gaart: 256	Weily Order	Avg: 487ms 272µs Count: 570	-	Court: 91	-1	Arg: 913ms 915pa Count: 236	Process Papersont	Avg: Silina 485µa Gaula 605	Ship Product

Figure 2.5.4.11.1-A. Sample Viewlet - Steps in the Order Process Business Milestone

The viewlet above is in the **Sample-OrderTracking** repository. It shows the auto-discovered topology of an Order Process, displayed at the business milestone tier. Topologies can be shown at the geographical, datacenter, server, application, or milestone tiers. Each of the blue "chevron"-like icons above represents a specific business milestone. A business milestone is there to represent the completion of a business objective in the "real-world". It is defined based on established criteria, while its completion determines its status. Milestones often form a sequence or flow. This happens automatically as the analytics engine determines an observed relationship between them. The colored bars underneath each icon are called a. The health bar under each icon is color coded to reflect status (green = good, yellow = warning, red = critical). It can be clicked to see the status of the milestone. The arrows between icons shows data flow between milestones. This is automatically discovered. The numbers surrounding the arrow show statistics for the relationship including elapsed time and count.

2.5.4.11.2Create / Edit Topology Viewlet

To populate *Topology* viewlets, the 'Get relatives *<any criteria>* show as topology' statement must be used. If you're creating a topology with a form, select **Relative** as the data type.

jKQL> get r	elatives show a	is topology					2	່ວ⊂ພ ສ	1 0 4 v
୍	Server 📷 Queue —	Application Sent Message	Data	aCenter ts On	🔹 Rei	source ed — Cor	Datat related	base	
+									
-	Aug: 243ms 52ps Regist Count: 63	etter			Name and any South in		Providient		
- Webbein	Avg: 775 Court: 7 Avg: 725ms 555ps Court: 285	na 3594ja Deders Arej: 580ms 217ja Count: 76	VertrGede	Avg: 7ms 942ja Coost: 668	Count: 21 OrderRouter	Avg: 196m: 500ps Count: 254 Avg: 109ms 257ps Count: 661	ProcessPayment	Avg: 530ms -Oyu Caunt: 37	

Figure 2.5.4.11.2-A. Topology

To modify the *Topology* viewlet, click the down arrow and select **Edit Viewlet** from the viewlet's drop-down menu. The viewlet's editing form opens.

✓ Viewlet Name				
Steps in the Order Process Business Milestone				
> Data Type		Viewlet Settin	95	
✓ Time Period		Start Level	Application	
		Layout Types	Hierarchic	
Unspecified		Show Resources		2
✓ Fields	e	Show Send/Receive Or	wy .	2
Relatives Count		Show Health Bar		
✓ Group by	0	Health Bar based on	Events	
✓ Filters	0	Max Data Count 16		
✓ Viewlet Type		✓ Legend		
∰ 18 M F 1~ ● M ⊕		Di Show		
111 🛆 🗏 🍕 iai 🛆		Close	Apply •	Preview

Figure 2.5.4.11.2-B. Edit Topology Viewlet Form

Select desired options from the drop-down menus. Check off the **Legend** check box to enable/disable the displaying of legend icons. The legend is displayed at the top of topology viewlets.

In the **Viewlet Settings** section, you can modify the properties of the topology viewlet. From the **Start Level** drop-down menu, select the item type.

✓ Viewlet Settings					
Start Level	Application				
Layout Types					
	DataCenter				
Show Resources	Server				
Show Send/Receive (Application				
Show Health Bar	Milestones				
Show Health Bar					

Figure 2.5.4.11.2-C. Start Level Drop-Down Menu

Depending on the start level item type selected, the appearance of the viewlet will differ. In the example below, **Server** was selected to be the start level.

WebServer100		Ang: 773ms 554µs Count: 9 ProcessServer110		CreditServerV	isa.	Ave: 886ms 733.s		FraudDetection
	Avg: 228ms 47µs	,	Avg: 476ms 295µs	;;;		Count: 21	Auro OFFICE OFFICE	
	Counc 1/4	-	COUNC 162		Ave: 11ms 340xs	RoutingServer	Count: 640	
		UsersServer			Count: 93	,	Aver: 913ms 158xs	PaymentServerSWIFT
	Avg: 243ms 52µs	,					Count: 327	,] ,
	Count: 63							

Figure 2.5.4.11.2-D. Topology Viewlet with Server as Start Level

Select a layout type from the **Layout Types** drop-down menu.

✓ Viewlet Settings							
Start Level	Application						
Layout Types	Hierarchic 🔺						
Show Resources							
	Hierarchic						
Show Send/Receive (Circular						

Figure 2.5.4.11.2-E. Layout Types Drop-Down Menu

The topology figures above are displaying the hierarchic layout type. Below is an example of the circular layout type.



Figure 2.5.4.11.2-F. Circular Layout Type

Select all other desired options within the **Viewlet Settings** section.

 Viewlet Settings 	ř.	
Start Level	Application	
Layout Types	Hierarchic	
Show Resources		ø
Show Send/Receive Only		M
Show Health Bar		ø
Health Bar based on	Events	÷
Max Data Count 16		
✔ Legend		
Show		
Close	Apply - Preview	

Figure 2.5.4.11.2-G. Circular Layout Type

Click the **Preview** button to view the topology viewlet's updates. Click the **Apply** button to save the changes. The **Close** button will close the form without saving changes.

2.5.4.11.3Topology Viewlet Properties

Topology viewlets can be displayed within the main view or on the Console panel (when generated from a table viewlet, see <u>Section 2.5.4.1.1.5, Topology</u>, for information), but the properties of the viewlets are the same in both cases.

The arrows represent the relationships between relatives. Click on these arrows to view statistics.

10 7G04cb0-94a0-11s3-ac16-0	StateChange	EVE	. Automatical in	anth Balley - Consist ON Status Manita
7ea8a5t0-94a0-t1e8-ac18-0	StateChange	EVE	S_AUTOFRICE	realin_Policy - service Gm_status_monito
			nausucs	R324174
Transactions Topology X		P	roperty	Value
KOU> Get Relative of Activity where Activit	vtD in /7cbd506f-94a0-11e8-9	23-03002	ompCode	
			Success	1
🔍 🚺 Server 📷 Application	🗃 DataCenter 🍯 Resourc	x 🗮 E	lapsedTime	
50		1	Avg	6min 42s
•			Count	1
			Max	6min 42s
			Min	6min 42s
- DS_AutoPlice_Health_Policy	Service QM_Stat	e_Monitor	Totai	6min 42s
- 📪	Avg: Aman 42s Count: 1	E	ndTime	
			Count	1
			Mai	7/31/2018, 12:02:44 PM
=			Min	7/31/2010, 12:02:44 PM
Clic	k on the	5	everity	
ave	erages to		infe	1
dis	play a	s	tartTime	
sta	tistics	1	Count	1
tab	le		Max	7/31/2018, 11 56:02 AM
			Min	7/31/2018, 11 56 02 AM
		13	eset	
		1	Time	7/31/2018, 12:02:44 PM

Figure 2.5.4.11-B. Topology - Statistics Chart

Users have the following additional options to customize topology viewlets.

jKQL> get relatives show as to	opology	> > ℃ 🛍 🛍 ᢒ ≺ ∨
④ 🚺 Server 🛐 Ap	oplication 📰 DataCenter 🎄 Resource 📰 Data closed —— Correlated	base 🖏 Queue — Sent Message
Fit to Screen Fit to Screen Avg: 243ms 524s Count: 63 Avg: 226ms 555ys Count: 205	Zoom In: (click to show/hide the Navigation Display Box) Register/Jaer Aug: 773ms 554µs Courd: 9 VerifyOrdet VerifyOrdet Aug: 7ms 942µs Courd: 668 Courd: 76 Courd: 76	ims 233jus FraudAlert 1 Aug: 896ms 608jus Solore Router Count: 264 ProcessPayment Aug: 900ms 257jus Aug: 530ms 42jus Count: 661 Count: 37
	Navigation Display Box : Drag and drop or clid the desired area to change the viewlet's focus Use your mouse roll button to zoom in and ou	:k .t.

Figure 2.5.4.11.3-B. Topology – Options

2.5.4.12 Anomaly

Anomaly chart viewlets are useful to quickly see data distribution deviations compared to the normal distribution.

Nastel XRay User's Guide



Figure 2.5.4.12-A. Anomaly

2.5.4.12.1Sample: Anomalies via Bollinger Bands

Query: jKQL> Get number of events group by starttime bucketed by minute show as anomalychart



Figure 2.5.4.12.1-A. Sample Viewlet - Anomaly Monitor

The viewlet above is in the **Sample-OrderTracking** repository. This viewlet, which is called an anomaly chart, is using the function Bollinger Bands to automatically detect anomalies in the number of events per day. The red dashed line displays the average event count, and the blue displays the actual event count. The point at which the blue line surpasses the red dashed line is when the anomaly is suspected.

2.5.4.13 Histogram



Figure 2.5.4.13-A. Histogram

A **histogram** represents the distribution of numerical data. To create a histogram, the frequency of data within a range of values will need to be bucketed into intervals. Opposed to bar charts, histograms display the frequency of continuous data. The red line displays the normal distribution. The **Mean - stdDev** (stdDev – standard deviation), **Mean** and **Mean + stdDev** lines display statistical means. The **Minimum** line displays the minimum count.

If creating a histogram viewlet using a form (for more information on forms, see <u>Section</u>). <u>2.5.1.2, Create a Viewlet with a Form</u>), the following settings are required:

- Within the **Fields** section, enable the **Count** option. Depending on the type of viewlet, this option can be displayed as **Events Count**, **Activities Count**, or **Snapshots Count**.
- From the Group by section, select a numerical element that has the bucket option. Enable this checkbox and specify all associated options. For more information on bucketing, see <u>Section 2.5.1.2, Create a Viewlet with a Form</u>. If EventCount is selected, you will have the following options:
 - **Size**: the viewlet generated will divide the data into intervals by the size range defined within the bucket value field.
 - **Count**: distributes the data in the number of intervals specified within the bucket value field.
 - **Auto**: if you do not need to specify a particular bucket range.
- Select the **Histogram** option within the **Viewlet Type** section.

>	✓ Group by			
	EventCount		2 bucket	
		АЛТО		
Viewlet Name	✓ Filters	AUTO SIZE	0	
Num of Activity	Viewiet Type			
✓ Data Type		F 1/2 🔍 (A) 1	⊕ ∰	
Activity	✓ Viewlet Setting			
✓ Time Period	✓ Drilldown			
Unspecified +	Drilldown to:	Comole	•	
✓ Fields	Schema	Inherit from De	ashboard =	
Activities Count	Close	Create	Preview	

Figure 2.5.4.13-B. Histogram Form Options

The following viewlet gets generated using the options selected in the figure above. The same viewlet can be populated also with jKQL (see <u>*Chapter 5, Using jKQL*</u>, for more information):

Query: jKQL> get number of Activity group by EventCount bucketed by size 3 show as histogram



Figure 2.5.4.13-C. Histogram Viewlet

2.5.4.13.1Sample: The frequency of SnapshotCount

In the example below, the frequency of SnapshotCount shows how many activities have snapshot counts within the specific range, defined by bucketing size.

Query: jKQL> get number of Activity group by SnapshotCount bucketed by size 10 show as histogram



Figure 2.5.4.13-D. Histogram Viewlet – The Frequency of SnapshotCount

You can change the bucketing type from **Size** to **Count** by typing the following expressions in a jKQL query. The expression, *bucketed show as histogram*, corresponds to Auto bucketing type.

Query: jKQL> get number of Activity group by EventCount bucketed show as histogram



Figure 2.5.4.13-E. Histogram Viewlet – The Frequency of EventCount

You can see the difference between size and count bucketing in the table viewlets below. To generate these examples, click on the **Chart** button and from the viewlet's toolbar and select the table chart type and or modify the jKQL query's *show as* expression.

Histogram - Num	Of Activity						2
JKQL> get number of	of Activity group by EventC	ount bucketed by size 3 show as table	<u>></u> כ	C 💷 🛗	С	4	~
EventCount	Activities Count						
<u>1-3</u>	<u>85</u>						
<u>4 - 6</u>	14						
<u>7 - 9</u>	0						
<u>10 - 12</u>	0						
<u>13 - 15</u>	0						

Figure 2.5.4.13-F. Bucketed by Size

— Histogram - Num	of Activity		Ø
KQL> get number of	of Activity group by EventCo	ount bucketed by count 3 show as table	124~
EventCount	Activities Count		
<u>1 - 8</u>	99		
<u>9 - 16</u>	0		
17 - 24	14		

Figure 2.5.4.13-G. Bucketed by Count

In *Figure 2.5.4.13-F*, the EventCount is divided in an unspecified number of groups by 3. For example, the first row of data (EventCount is 1-3 and Activities Count is 85) shows that there are 85 activities taking place within one to three events. The second row of data (EventCount is 4-6 and Activities count is 14) shows that there are 14 activities which occur within four to six events.

Figure 2.5.4.13-G shows the data, divided into a specified number of intervals, by an unspecified range number.

2.5.4.14 Tree

KOL> get activities fields ActivityID, Severity, Name at	くすの職買いた			
Name	ActivityID	Severity	ActivityName	- In
0 DERFORMANCE	#946d72-0c90-11e6-816b-c	E NOTICE	PERFORMANCE	
•0	#7e7a57-0d12-11e6-ba5c-d	ERROR		₩ • • •
* O EUM_SMRY	1de88/54-0d12-11e5-9270-	NOTICE	EUM SMRY	$\square \land \models \square \land$
. CO END USER RESPONSE TIME	tde03305-0d12-11e6-9270-	NOTICE	END USER RESPONSE T	
* O PERFORMANCE	ticeb020-0c8a-11e6-83d9-	2 D NOTICE	PERFORMANCE	ind da
* O PERFORMANCE	tc03c32d-0c84-11e6-bb74-	DI NOTICE	PERFORMANCE	
* O PERFORMANCE	tubd2250-0c97-11e6-b55d-	O NOTICE	PERFORMANCE	
* O PERFORMANCE	1914cd80-0c91-11e5-8413-d	NOTICE	PERFORMANCE	
* O PERFORMANCE	1926ab-1c-0c6b-11e6-89d8-	NOTICE	PERFORMANCE	
PERFORMANCE	165a1050-6c85-11e6-8199-	NOTICE	PERFORMANCE	-
	Pa	pe 1 of 16 ++ ++		Parent nodes: 304

Figure 2.5.4.14-A. Tree

Query: jKQL> get Activity fields ActivityID, Severity, ActivityName show as tree

Tree viewlets are only available for *activities*. By default, only the activity's name and severity icon are displayed (basic query example: get activities show as tree), but the viewlet can be enriched by adding *field* conditions as in the example above.

Expand an activity's tree by clicking the arrow immediately before the activity name. All the child activities, events or snapshots are displayed. An activity with no child records will have a circle instead of an arrow.

2.5.4.15 Clustering

Clustering charts use machine learning data to group data into clusters so that users can gain insight into the data. This is 'unsupervised' learning; a type of machine learning that looks for previously undetected patterns in a data set with no pre-existing labels and with a minimum of human supervision Below are examples of a clustering viewlets.

Query: jKQL> Get dataset compute clusters(3,PETAL_LENGTH,PETAL_WIDTH,SEPAL_LENGTH,SEPAL_WIDTH,'3',false) show as table

Clusters in Bar Char	rt Format				2	
jKQL> get dataset compute clusters(3,PETAL_LENGTH,PETAL_WIDTH,SEPAL_LENGTH, SEPAL_WIDTH, '3';false) show as table ∑ 'O C' 년 🖮 📿 🗸						
DatasetID	Name	Percent	PETAL_LENGTH	PETAL_WIDTH	SEPAL_LENGTH	
ae2b57bb-657f-11eb-910a-7	Cluster 1	22.222	4.9, 6.9, 6	1.4, 2.5, 2	6.1, 7.9, 7	
ae2b57bb-657f-11eb-910a-7	Cluster 2	41.52	1.0001, 1.9, 1	0.1, 0.6, 0	4.3, 5.8, 5	
ae2b57bb-657f-11eb-910a-7	Cluster 3	36.257	3.0001, 5.1, 4	1.0001, 2.4, 1	4.9, 7.0001, 6	
		14	<≠ Page 1 of 1 →	14	View 1 - 3 of 3	

Figure 2.5.4.15-A. Clusters in Bar Chart Format

Query:	jKQL>	Get	dataset	compute
clusters3d(PETAL_	LENGTH, PETAL	WIDTH, SEPAL	LENGTH, SEPAL_WIDTH, '3', true)	



Figure 2.5.4.15-B. Clusters in Plotty Format

2.5.4.16 Correlation

Correlation charts use machine learning data to correlate the data fields. A high positive or negative number indicates a strong correlation. (A negative number indicates a negative correlation: both positive and negative numbers show a similar increase in absolute value.)

The below image is an example of a correlation viewlet.

compute

Query:jKQL>getdatasetcorrelate(PETAL_LENGTH, PETAL_WIDTH, SEPAL_LENGTH, SEPAL_WIDTH)

	1.0	0.979494	0.932074	-0.251669	
ETAL_WIDTH	0.979404		0.903588	-0.207864	0.5
			1.0	-0.009788	-0
EPAL_WIDTH -	-0.251669	-0.207864	-0.009788	3.0	-1

Figure 2.5.4.16-A. Correlation

2.5.4.17 Feature Suggestion

Feature suggestion chart types use machine learning data to display the fields the machine learning model considers the most important when predicting a target variable (the fields which effect the target variable the most).

The below images are examples of feature suggestion viewlets.

Query:jKQL>getdatasetcomputefeaturesuggestion(PETAL_LENGTH, PETAL_WIDTH, SEPAL_LENGTH, SEPAL_WIDTH, SPECIES)show as table



Feature Selection			
jKQL> compute featureselection("BloodPre	essure') show as colchart		∑ 9 € ≝ 3 ∨
Weight			
	SEX		_OBESE
		FieldName	
SEX _OBESE			

Figure 2.5.4.17-B. Feature Suggestion Diagram

2.5.4.18 Forecast

Forecast charts use machine learning data to display a future projection. The below image is an example of a forecast viewlet.

Query: jKQL> compute forecast(`closingPriceDaily',100)



Figure 2.5.4.18-A. Forecast

2.5.4.19 Expected

Expected charts use machine learning data to display predictions. Given certain variables, the expected target variable is displayed. The below images are examples of expected viewlets.

Query	; jKQL>	compute	expected('SPECIES')show	as	table
-------	---------	---------	-----------	-----------	-------	----	-------

Expected				
KQL> compute expe	NOCE20~			
SPECIES	Predicted SPECIES	Accuracy/Explained %	ID	
setosa	setosa	0.969615	012a6103-fc27-11ea-b2c4-7	1
setosa	setosa	0.969615	049ba7a1-0814-11eb-8e90-1	
setosa	setosa	0.969615	04b91a09-fdbc-11ea-a23d-7	
setosa	setosa	0.969615	060df5c6-fdd9-11ea-a23d-76	
setosa	setosa	0.969615	06e22b1e-fdd8-11ea-a23d-7	
setosa	setosa	0.969615	0da63599-04da-11eb-9715-1	
setosa	setosa	0.969615	0e6b324c-fddc-11ea-9e7d-7	
setosa	setosa	0.969615	0f4e2ea1-fe97-11ea-a9ba-7(
setosa	setosa	0.969615	0172c18a-1920-11ea-867a-76	
setosa	setosa	0.969615	1134a4e4-fdd7-11ea-a23d-7	
setosa	setosa	0.969615	119c4b19-fe9c-11ea-a9ba-7	
setosa	setosa	0.969615	1429283f-f921-11ea-867a-7t	
		re e Page 1 of	1 + +	View 1 - 50 of 50

Figure 2.5.4.19-A. Expected Table



Figure 2.5.4.19-A. Expected Diagram

2.5.4.20 Images

Image viewlets allow you to display data on any predefined SVG image with custom bindings. The powerful, lightweight rules engine, json-rules-engine, is used for binding realization. You can share image viewlets (see the <u>Share Viewlet</u> section) for quick access. SVG images have many elements, but the most important are the following:

- <metadata >
- <style>
- <defs>
- <g>

The following is an example:

Query: jKQL> Get sensor fields all where PolicyName='DEMO - EAI Workflow Business Process.bsp'Show As Image('demo1')



Figure 2.5.4.20-A. SVG Image Viewlet

If interested in utilizing SVG image viewlets, contact Nastel Support for assistance.

2.5.5 Date and Time

2.5.5.1 Select Date and Time Range

Viewlet date and time range can be updated. Perform the following:

1. Click the **Date & Time Range** icon.



Figure 2.5.5.1-A. Date & Time Range Icon

2. The *Date & Time Range* dialog box appears.

			, ang (ang paon 14 14 14 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15	
•		Date 8	Time Range	9
		Custon	n	*
		Limit:	Latest	*
		Value:		
CsvStream		Units:	Week	v
_		- 0	llose	ave
2				
0	5ms	10ms	15ms	20ms

Figure 2.5.5.1-B. Date & Time Range Dialog Box

3. From the drop-down menu select the filter type: **Unspecified**, **Predefined**, **Custom** or **Date Range**. After selecting a type, specify all associated filter options and click **Save**.

2.5.5.2 Date and Time Filtering in Viewlets

Child viewlets inherit date and time conditions (i.e., *for last week, from, to*, etc.) from their parent viewlets, however the time expression will not appear in the child's jKQL query. See the figures immediately below for an example.

.jKOL> get activities for last week						
	ActivityID	ParentiD	ActivityName	Severity	StartTime	EndTime
0	2584bd92-05e4-11ea-8c66-0		MO_PUT_TO_MO_GET	1 INEQ	11/13/2019, 9-06:40 AM	11/13/2019, 9:06:45 AM
0	10385570-05e4-11ea-8c66-0		MO_PUT_TO_MO_GET	1 INEQ	11/13/2019. 9:06:05 AM	11/13/2019. 9:06:14 AM
03	fo4a8a8f-05e3-11ea-8c66-02		MO_PUT_TO_MO_GET	O INEQ	11/13/2019. 9:05:31 AM	11/13/2019. 9:05:38 AM

Figure 2.5.11-A. Summary Panel (parent) Viewlet: Includes Time Condition

				- C	ansale =	
	Activity Details					
IKC	Cet Activity where ActivityID	= '2584bd92-05e4-11	ea-8c66-0242a:120011			
	ActivityID	ParentiD	ActivityName	Severity	StartTime	EndTime
0	2584bd92-05e4-11ea-8088-0		MO_PUT_TO_MO_GET	() INEQ	11/13/2019, 9:06:40 AM	11/13/2019. 9:06:45 AM

Figure 2.5.11-B. Console Panel (child) Viewlet: Time Condition Applies (but does not appear in jKQL query line)

To view the date and time condition, simply hover over the Console viewlet's orange "jKQL>" label.

If the originating parent viewlet does not have a "for" condition, or if a Console viewlet does not have a parent viewlet, then the dashboard's default date and time will be applied to the Console viewlet and will display in the label.



Figure 2.5.11-C. Hover to See Date Condition

If the dashboard has a default date and time (see <u>Section 2.3.5, Default Date & Time Range</u>), it is applied for all viewlets within the dashboard. If the date and time is set for a viewlet, then it will take precedence over the dashboard's default date and time.

2.5.6 Refresh Viewlet

To refresh viewlets, click the **Refresh Viewlet** button. This process will check for new data.



Figure 2.5.6-A. Refresh Viewlet

2.5.7 Viewlet Menu

Click the menu icon we to open the viewlet menu. Functions are described below.

- **Edit Viewlet**: See section 2.5.7.1 below for more information.
- Save Viewlet: Allows you to save any changes to the viewlet.
- Save as Viewlet: Allows you to create and save a copy of the viewlet with a new name. The new viewlet can be found on the Open Viewlet dialog box (*Figure 2.5.1.4-A*) and added to any dashboard.
- Remove Viewlet: Allows you to remove the viewlet from the dashboard. A dialog box opens asking you to confirm the removal. The viewlet is not deleted and can be restored by opening the Main Menu and selecting Viewlet > Open (Open Existing Viewlet dialog box opens), select the viewlet, to be restored, and click Open.
- **Delete Viewlet**: Allows you to delete the viewlet. A dialog box opens asking you to confirm the deletion.
- Export to CSV or Export Viewlet: For table and scorecard viewlets, this option will be Export to CSV (to download data to a .csv file). For all other viewlet chart types, this option will be Export Viewlet (to download data to a .svg file). Please note that viewlets can also be exported in .json file format, see <u>Section 2.6.2.2, Export</u>, for more information.
- **Share Viewlet:** Viewlets can be shared on a web page or internet browser. See <u>Section 2.5.10, Share Viewlet</u>, for more information.

2.5.7.1 Editing a Viewlet

図りの単語のペイ KQL> get worst 10 event fields EventName, max(ElapsedTime) group by EventName show as barchart Edit Viewiet Save Viewlet AMQ7777E EventName Save As Viewlet WebLogStream Remove Viewlet Ö 500µs 1ms 1ms 500µs 2ms 2ms 500µs Delete Viewlet Max(ElapsedTime) Export Viewlet AMQ7777E 📒 WebLogStream Share Viewlet

Click the Viewlet Menu icon and select Edit Viewlet.

Figure 2.5.7.1-A. Edit Viewlet Menu

Options are different for each display type. All traits of a viewlet are displayed on the right side of the screen.



Figure 2.5.7.1-B. Edit Viewlet Form

After making changes, click **Preview** to view updates made before applying. To discard changes and cancel, click **Close**. Click **Apply** to apply the updates (updates will not be saved) or click on the downwards arrow on the right side of the **Apply** button to get the **Save** option to save the changes (this will save the modifications).

✓ Viewlet Type	ä
🗰 te da 🗎	• • ● M ● #
Visulat Satting	
Viewiet Setting	
> Schema	
> Drilldown	
Close	Apply • Preview
	Saivo

Figure 2.5.7.1-C. Form Options

2.5.8 Filtering and Display Options

Users can view more detailed data displayed within viewlets. Use the following methods to drill into viewlet data and customize how viewlets are displayed.

2.5.8.1 Filtering with Variables

Viewlets can easily be filtered using variables. While creating or editing a viewlet with a Form (see <u>Section 2.5.1.2, Create a Viewlet with a Form</u>, or <u>2.5.7.1, Editing a Viewlet</u>), click the plus button 1 within the **Filters** section to add a new filter.

Select a filter and the function from the drop-down menu and click the settings button to expand the filters toolbar. Select the **Variable** tab and click the pencil button. Please note, that not every filter will have this tab.

The *Create new variable* window opens. Type in a name for the variable and check off the **Auto suggestion** checkbox if it is not selected to get item suggestions to use as the filter criteria (this option is available only for items which have auto suggestion functionality). When the **Auto suggestion** is not available, the variable will need to be updated manually (no suggestions will be provided).

E)
NOTE

Multiple variables filters can be created by repeating the same steps described above, but their names must be unique.

estado el terretti a entra frecontra el terrettoria estado el terretto fonto frecontra el terrettoria	EVENT EVENT	O NOTES	100.0018 10.08.94.44	✓ Group by		0
with the strange in the last the second strange in the	event.	QMITER	NUCLEOIA NUCLEAR	≁ Tillen		
Create new Yarabia				Battive	- Center	
-	-			12740724041841227	en.151044	
Craste new Variatio		Dia Palating Variabia		anney.	- +694	
Non-		land		Main Mender F		
Auto suggestion** T+ When shecked, pop and receive restable suggestion	r.			🗸 Viewiet Type		
				🐨 - in 1	r 🖘 💿 i	e == ==
			Autory Derect	▲		
Contraction of the local data and the				Viewlat Setting	i i	
wheel of matterial and an and an and an and	20240	OATTICE	10/2/02/4, 10:357 AF	1 Sebara		
et ends et manifet brit 116-2216 brief brief bare	EVENT	@ NONCE	10/2/2018, 10/28/82 44	y activitie		
1e0-balli-citreexitie0-optic-11e6-8270-8 Reserve(cheer	RECEIVE	(O RAMER	10/2/2018, 10/28-90 AF	> Drilldown		
Include the address of the Attract Bookst	1000	(sohos	10/2/0018, 10/28 HO AF			
THE REAL PROPERTY OF THE REAL PROPERTY.	avere.	C. PAUDLE	The sector in the sector	Close	ALLAN	Perier

Figure 2.5.8.1-A. Modify Variables

Click the pencil button to edit the name of the variable filter. To remove a filter, click the minus button \square . The variable value label is placed between curly brackets { } (this is how variable expressions appear in jKQL queries). For example:

jKQL> Get Events where Severity = \${E:Severity:Event:Severity} show as table

Expression "\${E:Severity:Event:Severity}" can be manually replaced with a severity type
(for example, INFO):

jKQL> Get Events where Severity = 'INFO' show as table

✓ Filters					
StartTime = Equal -					
12/03/2019 14:44:55.311000 💾 📀 🚽					
Seventy = Equal =					
Value Vanable Eield					
\$(E Sevently Event Sevently)					
✓ Viewlet Type Image: Settinges					
> Schema > Drilldown					
Close Apply Preview					

Figure 2.5.8.1-B. Modify Variables

Click **Apply** or **Save** (click the **Apply** button's drop-down menu). The **Modify Variables** window opens. If multiple variable filters were added, they all will appear in this window. If the **Auto suggestion** checkbox was checked off while creating or editing the variable, the *Modify Variables* window will have a drop-down menu with suggestions provided, for example, the viewlet data can be filtered by severity type.



Figure 2.5.8.1-C. Modify Variables

Select the severity type from the suggested drop-down menu and click **Apply**. In the figures above and below, the **Fatal** severity type was selected. The jKQL query and the *Severity* viewlet were modified according to the selected variable.



Figure 2.5.8.1-D. Modify Variables

To modify variables, perform one of the following:

- Modify directly in a viewlet's jKQL query by entering a value between the curly brackets { }
- Modify within a viewlet's form
- Click the **Modify** button on the top right corner of the workspace to update all viewlets that use the same variable within the dashboard



Figure 2.5.8.1-E. Modify Variables

2.5.8.2 Viewlet Scroll Bars

Use the scroll bars within viewlets to view a specific time range and change the amount of data displayed. These scroll bars appear in column, bar, line, stack, area, and anomaly chart types. The scrolls at the top control the X axis of the chart and the scrolls to the right control the Y axis.



Figure 2.5.8.2-A. Viewlet Scrolling

2.5.8.3 Zoom In / Show All

Select data for a more detailed view. Using your mouse, draw a box around the area you would like to drill into.



Figure 2.5.8.3-A. Zoom In On a Specific Area

Only the area selected will display. This feature functions within the following chart types: column, bar, line, stack, area, topology, and anomaly.

Data Pointa - Eventa		Ø
ptaks get number of events for is	nest week group by starttime buckeled by hour show as linectian	◆ > 2 日 三 日 4
2,510		Q Shine at
1,000 11,000 2,000 11,000 1,000		
1,000		<u> </u>
Dirith Canal	89:00 StartTime	10:00

Figure 2.5.8.3-B. Zoomed In Area

To disregard scroll filters and drilling down, click **Show all** to show all data originally displayed.



Figure 2.5.8.3-C. Show All

2.5.8.4 Show / Hide Chart Elements

Within line chart viewlets, a unique line is included for each queue manager, queue combination. Click legend keys to turn a specific resource off and on. When off, the resource's line will be removed from the chart and its key in the legend will appear grey.



Figure 2.5.8.4-A. Disable Line Chart Lines

2.5.8.5 Viewlet Size

The size of viewlets can be changed using the ellipses symbols appearing on the sides of the viewlets.



Figure 2.5.8.5-A. Change Viewlet Size

The vertical ellipses appearing on the sides of viewlets allow users to:
- Increase/decrease viewlets by sliding the ellipses left or right. This will increase/decrease the size of all viewlets appearing within the same column.
- Expand viewlets appearing in the same column to fill the screen by clicking the ellipses. If there are viewlets appearing in the right column of the dashboard, these viewlets will be hidden until the ellipses is clicked again.

The horizontal ellipses appearing on the top/bottom of viewlets will increase/decrease the height of viewlets.

2.5.8.6 Show / Hide Viewlets

Click on the box immediately to the left of viewlet titles to collapse or expand viewlets. A viewlet's collapsed or expanded state will remain until changed (even between logins).



Figure 2.5.8.6-A. Show / Hide Viewlets

2.5.8.7 Tear Off

Notice that all viewlets have a **Tear Off** button located at the top right corner. Clicking the **Tear Off** button will open the viewlet in a new, larger window.

This feature is helpful in a datacenter where you may wish to display a viewlet or dashboard on a large monitor. For example, a large screen of summary viewlets can display a high-level environment status view.

An alternative use case might be for an administrator or developer with multiple screens. They can have the full dashboard on one screen and a specific viewlet they are configuring on the other.

2.5.9 Rename Viewlet

To rename a viewlet, double click the viewlet's name. The field becomes editable and will appear with a blue frame. Specify a new name and hit the **Enter** key on your keyboard to save changes.

- 160	Viewlert	e Properties('FileType	e') = 'Excel' and Prope	rties('UploadTime') = '201	19-05-23 10:25:31.42800) +03:00' and Tag = '6070	12e57-06o4-444c 🔊
	EventID	ParentiD	ActivityID	EventName	EventType	Severity	CompCode
10	f585d115-7d2b-11e9-97c5-00			ExcetStream	EVENT	O INFO	O SUCCESS
12	1571ce19-7d2b-11e9-97c5-0			ExcelSteern	EVENT	O INEQ	O SUCCESS

Figure 2.5.9-A. Rename Viewlet

2.5.10 Share Viewlet

Viewlets and their schemas can easily be shared as a URL or embedded on to a web page without requiring the viewer to login. The URLs are public, so there is no need for viewers to log in. This feature is useful for viewlets that need quick, frequent access; simply bookmark the URLs for easy access.

To share a viewlet, select **Share Viewlet** from the viewlet's menu (see <u>Section 2.5.7</u>). For this option to appear on the viewlet's menu, be sure to save the viewlet's dashboard. After selecting this option, the *Share Viewlet* window opens.



Figure 2.5.10-A. Share Viewlet Window

A preview of the viewlet displays on the left side of the menu. Click the **Refresh** icon **2** to refresh the viewlet if needed.

The code to embed the viewlet in a webpage appears in the *Embed Viewlet* section on the right side of the window. Copy this link manually or click **Copy to Clipboard**. Before copying, you can enter dimensions within the **Width** and **Height** fields to specify the size of the viewlet. To simply open the viewlet in an internet browser, copy the link appearing within the double quotation marks and paste into the browser's address bar.

The final step to enable this feature is to click **Share**. After **Share** is clicked, the **Shared Viewlet** icon will appear on the viewlet's toolbar and the viewlet will be viewable.

Nastel XRay User's Guide

Chapter 2: Using Nastel XRay



Figure 2.5.10-B. Shared Viewlet Icon

Click the **Shared Viewlet** icon to reopen the *Share Viewlet* window. You can copy the share code, update the viewlet's dimensions or stop sharing the viewlet (click **Stop Sharing**). The **Viewlet Shared** checkbox appears at the top right displaying the shared status.

If **Stop Sharing** is clicked and a user attempts to view the viewlet, the message, **Embedded** viewlet is not available, will appear.



Figure 2.5.10-C. Stop Sharing a Viewlet



Figure 2.5.10-D. Stop Sharing a Viewlet

2.5.11 Nastel AutoPilot Integration

Nastel AutoPilot can be used as an External Data Source (EDS), allowing it to be integrated with Nastel XRay. With this integration, users can perform Nastel AutoPilot functions directly in Nastel XRay. Users can query via a jKQL statement to view information about policies that are running on a CEP instance in Nastel AutoPilot. In addition, users can also invoke actions such as starting/stopping a policy and acknowledging/unacknowledging a sensor. See below for examples of how this integration is useful.

Query: jKQL> get policies fields all

This will return a list of all the policies and policy managers that they belong to. It shows all policies over all policy managers. This also will return all fields defined in the external data source, not just the default ones.

- Policies		
KOL> Get Policies Fields All		図じの重要のく
PolicyID	PolicyName	PolicyManagerName
OSAP6Node.pxml\$OS_Monitor_Polices	OSAP6Node.pxml	OS_Monitor_Polices
SYS_node_health.bsv\$IP-172-31-28-217.US-EAST-2.COMPUTE.INTERNAL_Facts	SYS_node_health.bsv	IP-172-31-28-217.US-EAST-2.COMPUTE.INTERNAL_Facts
SYS_node_health.bsv\$DOMAIN_SERVER_Facts	SYS_node_health.bsv	DOMAIN_SERVER_Facts
D5_AutoPilot_Licensing_Policy\$Domain_Manager	DS_AutoPilot_Licensing_Policy	Domain_Manager
DS_AutoPilot_Health_Policy\$Domain_Manager	DS_AutoPilot_Health_Policy	Domain_Marsager
	Page 1 of 1	View 1 - 5 of 5
	and the second s	

Figure 2.5.11-A. Get Policies Fields All

Query: jKQL> get policies fields all where policy_manager_name='Domain_Manager'

This will return a list of all the policies under the policy manager Domain_Manager. This would be the policies in AP EM under the policies folder under the Domain_Manager policy manager. Again, this returns all fields, not just the default ones.

KQL> Get Policies Fields All Where policy_mana	ger_name='Domain_Manager'	<u>></u> >Сщ≣З~
PolicyID	PolicyName	PolicyManagerName
DS_AutoPilot_Licensing_Policy\$Domain_Manager	DS_AutoPilot_Licensing_Policy	Domain_Manager
DS_AutoPilot_Health_Policy\$Domain_Manager	DS_AutoPilot_Health_Policy	Domain_Manager

Figure 2.5.11-B. Get Policies Fields All Where...

Query: jKQL> get policies of policymanager 'Domain_Manager' fields all This is equivalent to the previous query.

Query: jKQL> get fields for policies

This will give the list of fields that are associated with the "policy" item.

FieldName	DataType	SourceName	isCustom	isDefaultDateField	isDefaultField	isDerived	
PolicyID	STRING	m6	false	false	true	false	true
PolicyManagerName	STRING	m6	false	false	true	false	false
PolicyName	STRING	m6	false	falso	true	false	false

Figure 2.5.11-C. Get Fields for Policies

Query: jKQL> get sensors fields all where policy_name='SYS_node_health.bsv' and policy_manager_name=' DOMAIN_SERVER_Facts'

This will give a list of all sensors for policy SYS_node_health.bsv under the DOMAIN_SERVER_Facts policy manager. Omitting the policy manager name will give a list of the sensors under all policies with the name "SYS_node_health.bsv" regardless of the policy manager.

	SensortD	SensorName	SensorPath	Sensor Status	SensorValue	PolicyID	PolicyName 😅	PolicyM
	CEP.Server HeatticSYS_no	CEP Server Health	CEP. Server Health	BUNNING		SYS_node_beath.bsvSDOMS	YS_node_health.bay	DOMAIN_
D	CEP. Server Health/Server H	Server Health	CEP Server Heath/Server H	BUNNING		SYS_node_bealth.bsvSDOMS	YS_node_health.bxv	DOMAIN
0	CEP Server Health/Server H	Service Status and Recovery	CEP Server Health Server H	RUNNING		SYS_node_health bsv8DOMS	YS_node_health.bay	DOMAIN
	CEP Server Health/Server H	Service Restart and Recover	CEP Server Health-Server H	RUNNING		SYS_node_health bsvSDOM5	YS_node_health.bsv	DOMAIN
O	CEP Server Health/Server H	General Indicators	CEP Server Health/Server H	RUNNING		SYS_node_health baySDOMS	YS node health bsc	DOMAIN
\Box	CEP Server Health/Server H	Server Subscribtion Load	CEP Server Health/Server H	RUNNING	66	SYS_node_health baySDOMS	YS node health bay	DOMAIN
0	CEP Server Health/Server H	Total Running Sensors	CEP Server Health Server H	RUNNING	87	SYS_node_health.bevSDOMS	YS_node_health.ber	DOMAIN
\Box	CEP.Server Health/Server H	Memory Utilization %	CEP.Server Health/Server H	BUNNING	5.39	SYS_node_beath bay&DOM S	YS_node_health.bsy	DOMAIN_
O	CEP. Server Health/Server H	Utilization	CEP Server Health Server H	BUNNING		SYS_node_bealth.bsv&DOMS	YS_node_health.bxv	DOMAIN_
0	CEP Server Health/Server H	Timeout Count	CEP Server Health Server H	RUNNING	0	SY5_node_health bsySDOM 5	VS_node_health.bsv	DOMAIN_
171	PED Samar Hastin Samar H	Dask Gassinan Time Imel	PFD Conver Hashin Conver H	DUNKING	kik.	SVE node hasth hertfolket	WS and a health here	PURALAN *

Figure 2.5.11-D. Get Sensors Fields All Where...

Query: jKQL> get sensors fields all where policy manager name='LOCALHOST.LOCALDOMAIN Facts'

This will give all sensors for all policies under a given policy manager. Note that each sensor has a unique path (for example, PolicyManager\Policy\Sensor1\Sensor2\Sensor3) and so this would be the unique identifier for a sensor.

(KCa)	Get Sensors Fields All Wi	ere Policy_manager_name=1	LOCALHOSTLOCALDOMA	N_Facts'			∑ີ ລີ	底頭いく
	SensoriD	SensorName	SensorPath	Sensor Status	SensorValue ;	PolicyID	PolicyName	PolicyMa
	CEP Server Health/Server H	Service Job_Scheduler	CEP Server Health/Server h	RUNNING	atopped	SYS_node_health.tmdsLOC/S	Y5_node_health.lssv	LOCALHK *
	CEP Server Health/Server H	Paak Resource Time.(m)	CEP Server Health/Server H	RUNNING	122	SYS_node_health.bavSLOC/S	Y5_node_beath.tay	LOCALHS
0	CEP Server Health/Server H	Rula Engine CPU Idle %	CEP Server Health/Server H	RUNNING	99.96	SYS_node_health.bay\$LOC/S	YS_node_health.bay	LOCALH
C	CEP Server Health Performa	Effective Processing Rate/se	CEP Server Health/Perform	RUNNING	76	SYS_node_health bsv&LOC/S	YS_node_health.trey	LOCALH
	CEP Server Health/Performa	Manager Processing Volume	CEP Server Health/Perform	RUNNING	55	SYS_node_health.bsvSLOC/S	YS node health.boy	LOCALHS
	CEP. Server Health/Performa	ManagerLOCALHOSTLOC	CEP Server Health/Perform	BUNNING	55.	SYS_node_health.trav\$LOC/S	YS node health bey	LOCALH
0	CEP. Server Health Server H	Server Subscribtion Loved	CEP Server Health/Server H	BUNNING	52	SYS_node_health bav\$LOC/S	YS node health boy	LOCALH
(1)	CEP Server Health/Server H	Memory Utilization %	CEP.Server Health/Server.5	RUNNING	50.02	SYS_nude_health.trev\$LOCi5	Y5_node_health.box	LOCALHS
0	CEP Server Health/Server H	Total Running Sensora	CEP Server Health/Server H	RUNNING	49	SYS_mode_health.travSLOC(S	Y5_node_health.bay	LOCALHS
0	CEP Server Health/Server H	Eact Storage Utilization %	CEP Server Health/Server H	RUNNING	42.09	SYS_node_health.tex\$LOC/S	YS_node_health bey	LOCALHS
0	PFD Carcar Haath/Darfrons	Prevent Drite Data/ear	PED Carrier Haeth/Darfrom	DI MINIMUS	28.1	EVC and a health have DOVE	VS note health her	I CIPALINE
				Page	t diti ⊷	*		View 1 - 45 of 48

Figure 2.5.11-E. get sensors fields all where policy_manager_name='LOCALHOST.LOCALDOMAIN_Facts'

Another way to get sensors would be to issue a statement like:

Query: jKQL> Get sensors of policy 'SYS node health.bsv'

This is equivalent to a statement like "get sensors where policy_name='SYS_node_health.bsv'" but provides a sort of "short hand". These are consistent with the jKQL query language.

```
Query: jKQL> invoke AcknowledgeSensor using
(PolicyManagerName='MyPolicies', PolicyName='Tester1',
SensorPath='Untitled/Sense1')
```

This will acknowledge a sensor called Sense1 in the Tester1 policy. Similarly using the verb UnacknowledgeSensor will cause the Sesne1 sensor to clear the ack flag.

Query: jKQL> invoke StopPolicy using
(PolicyManagerName='MyPolicies', PolicyName='Tester1')

This will stop the policy named Tester1. Similarly using the verb StartPolicy will start the Tester1 policy under the MyPolicies policy manager.

You can also get sensor facts by issuing statements like:

Query: jKQL> get sensor_fact where sensorid='CEP Server Health/Server Health/Utilization/Timeout Count\$SYS_node_health.bsv\$PC_152_Facts'

This will return the facts of the Timeout Count sensor that is part of the SYS_node_health.bsv policy. It will also return a predetermined set of properties that are associated with this fact (things like 'last-changed','max','min').

2.6 Import / Export

Go to **Main Menu** > **Import / Export** for the following import and export options:

- Data (<u>Section 2.6.1</u>)
- Viewlets (<u>Section 2.6.2</u>)
- Dashboard (<u>Section 2.6.3</u>)
- Sets (<u>Section 2.6.4</u>)

2.6.1 Data

To view all data previously imported, go to **Main Menu** > **Import / Export** > **Data**. The *Manage Imported Data* dialog box opens which lists all data files that have been imported into the system. Perform the following to select a file and generate a dashboard to view the imported data. Please note that only data imported into the selected repository will be displayed in this import list.

Mana	ge Imported Data			
Search	i here		Q.	
Select	Imports to review			
	Source file	File type	Import time	Data Expiration Time
9	XXX XİSX	Excelimport	2019-05-23 10:25:38 570000 +03:00	P.
8	xxx.xdsx	Excelimport	2019-05-23 10:26:46:382000 +03:00	-
C	ancel			Delete Open

Figure 2.6.1-A. Manage Imported Data

2.6.1.1 Open

- 1. Select a file from the list of imported files and click **Open** to start the Wizard. The Wizard will alter the data, import it into a dashboard and create new viewlets.
- 2. New viewlets are automatically created. By default, all viewlets are selected. Deselect the viewlets you do not want to add to your dashboard. Click **Next**.

elect viewlets for instant data research	
Event Seventy	Comparison of Longest Events
Event Scorecard	The 10 Worst Events

Figure 2.6.1.1-A. Default Viewlets Created

3. Select an existing dashboard or create a new one by giving your dashboard a name and selecting the number of columns in the layout. Click **Finish** to publish your viewlets in the new or existing dashboard.

	EXCEL importer stages VEWLETS PUBLISH		
Select existing dashboard	ADD TO DASHBOARD Select deshboard: Deact.	CREATE NEW DASHBOARD Deshboerd name: My New Dashboard Page layout: Page layout: One column One column Two columns Three columns	Or create new dashboard
	Cancel	+- Back Finish	Click Finish

Figure 2.6.1.1-B. Publish Viewlets to a Dashboard

2.6.1.2 Delete Imported Data

To delete imported data, simply select all desired files and click the **Delete** button. The files and their data will be deleted.

earch here			a.		
ect Ir	mports to review				
	Source file	File type	Import time	Data Expiration Time	
3	xxx xisx	Excellmport	2019-05-23 10:25:38:570000 +03:00	7 2	
•	xxx.xlsx	Excellmport	2019-05-23 10:26:46.382000 +03:00		

Figure 2.6.1.2-A. Delete Imported Data

2.6.2 Viewlets

To import or export viewlets, go to **Main Menu** > **Import / Export** > **Viewlets**. The *Import/Export Viewlets* dialog box opens. The file format used is .json or .csv.



Viewlets can also be exported in .svg or .csv format. See <u>Section 2.5.7, Viewlet Menu</u>, for more information.

2.6.2.1 Import

Perform the following to import a viewlet:

1. On the *Import / Export Viewlets* dialog box, go to the **Import** tab.

Import	Export
angeore.	Capat
Override:	
No file chosen	Chrose File
And an entremants	Contraction of Contract
OR DRAG YOUR FIL	E HERE
OR DRAG YOUR FIL	EHERE
OR DRAG YOUR FIL	EHERE
 OR DRAG YOUR FIL	E HERE

Figure 2.6.2.1-A. Import / Export Viewlets – Import Tab

- Check off the **Override** checkbox to replace an existing viewlet. A viewlet with the same ID will be overwritten. Please note, IDs are generated automatically. The **Override** option is useful when exporting viewlets and importing them back into the same repository (for example, to restore previous viewlets).
- 3. Click **Choose File** to select the .json or .csv file.
- 4. Click **Import**. The viewlet is added to the *Open Viewlet* dialog box (*Figure 2.5.1.4-A*) and can be added to any dashboard.

2.6.2.2 Export

Perform the following to export a viewlet:

1. On the *Import / Export Viewlets* dialog box, go to the **Export** tab.

	Import	Export	
		Search by name	
8	Name		
0.	Viewlet 1		
в)	All Events		
а.	Events by the Hour		
ð.	Events by Name and Seventy		
۵.	Anomaly Monitor		
0	Events Severity		
0	Events Scorecard		
	Activities Count		
0	Events Count		
8	Snapshots Count		
3	Dataset Count		

Figure 2.6.2.2-A. Import / Export Viewlets – Export Tab

- 2. Select the viewlets you would like to export or check the **Select All** option.
- 3. Click **Export**. The viewlets are downloaded in .json file format.

2.6.3 Dashboard

To import and export dashboards, go to **Main Menu** > **Import / Export** > **Dashboards**. The *Import / Export Dashboards* dialog box opens. The file format used is .json.

2.6.3.1 Import

Users can import a dashboard with a .json file. To import the file, confirm you are on the **Import** tab (the tab will be blue). Click **Choose File** to specify the import file.

Check off the **Override** checkbox to replace an existing dashboard. A dashboard with the same ID will be overwritten. Please note, IDs are generated automatically. The **Override**

option is useful when exporting dashboards and importing them back into the same repository (for example, to restore previous dashboards).

Click **Import** to start the import process. Once the import is finished, a confirmation message will appear.

Import	Export
Overno No file chosen OR DRAG YOU	UR FILE HERE

Figure 2.6.3.1-A. Import Dashboards

2.6.3.2 Export

The dashboards can be exported to a .json file. To export a dashboard, go to the **Export** tab of the *Import / Export Dashboards* dialog box. A list of your saved dashboards will display. Select all desired dashboards or check off **Select All**. Click **Export** and the file, **ExportDashBoards.json**, will download.

Dash	Dashboards			
_				
	Import	Export		
		Search by name		
	Name			
	Anomalies			
	Orders			
	Transactions			
_				
0	tancel	Export		

Figure 2.6.3.2-A. Export Dashboards

2.6.4 Sets

To import and/or export sets, go to **Main Menu** > **Import / Export** > **Sets**. The *Sets* dialog box opens. The file format used is .csv. For more information on sets, please see <u>Section</u> <u>3.1.2, Sets</u>.

2.6.4.1 Import

To import sets, go to the **Import** tab of the *Sets* dialog box. Click **Choose File** to specify the import file or drag and drop your file.

Check off the **Override** checkbox to replace an existing set. A set with the same ID will be overwritten. Please note, IDs are generated automatically. The **Override** option is useful when exporting sets and importing them back into the same repository (for example, to restore previous sets).

Sets		
	Import	篇xport
	Override:	Chooser File HERE
Cancel		Import

Figure 2.6.4.1-A. Import Sets

To change the file, click the **Change** button or drag a new file. Click **Import** to start the import process. Once the import is finished, a confirmation message will appear.



Figure 2.6.4.1-B. Import Sets – Confirmation

2.6.4.2 Export

Go to the **Export** tab of the *Sets* dialog box to export a set. A list of existing sets (imported or created) will appear. Select all desired sets or check the **Select All** check box immediately to the left of the **Name** header. Click **Export** to download the files.

	Import	Export	
		Swarch by name	
3	Name		
Ŕ.	Place Order		
2	Ship Product		
	test		

Figure 2.6.4.2-A. Export Sets

Chapter 3: Settings

3.1 Admin Settings

When **Admin Settings** is selected on the **Main Menu**, the *Admin Settings* window opens. See sections 3.1.1 – 3.1.9 below for an explanation of the administrative options available.



Figure 3.1-A. Admin Settings Menu



Only administrative users with repository permissions will have this option.

3.1.1 Branding

Select **Branding** from the side menu of *Admin Settings* (*Figure 3.1.1-A*) to display its sub-menu. This menu allows users to configure the branding of their main page. A description of each menu option is described below in sections 3.1.1.1 – 3.1.1.5.

Branding Y			Default organization
Logos			
Login Page	Favicon (14x14)	6	Choose File
Landing Page	1		
Index Page	Login logo	MASIEL	Choose File
Logout Page	(Z54X70)	XRay	
Sote	-		
3613	App logo	NASTEL	Choose File
Permissions	(181x50)	Лау	
Alerts	App logo	L I	
Schemas	link url	https://www.nastei.com/xray/	
/iewlet			
Graph			
Set Collectors			

Figure 3.1.1-A. Branding Sub-Menu

If a user belongs to or is an owner of multiple organizations, the **Organization** drop-down is displayed on the top right corner of the window as in *Figure 3.1.1-A* above. Use this menu to switch between organizations and make updates for each organization.

On each Branding page, there is the option at the top right of the screen, **Default organization**. Use this option if you would like to use your organization's default branding instead of customized organization configurations. In the example below, Nastel is the organization.

Admin Set	tings		
Branding	~		C Default organization
Logos			
Login Page		Favicon	Choose File

Figure 3.1.1-B. Branding – Organization

3.1.1.1 Logos

Select **Logos** from the **Branding** sub-menu to change the logos appearing on the main application window. Color images are subject to a maximum bit depth of 24.

Admin Settings			
Branding Y			Default organization
Logos			
Login Page	Favicon (14x14)	9	Choose File
Landing Page		- NIACTEI	
Index Page	Login logo (254x70)	MASIEL.	Choose File
Logout Page			
Sets			
Permissions	App logo (181x50)	XRay	Choose File
Alerts	App logo	https://www.nastel.com/xray/	7
Schemas	IIIK UII		
Viewlet			
Graph			
Get Collectors	-		
Features	Cancel		Save changes
			4

Figure 3.1.1.1-A. Branding – Logos

3.1.1.2 Login Page

Select Login Page from the Branding sub-menu to configure the login page settings.

			Default organization
Logos Login Page	Organization's login urf	http://172.16.6.204.80803KentlyKooPkgin.pp	
Landing Page	Registration text 🖃	Not registered for jKool yet?	(227)
Index Page	Registration uni	Mtps://www.jkoolcloud.com/signup/signup/freetnal/	Ľ
Sets	Terms of service un	https://www.jkooicloud.com/company/lenns-conditions/	ß
Organization	Privacy url	https://www.jkoolcloud.com/company/privacy-policy/	ß
AJerta	Copyright	Copyright 2019 jKool, LLC All Rights Reserved.	(208)
Viewlet	Forgot password url	https://www.jkoolcloud.com/signup/login?sendpass_	Z
Graph			
Features			

Figure 3.1.1.2-A. Branding – Login Page

3.1.1.3 Landing Page

Select **Landing Page** from the **Branding** sub-menu to specify the text of the landing pages (*Figure 3.1.1.3-A*). The character limit is displayed immediately to the right of each field.

Admin Settings			
Branding ~			R Default organization
Logos Login Page	Landing page text 1	IT Operational Analytics Made Simple	(184)
Landing Page	Landing page text 2	Where do you want to start?	(173)
Index Page			
Logout Page			
Organization			
Alerts			
Viewlet			
Graph			
Features			

Figure 3.1.1.3-A. Branding – Landing Page

3.1.1.4 Index Page

Select **Index Page** from the **Branding** sub-menu to add the contact email, and specify URLs for feedback, collectors, and check/upgrade license pages. The **Query prompt text** field allows administrators to customize the "jKQL>" field label in viewlets (this is the orange field label that appears immediately to the left of a viewlet's query).

Admin Settings			
Branding Y			P Default organization
Logos			
Login Page	Questions email	info@jKoolCloud.com	
Landing Page	Help url	https://www.nastel.com/	ď
Index Page	Leave Feedback	https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/9GCK7C3	ď
Logout Page	Collectors url	https://www.jkoolcloud.com/product/technology/#Collectors	ľ
Sets			
Organization	Query prompt text	ikar	(4)
Alerts			
Viewlet			
Graph			
Features			
	Cancel		Save changes

Figure 3.1.1.4-A. Branding – Index Page

3.1.1.5 Logout Page

Select **Logout Page** from the **Branding** sub-menu to specify the logout message text. The character limit appears immediately to the right of the **Logout message text** field.

Admin Setti	ngs		
Branding	٠		Default organization
Logos Login Page Landing Page		Logout message text	(256)
Index Page Logout Page Sets			
Organization			
Viewlet			
Graph			
Features		Cancel	Save changes

Figure 3.1.1.5-A. Branding – Logout Page

3.1.2 Sets

Select **Sets** from the side menu of *Admin Settings* (*Figure 3.1.2-A*). On this window, users can create, edit, or delete sets (see sections 3.1.2.1 – 3.1.2.3 below for more information).

Sets are configurations used to group repository data. The system uses sets to determine how data is displayed in event and activity viewlets. Sets can be created manually or imported with a .csv file (see <u>Section 2.6.4</u>).

Admin Settings	
Branding	Select what you want to do with a set
Sets	
Organization	Crowin Edit Dukika
Alerts	
Viewlet	
Graph	
Pestures	
	Cancel Save changes

Figure 3.1.2-A. Admin Settings – Set Actions

3.1.2.1 Create Set

Click the **Create** button on the *Sets* window (*Figure 3.1.2-A*) to create a new set. The *Create a group* wizard appears.

Create a group		
STAGES		
Choose use case		
 Create a group of new data and check if each item completed in time and check if each item completed successfully and check if each item completed on-time and check if a data flow completed and check if a data flow completed in expected order 	Group based on Application Server Activity Event	
Cancel Advanced		Next

Figure 3.1.2.1-A. Admin Settings – Sets – Create a Group

Select an option on the left side of the window to specify how the data should be grouped.

On the right side of the screen, select the type of data the group will be based on. More than one option can be selected, but please note that both **Activity** and **Event** cannot be selected at the same time.

Click Next.

Create a group	
STAGES	a 1444
Choose use case	
 Create a group of new data and check if each item completed in time and check if each item completed successfully and check if each item completed on-time and check if a data flow completed and check if a data flow completed in expected order 	Group based on Application Server Activity Event
Cancel (Advanced	Next-+

Figure 3.1.2.1-B. Admin Settings – Sets – Create a Group

Advanced settings are specified on the next screen. Specify the following:

- a) **Name**: Enter a name for the set. It must be at least 3 characters long (required).
- b) **Scope**: Select either **Singular** or **Related** from the drop-down menu.
- c) **Criteria**: Enter a criteria value.
- d) Set Sequence: Enter the set sequence. These should be quoted values separated by commas. For example, if **Related** was selected for **Scope**, 'set1:set2','set2:set3' means set1 is first, set2 is next and set3 is last.
- e) **Objectives**: Add objectives in this section. On the right side of the screen, click the blue add icon +. Enter the objective name and value, for example, ElapsedTime > 1 minute. To remove an objective, click the blue minus icon.

Click **Finish**.

(arra)	Group					
Interia	tag="10d2cat-551b	4100-b39e-8b503bdd	4cct)/			
let Sequence	'set1 set2', set2 set	well set2 wet2 set3				
bjectives:						
iame	ElapsedTime	Objective	Elapsedtime > 1 minute			
ALLER.	Elapsed time	Objective	Clapsedume > 1 minute			

Figure 3.1.2.1-C. Admin Settings – Sets – Create a Group – Advanced

Within the **Console** section the details of your new set will display.

-	of Balance account							
100	get set where scope	r - Tinlated order by up	daietime desc					図しているのであ
-	SetMann	SulScope	Cileria	Objectives	Setlegueses	Update Time	Clations .	
10	# Gram	BELATER	werite Grant State (14).	20 Experime Experie	The Site: Stee 2 he in	202015.32.07.56.054		

Figure 3.1.2.1-D. New Set

3.1.2.2 Edit Set

Click the **Edit** button on the *Sets* window (*Figure 3.1.2-A*) to edit an existing set. The *Edit a Set* window opens. Select a set from the list and click **Edit**.

Edita	a Set				
Searc	h here		۵,		
Select	t a Set to edit				
	Name	Scope	Criteria	Objectives	
	ImportTest10Records	Related	tag='14bd2caf-551b-41d0-b39e- 6b503bdd4ccb/		
0	(Kool) Geomap	Related	tag='d9a71766-ddd9-445c-94df- ee0494853ce6'		
c	ancel				Eat

Figure 3.1.2.2-A. Admin Settings – Sets – Edit a Set

On the *Edit a group* window update all desired fields. Please note that the name of a set cannot be updated.

Click **Save** when finished.

ill advanced set	settings			
Vame	Import/Test10Reco	rds		
Scope	Related	٠		
Criteria:	tag='1fbd2caf-651	b-41d0-b39e-8b503	bdd4ccb'	
Set Sequence	set1 set2', set2 se	13		
Objectives:				+
Varne:	ElapsedTime	Objecti	Elapsedtime > 1 minute	

Figure 3.1.2.2-B. Admin Settings – Sets – Edit a Group

3.1.2.3 Delete Set

Click the **Delete** button on the *Sets* window (*Figure 3.1.2-A*) to delete a set. The next window will display all existing sets.

Use the **Search here** field at the top of the window to quickly search for sets by name. Select the sets to remove from the system and click **Delete**.

re s to delete		Q.	
s to delete			
Name	Scope	Criteria	Objectives
oup	Related	tag="1fbd2caf-551b-41d0-b39e- 8b503bdd4ccb'	ElapsedTime: Elapsedtime > 1 minute
	oup	roup Related	roup Related tag="1fbd2caf-551b-41d0-b39e- 8b503bd44ccb"

Figure 3.1.2.3-A. Admin Settings – Sets – Delete Sets

The following dialog box will appear after the sets are successfully deleted.

Confirmation
Chosen sets were deleted successfully
ОК

Figure 3.1.2.3-B. Admin Settings – Sets – Delete Sets – Confirmation Dialog Box

3.1.3 Organization

Select **Organization** from the side menu of *Admin Settings* (*Figure 3.1-A*) to open the *Organization Manager* window. An explanation of each side menu option on the *Organization Manager* window is explained in sections 3.1.3.1 – 3.1.3.6 below.

Create New Users	Manage Organization				
Organization	Organization: Kool Address:				
Users	Owner: KoolAdmin Email:				
Teams	Company: Uriz				
Repositories	User Name			Role	
Reflectes	Admin			O Admin ID Unin	i i
roncies	Andrius		O Admin D. Uhier		
	Arturas		O Admin B Uner		
	Emestas			O Admin D Unier	
	Repositories		State		
	1-mobileDasht	ooard		O Active Disaction	
	DefaultRepo			O Active El Inachre	
	Sample-DevO	25		O Active 9 hadhi	
	Sample-EUM			O Active	

Figure 3.1.3-A. Organization Manager

3.1.3.1 Create New Users

Select **Create New Users** from the *Organization Manager* (*Figure 3.1.3-A*) side menu to add new users. The following window will appear.

If you do not have an unlimited user account, on the top right corner a message will appear with information on your user quota limit and a link with more information.

Select the *Create user manually* radio button and click **Next**.

Organization Mana	ger				Users quota is limited	click here to learn more
Create New Users	STAGES					
Organization	Choose use o	:350	USER Nº G	USEN TEAMS	ne ricir	
Teams	Create user m	anually				
Repositories						
Policies						
						Next

Figure 3.1.3.1-A. Organization Manager - Create New Users

Fill in required fields (required fields have a red asterisk). If you would like jKQL query lines within viewlets not visible to the user, check off **Suppress jKQL interface**. The red alert icon • in the **Password** and **Confirm Password** fields will disappear after having typed the same password in both fields. Click **Next**.

Organization Man	ager		Users quota is limited, click here to learn more
Create New Users		— ———————————————————————————————————	
Organization	U	SE CASE USER INFO USER TEAMS	s REVIEW
Users	Enter user data		
Teams	User Name: *	User Name	
	First Name: "	First Name	
Repositories	Last Name: "	Last Name	
Policies	Telephone Number:	Telephone Number	
	Company:	Company	
	Email: *	Email	
	Location:	Location	
	Password: "	Password	
	Confirm Password: "	Confirm Password	
	Suppress JKQL interfac	.e 191	
	Cancel		Dark

Figure 3.1.3.1-B. Organization Manager - Create New Users

On the next screen, the user can be added to teams (multiple teams can be selected for a user). For each team that you add a user to, select the appropriate access role – **Admin** or **User**. Click **Next**. Please see <u>Section 3.1.3.4</u> for information on how to create teams.

Integration USE CASE USER INFO USER TEAMS REVIEW Choose teams for user to be a member Search teams by name Peositories Team Name Team Name Choose teams for user to be a member Search teams by name Access Role Choose teams for user to be a member Choo		S1	rages	-0-
isers Search teams for user to be a member eams Search teams by name epositories DefaultTeam ollcies ThisisMyTeam iteam 1 Otget itest Otget	Organization		USE CASE USER INFO USER TEAMS	REVIEW
Search teams by name spositories Team Name Access Role IDefaultTeam Image: Comparison Image: Comparison IDefaultTeam Image: Comparison Image: Comparison Image: Comparison Image: Comparison Image: Comparison	Isers	Ch	noose teams for user to be a member	
earns Team Name Access Role ie DefaultTeam ie Control i				Search teams by name
DefaultTeam O Main olicies Image: State of the state	eams		Team Name	Access Role
Indicises Image: Constraint of the c	lepositories	i i	DefaultTeam	C Aller
Image: second	olicies		ThisisMyTeam	O Admin 9 Uset
test 0 User			leam1	B.Amm O User
E test O liter		0	temp	- Acres O List
		163	lest	Di Altani O User
			tanda .	Contractor

Figure 3.1.3.1-C. Organization Manager - Create New Users

Review the user's information. If updates are needed click the **Back** button. If all information is correct, click **Finish** to create the user.

Organization Man	nager	
Create New Users	STAGES USE CASE USER INFO USER TEAMS REVIEW	
Users	Review	
Teams	New user: User Assigned teams:	
Policies	Team Name	
	ThisIsMyTeam	*
	Cancel	Finish

Figure 3.1.3.1-D. Organization Manager - Create New Users

3.1.3.2 Organization

Select **Organization** from the *Organization Manager* (*Figure 3.1.3.2-A*) side menu to update user organization roles (**Admin** or **User**) and the states of the organization repositories (**Active** or **Inactive**).

E,
NOTE

If your license permits, you can add/update users to organizations on the following screen. If running on premise, external security is used where the users are defined externally and come from AutoPilot although the teams and other options are still configured there (teams cannot be created).

Create New Users	Manage Organ	ization			
Organization	Organization:	jKool	Address:		
Users	Owner:	jKoolAdmin	Email:		
Teams	Company:		Url:		
Repositories	User Name			Role	
Dellala	Admin			O Admin B User	1
Policies	Andrius			O Admin User	
	Arturas			Advinin O User	
	Ernestas			O Admin D Unar	
	Repositories			State	
	1-mobileDashi	poard		O Active 9 Inactive	i
	DefaultRepo			Adive Inactive	
	Sample-DevO	ps		Active O Inactive	
	Sample-EUM			O Active S Inactive	

Figure 3.1.3.2-A. Organization Manager – Organization

3.1.3.3 Users

Select **Users** from the *Organization Manager* (*Figure 3.1.3.3-A*) side menu to view all system users. On this window you can edit, create, delete, or change a user's role. The field on the bottom right of the window displays the number of existing users and the maximum number of potential users.

To edit a user's settings, simply select the user and click **Edit** (see <u>Section 3.1.3.3.1</u>).

To delete a user, click the garbage can icon <a>

 Users with Owner or Admin roles cannot be deleted.

To create a new user, click the **Create** button (see <u>Section 3.1.3.3.2</u>). The number of existing users and the total number of possible users are displayed on the bottom right corner of the window. On the top right corner of the window there is a note about user amount limitation and a link for more information.

Create New Users	View Users			Search users t	v name		
Organization	User Name	Role	Teams	Create Time	Update Time		
Users	test	O Admin D Diat	test	2019-05-07 23:47:10 +03:00	2019-05-07 23:47:10 +03:00		•
Repositories	Arturas	O Admin B Miner	ThisIsMyTeam	2019-05-07 23-47-09 +03:00	2019-06-12 10:05:06 +03:00		
Policies	Evaldas	O Admin E Ullin	DefaultTeam	2019-05-07 23-47-08 +03:00	2019-06-11 09-46-33 +03:00		1
	Ernestas	O Admin E User		2019-05-07 23:47:09 +03:00	2019-06-06 17:18:58 +03:00		
	Testas	Admini O User		2019-05-14 11:34:57 +03:00	2019-05-14 11:34:57 +03:00		ľ
	arbata	· Admin O User		2019-05-24 14:01:21 +03:00	2019-05-30 13 17 05 +03 00		
				2019,05,07	2019,0E.07		
	East	Create			Users: 20	Unlim	ited

Figure 3.1.3.3-A. Organization Manager – Users

3.1.3.3.1 3.1.3.3.1 Edit User

After selecting a user and clicking **Edit**, the below window appears. On the **Edit User** tab, user details can be updated. Fields with an asterisk are required.

Checking the **Suppress jKQL interface for this user** option will hide the jKQL queries within viewlets for this user. The user of this type will access only a **Viewlet Form** button to add a new viewlet (*Figure 2.5.1-B*) and will not have the option to create viewlets with jKQL or open existing viewlets.

Clicking **Reset two-factor authentication** will reset 2FA for the user (see <u>Section 3.2.1.2</u>, <u>Reset</u>, for more information).

Organization				
Usera	User Name: *	(KociAdmin		
leams	Last Name: *	Last Name		
Repositories	Telephone Number: Company:	Company		
PORORS	Email: * Location:	Email		
	Suppress JKQL interfact	e D		
	Reset two-factor as	athentication	Save	

After all updates have been made, click **Save**.

Figure 3.1.3.3.1-A. Organization Manager – Users – Edit User

The teams the user is a member of are displayed on the **Manage User Teams** tab. To remove a user from a team, simply click the red **X** within the **Delete** column.

reate New Users	Edit User	Manage	User Teams
rganization	Name: Andrius	Role: admin	
sers	- Harris Parkan	logical solution	
'eams	Teams	Search teams by	name Add
tepositories	Team Name		Delete
olicine	aed		×
oncies	flx_team	×	
	team1	×	
	temp	×	
	test		×
	Strangers		×
	DefaultTeam		×

Figure 3.1.3.3.1-B. Organization Manager – Users – Manage User Teams

To add the user to additional teams, click the **Add** button. On the *Add User to Teams* screen, select all desired teams and click the **Add** button. Select if they should have an **Admin** or **User** role.

Create New Users	Add I	User to Teams	Search teams by name
Organization		Team Name	
Users		Strangers1	
Teams	æ	ThisisMyTeam	
remits.		testTeam	
Policies			

Figure 3.1.3.3.1-C. Organization Manager – Users – Manage User Teams – Add User to Teams

3.1.3.3.2 3.1.3.3.2 Create User

After selecting **Users** from the *Organization Manager* side menu, click the **Create** button to add a new user to the system. The same window described in <u>Section 3.1.3.1, Create New</u> <u>Users</u>, will display. This is a quick method to create a user. Additional user options will not be available from this screen; after the user is created, click the **Edit** button to fully customize the new user's permissions.

Create New Users	Create a new User	
Organization	User Name: *	User Name
Users	First Name: *	First Name
Teams	Last Name: *	Last Name
	Telephone Number:	Telephone Number
Repositories	Company:	Company
Policies	Email: *	Email
	Location:	Location
	Password: *	Password
	Confirm Password: *	Confirm Password
	Suppress JKQL interface	8
	for this user	
		Create

Figure 3.1.3.3.2-A. Organization Manager – Users

3.1.3.4 Teams

Select **Teams** from the *Organization Manager* (*Figure 3.1.3.4-A*) side menu to create and maintain teams. All teams and their members will be listed, as well as the date/time of creation and the last update.

The bottom right corner of the window will display total number of current teams out of your maximum team limit. If you have reached your team limit, this field will appear in red, and you will not be able to create new teams. A message will appear on the top right corner of the window with a link for more information.

To edit a team, select the team and click **Edit**. See <u>Section 3.1.3.4.1, Edit Team</u>, below for more information.

To add a team, click the **Create** button. See <u>Section 3.1.3.4.2, Create Team</u>, below for more information.

Create New Users	Manage Teams Search teams by name						
Organization	Team Name	Members	Create Time	Update Time			
Users	Strangers1	jKoolAdmin	2019-11-04 12:12:49 +02:00	2019-11-08 16:12: +02:00	46		
Teams	ThisIsMyTeam	Arturas	2019-05-13 10:25:14 +03:00	2019-11-08 16:12: +02:00	46		
Repositories	asd	Andrius	2019-07-22 10:21:44 +03:00	2019-11-08 16:12: +02:00	46		
Policies	fix_team	Andrius	2019-07-12 11:13:40 +03:00	2019-11-08 16:12: +02:00	46		
	team1	Andrius; test	2019-05-24 14:04:25 +03:00	2019-11-08 16:12: +02:00	46		
	temp	Andrius; lapelis	2019-05-29 11:32:52 +03:00	2019-11-08 16:12: +02:00	46		
	test	Andrius; arbata; test	2019-05-24 11:18:36 +03:00	2019-11-08 16:12: +02:00	46		
	testTeam	Arturas; Saulius; deleteThis10	2019-07-12 12:40:00 +03:00	2019-11-08 16:12: +02:00	46		
	·····	(2019-11-04 12:15:00	2019-11-08 16:12:	46 -		
	Edit Creat	n - 1		10/0	Jolimited		

Figure 3.1.3.4-A. Organization Manager – Teams

3.1.3.4.1 3.1.3.4.1 Edit Team

To edit a team, select it and click **Edit** on the *Manage Teams* window (*Figure 3.1.3.4.1-A*). The below window displays. On the **Manage Team Repositories** tab, the team's repositories will display. On this tab you can:

- Remove a repository from a team: simply click the red **X** button within the **Delete** column.
- Add a repository to a team: click the **Add** button. All available repositories in your system will display (*Figure 3.1.3.4.1-B*). Select all desired repositories you would like to add to the team and specify the **Access Role** either **Admin** or **User**. Click **Add**.

	Manage Team Repositories	Manage Tean	n Members
Organization Jsers	Name: ThiulsMyTeom	Owner: Arturas	
Veams	Repositories	Search repositories by n	ame Add
Repositories	Repository Name	Team role	Delete
Policies	1-mobileDashboard	O User	×
oncies	Sample-Middleware	D Armini O User	×
	Sample-OrderTracking_Kool	Amm O User	×
	repo_Arturas	C Admin O User	×
	test	C Admin O User	×

Organization Man	ager			
Create New Users	Team: ThisisMyTeam Add access to these Repositories:		Search repositories by name	
organization		Repository Name	Access Rol	e
Jsers	0	DefaultRepo		O Met
eams	8	Sample-DevOps		O Due
tepositories	9	Sample-EUM		O Lour
Policies		SampleRepo	© Admin	O User
	2	Sample_Anomaly	O Admin	0 User
		Topology	122	O Unit
		XRayforMQ		O UTIH
	8	8889		O lower
	.0	for_repo		O Mar
	100	0.0.0.0	1.000	211-2

Figure 3.1.3.4.1-A. Organization Manager – Teams – Manage Team Repositories Tab

Figure 3.1.3.4.1-B. Add Repositories

On the **Manage Team Members** tab, all users in the team are displayed. On this tab you can:

- Update user roles: Select Admin or User.
- Delete a user from the team: Simply click the red **X** within the **Delete** column. Please note that Owner and Admin users cannot be deleted.
- Add a new user to the team: Click the Add button. All system users will display (*Figure* <u>3.1.3.4.1-D</u>). Select the users to add to the team and specify their role (Admin or User). Click Add.

Nastel XRay User's Guide

cleate wew Osers	Manage Team Repositories	Manage	Team Members
Organization Jsers	Name: ThisIsMyTeam	Owner: Arturas	
feams	Members	Search members	by name Add
Repositories	Username	Role	Delete

Figure 3.1.3.4.1-C. Organization Manager – Teams – Manage Team Repositories Tab

Create New Users	Add Team Member		Search users by name		
Organization	i in	liser name			
Users	0	Admin			
ter and the second s		Autom			
Teams	10	Anonus			
Repositories	0	Ernestas			
Repositories		Evaldas			
Policies	目	Julius			
		Ruta			
	1	Saulius			
	8	Testas			
	茴	Vytautas			
	13	arbata			
		deleteThis10			
	(73.)	delateThicE			
		dd as Amm O User			

Figure 3.1.3.4.1-D. Add Team Users

3.1.3.4.2 3.1.3.4.2 Create Team

To create a new team, click the **Create** button on the *Manage Teams* window (*Figure 3.1.3.4-* <u>A</u>). Enter a name for the new team. After at least 3 characters are entered, the **Create** button will be enabled and the red exclamation point will disappear after at least 3 characters are entered.

Organization Man	ager
Create New Users Organization Users Teams Repositories Policies	Create a new team
	< Go Back

Figure 3.1.3.4.2-A. Add a New Team

3.1.3.5 Repositories

Select **Repositories** from the *Organization Manager* (*Figure 3.1.3.5.1-A*) side menu. The *Manage Repositories* window opens (*Figure 3.1.3.5.1-A*) where you can create or update repositories. The field on the bottom right of the window displays the number of existing repositories and the maximum limit.

A default repository can be specified so that each time you log into Nastel XRay, the default repository's data will load. This is a user-based setting. See <u>Section 3.2.6, Repository</u>, for more information.

For information on repository data limits, see <u>Section 2.3.1, Repository</u>.

3.1.3.5.1 3.1.3.5.1 Manage Repositories

A list of all system repositories is displayed on the *Manage Repositories* window. Click on the **Active** and **Inactive** buttons to change the repository status. The selected status is displayed in green. **Create Time** and **Update Time** are also displayed.

Create New Users	Manage Repositories	earch repositories by name			
Organization	Repository Name	State	Create Time	Update Time	
Users	1-mobileDashboard	O Active S Instan	2019-05-08 07:27:14 +03:00	2019-11-08 16:12:46 +02:00	1
Teams	DefaultRepo	O Active D Inactive	2019-03-04 17:40:43 +02:00	2019-11-08 16:12:46 +02:00	
Repositories	Sample-DevOps	O Active 6 Huchin	2019-05-08 16:04:36 +03:00	2019-11-08 16:12:46 +02:00	
Policies	Sample-EUM	O Active	2019-05-08 16:19:10 +03:00	2019-11-08 16:12:46 +02:00	
	Sample-Middleware	O Active	2019-05-08 07:27:14 +03:00	2019-11-08 16:12:46 +02:00	
	Sample- OrderTracking_Kool	O Active	2019-05-08 07:27:15 +03:00	2019-11-08 16:12:46 +02:00	
	SampleRepo	G Active G Inschort	2019-05-08 07:27:16 +03:00	2019-11-08 16:12:46 +02:00	
	Sample_Anomaly	O Active B Indictive	2019-06-18 08:25:40 +03:00	2019-11-08 16:12:46 +02:00	
	The state		2019-10-24 14:08:06	2019-11-08 16:12:46	3
	Edit Create	B		36/Unlin	nited

Figure 3.1.3.5.1-A. Organization Manager - Repositories

3.1.3.5.2 3.1.3.5.2 Edit Repository

Select a repository (the row will change to yellow) and click the **Edit** button. The below window displays.

On the **Manage Repository Tokens** tab, the status of **Stream**, **Query**, **Modify**, **Delete** and **Admin** can be configured to be active or inactive. Click the arrows \checkmark to show / hide token information. Click the eye O to show / hide the full token. To delete a token, simply click the red **X** within the **Action** field.

On the bottom right corner of the window, the number of existing tokens and the token limit are displayed. If the token limit has been reached, the **Generate token** button will be disabled and a warning message with more information will display at the top right corner.

oregre mew opers		Manage Rep	ository Tokens			Manage R	epository D	ashboards	
Organization Isers	Name:	jKoolAdmin_re	ро	ŝ	Owner: K	oolAdmin			
eams	π	oken	Username	Stream	Query	Modify	Delete	Admin	Action
epositories	▲ a.	5a10 🕫		Active	Active	Inactive	Inactive	Inactive	×
olicies	eury	< E v Semi Gran Ard	aportu, Lug, Joo						

Figure 3.1.3.5.2-A. Manage Repository Tokens Tab

On the **Manage Repository Dashboards** tab, a list of all dashboards is displayed. For each dashboard, the number of columns and assigned teams are displayed. To delete a dashboard, simply click the red **X** within the **Action** field.

Create New Users	Manage Repository	Manage Repository Dashboards		
Organization	Name: KoolAdmin_repo	Owner:	KoalAdmin	
leams	Dashboards	Search dashb	Search dashboards by name	
Repositories	Dashboard Name	Number of columns	Assigned to Teams	Action
Policies	Orders	1		×
roucies	Tracking	1		×
	Anomalies	1		×
	Manage			

Figure 3.1.3.5.2-B. Manage Repository Dashboards Tab

To configure a dashboard's teams, select the dashboard and click the **Manage** button. The *Manage Repository Dashboard Teams* window appears. The list of the dashboard's assigned teams is displayed.

Delete teams by clicking the red **X** in the **Action** field of the dashboard within the **Assigned Teams** section. To add a new team, select it from the **Available Teams**, specify if it should be added as an **Admin** or **User** and click the **Add** button. To quickly search for teams within the list, use the **Search teams by name** search field located at the top right of the window.

		Search learns by name	Search teams by name		
Irganization	Repository Name: KoolAdmin_repo	Dashboard Name: Orde	3		
eams	Team name	Role	Action		
lepositories	testTeam	O Admin @ User	×		
Policies	ThisisMyTeam	C Admini O User	×		
	Available Teams				
	Team Name				
	asd				
	fix_team				
	Jeans .				
	active and a second sec				

Figure 3.1.3.5.2-C. Manage Repository Dashboard Teams

3.1.3.5.3 3.1.3.5.3 Create Repository

On the *Manage Repositories* window (*Figure 3.1.3.5.3-A*), click the **Create** button to add a new repository to the system.



On the bottom right corner of the window the total number of current repositories and the maximum limit amount are displayed. Please note that if the repository maximum limit has been met, the **Create** button will be disabled and a warning message in a yellow box with a link for more information will display at the top right corner of the dialog box.

Create New Users	Manage Repositories	-5	Search repositories by name		
Organization	Repository Name	State	Create Time	Update Time	
Users	1-mobileDashboard	O Active I Strendor	2019-05-08 07:27:14 +03:00	2019-11-08 16 12 46 +02:00	
Teams	DefautRepo	O Active 9 Institute	2019-03-04 17 40 43 +02:00	2019-11-08 18 12:46 +02:00	
Repositories	Sample-DevOps	O Active	2019-05-08 16:04:36 +03:00	2019-11-08 16 12 46 +02:00	
Policies	Sample-EUM	O Active 15 Income	2019-05-08 16 19 10 +03:00	2019-11-09 18:12:46 +02:00	
	Sample-Middleware	O Active Disease	2018-05-08 07 27 14 +03:00	2019-11-08 16 12 46 +02:00	
	Sample- OrderTracking_(Kool	O Altine Direction	2018-05-08 07:27:15 +03:00	2019-11-08 16:12:46 +02:00	
	SampleRepo	O Active Diamont	2018-05-08 07:27:16 +03:00	2019-11-08 16 12:46 +02:00	
	Sample_Anomaly	O Active @ Inuclea	2018-06-18 08:25:40 +03:00	2019-11-08 16 12 46 +02:00	
	Topology	O Active Streamer	2019-10-24 14:08:08 +03:00	2019-11-08 18.12.46 +02:00	
	Edit Creat			36'Unlin	nite

Figure 3.1.3.5.3-A. Create Repository Button
The *Create Repository* window will appear. Enter a name for the repository that is at least 3 characters long. The exclamation point warning will go away once this criterion is met. Click **Create**.

Organization Man	ager
Create New Users	Create repository
Organization	Name: O
Users	Creatio
Teams	
Repositories	
Policies	
	< Go Back

Figure 3.1.3.5.3-B. Create Repository

3.1.3.6 Policies

Select **Policies** from the *Organization Manager* side menu. Users can view the requirements which are being applied for password creation. Editing of these requirements will be available in a future release.

Organization Man	ager		
Organization Man Create New Users Organization Users Teams Repositories Policies	Ager Manage Password Policy Minimum length: Minimum Lowers: Minimum Digits: Minimum Special Characters: Required Prefix: Required Suffix: Username as Password:	Maximum length: Minimum Uppers: Maximum Repeating Characters: Special Characters: Invalid Prefix: Invalid Suffix:	
	< Go Back		

Figure 3.1.3.6-A. Manage Password Policy

3.1.4 Views

A View represents a named query whose result is evaluated on a defined interval. After each periodic evaluation, the results are cached for quick retrieval. The implementation is analogous to an SQL Materialized View.

Views can be implemented directly using jKQL, or through the user interface.

Let's define a simple View using jKQL:

```
Upsert View Name='TestView',
    jkql='Get Number Of Events Group By EventName',
    Schedule='1 day';
```

This view will be evaluated every 1 day, and the result of the query will be cached.

Let's define the same view through the user interface. You would define it using the Create button on the Views tab of Admin Settings. It would be look like this:

Admin Setting	s										
Branding Logos Login Page Landing Page Index Page	*	Creating View Name Query	TestView Get Number O	f Events Grou	ap By Eventi	Name					
Logout Page Sets		Schedule:	jKQL <u>CR</u>	ON	Day		u				
Organization Views		Dataset name:	* TestDataS	et I							
Volumes Alerts											
Viewlet Features		Cancel						Go Ba	ick	Create	

Figure 3.1.4-A. Creating a View

Refer to the <u>*jKQL User's Guide*</u> in the XRay section of the Nastel Resource Center for more information on views.

3.1.5 jKQL Scripts

jKQL Scripts allow custom processing functionality to be executed. For those familiar with SQL systems, these are analogous to stored procedures/functions. With them, data can be loaded from jKQL data store, processed, and written back out to data store and/or returned for display in UI.

jKQL Script definitions are kept in jKQL data store. The definition contains either the complete text for the script, or a URI from which to retrieve the text. jKQL scripts can be implemented directly using jKQL, or through the user interface. Some examples of the direct

implementation of jKQL scripts are shown below. These are defined using the Upsert statement:

```
Upsert Script Name = 'TestScript', Text = 'var rs = executeJKQL(\'Get
number of events for latest year group by eventname\');
setReturnResult(rs);'
```

```
Upsert Script Name = 'TestUrl', Url = 'file:/home/me/example.js',
Properties = ('FilterField'='STRING', 'FilterValue'='STRING',
'GroupField'='STRING'), Options = ('MaxRawRows'=30000)
```

To add a script through the user interface, you would start on the jKQL Scripts tab of Admin Settings.

- 1. Go to Main Menu > Admin Settings.
- 2. Select the jKQL Scripts tab.
- 3. Click **Create**.
- 4. In the **Script editor**, enter the script that you want to save. It will take the form of JavaScript code that interfaces with jKQL. For example:

```
var startTime = getScriptParam('starttime');
var endTime = getScriptParam('endtime');
var interval = getScriptParam('interval');
var query = "get number of activities fields avg(elapsedtime)
                                                                      as
elapsedtime where starttime > '"
    + startTime
    + "' and starttime <= '"
    + endTime
    + "' group by starttime bucketed by " + interval;
var rsActivities = executeJKQL(query);
for (var arow = 1; arow <= rsActivities.getRowCount(); arow++) {</pre>
    var dataset = createDataset();
    dataset.setField(FieldType.DATASET NAME, 'TestDataset1');
    dataset.setMapFieldKey(FieldType.PROPERTIES,
                                                                 "time",
rsActivities.getValue(arow, 1).getBegin()); // starttime
    dataset.setMapFieldKey(FieldType.PROPERTIES,
rsActivities.getColumnName(2), rsActivities.getInteger(arow,
                                                                2)); //
number of rows
    dataset.setMapFieldKey(FieldType.PROPERTIES,
rsActivities.getColumnName(3), rsActivities.getTimeInterval(arow, 3));
// average elapsedtime
    upsert(dataset);
executeJKQL("gt datasets fields all")
```

You can even write an entire JavaScript program (that interacts with JKQL) and save it as a script. To learn how to call jKQL from within the JavaScript, refer to the Script section of the <u>jKQL User's Guide</u> in the XRay section of the Nastel Resource Center.

- 5. In the panel on the right side, enter the name of the script in the **jKQL Script Name** field, and select the **Repository** it will use.
- 6. Use the **Time Period** parameter to define the timeframe for which you want the query and the script to be applied.
- 7. Click **Save** to save the script for future reuse.
- 8. Use the **jKQL Script Parameters** area to enter any runtime values for the parameters that you are asking users to enter via the 'getScriptParam' function (such as 'starttime'). These parameters are displayed immediately after a script is saved, and whenever a script is run.
- 9. Click **Run**. Results are displayed in a Results Viewlet in the Console pane.



Before data can be made available to queries, it must be committed to index files in Solr. Therefore you may experience a delay before results become available. After you run a script, try waiting several minutes, then use a temporary viewlet to query your results (click the Create temporary viewlet button **to** next to the Console label).

10. Click **Close** to return to the jKQL Scripts list.

Admin Setting	gs							
Branding	~	Name 🗢		Text	Url			
Logos			×	×		×		
Login Page		activity		executeJKQL('get longest 10 activities');		ć	1	l
Landing Page		datasets		executeJKQL('get number of datasets');		đ	1	
Index Page		TestScript2		var starttime = getScriptParam('startti		đ	1	
Logout Dago		TestScript3		executeJKQL('get number of events f		đ	1	
Logout Page		TestScript4		var startTime = getScriptParam('startti		ć	1	
Organization Views JKQL Scripts								
Volumes								
Alerts				$\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{I} = \left \begin{array}{c} Page & 1 \\ Page & I \end{array} \right \gg \mathbb{I}$	ÞI	View 1	- 5 of	5
Viewlet		Cancel				Cre	ate	
redures								



Nastel XRay User's Guide

Chapter 3: Settings



Figure 3.1.5-B. jKQL Script

3.1.6 Alerts

Select **Alerts** from the side menu of *Admin Settings* (*Figure 3.1-A*) to setup email notifications about events. An explanation of each side menu option on the *Alert Wizard* window is explained in sections 3.1.6.1 – 3.1.6.5 below.

3.1.6.1 Create an Alert

On the *Alert Wizard* window, select **Create an Alert** from the side menu to create alerts for specific activities or events. In your repository, if you have imported sets with objectives, you will see a list of possible sets. Only one set or sets with the same name can be selected at the same time to be used for the creation of an alert.

Create an Alert			-0		-	
Create an Action	Picka	n objective(s) you wa	CASES INF	o ACTIONS sected only from the s	ame set)	
Manage slerts	Sea	rch objectives				
Managa actions		Set name	Set criteria	Objective name	Objective criteria	1
anningle occurring		Game	((ActivityName equals ("s	Completed	ActivityStatus=END	
Logs		Game	((ActivityName equals ("s	Completed Witho	Count(Eventid) = 0 where	1
	2	NEWSET	((ActivityName equals ("S.	Completed	ActivityStatus='END'	
	0	NEWSET	((ActivityName equals (16	Completed_Withs	Count(EventId) = 0 where	
		d	SetName has any of (d	HasAlSteps	list(SetName) has all of ('d.	1
		e_ChildSet1	(ActivityName equals ("aa	*	name = T	
		(KoolDataExport	ActivityName="CreditValid	SLA	ElapsedTime < 2 seconds	
		Flace Order	ActivityName="AcceptOrd	SLA	ElapsedTime < 2 seconds	
		Place Order	ActivityName="AcceptOrd	Successful	CompCode = "SUCCESS"	
		Ship Product	ActivityName="ShipOrders"	SLA	ElapsedTime < 2 seconds	2
	Notify	when All objective	s are met 🔹			
		- 193 193		12	20 8	

Figure 3.1.6.1-A. Objectives

Select all desired sets. From the **Notify when** drop-down menu, select when to get a notification. Click **Next** to continue configuring.

Create an Alert			-0)		
Create an Action	Pick an object	five(s) you wa	CASES INF	o ACTIONS elected only from the	lame set)	
Manage alerts	Search obj	scfives				
Manana actions	Set n	ame	Set criteria	Objective name	Objective criteria	2
monage accords	Game	6	((ActivityName equals ("s	Completed	ActivityStatus="END"	
Logs	Game		(ActivityName equals ("s	Completed Witho	Count(Eventid) = 0 where	
		SET	((ActivityName equals (15	Completed	ActivityStatus='END'	
	E NEW	SET	((ActivityName equals ("S	Completed_Witho	Count(Event(d) = 0 where .	1
	iii e		SetName has any of ('d	HasAllSteps	list(SetName) has all of ('d.	2
	e_Ch	ldSet1	(ActivityName equals ("aa	a	name =	
	jKooli	DataExport	ActivityName+"CreditValid	SLA	ElapsedTime < 2 seconds	
	D Place	Order	ActivityName="AcceptOrd	SLA	ElapsedTime < 2 seconds	
	E Place	Order	ActivityName="AcceptOrd	Successful	CompCode = "SUCCESS"	
	Ship	Product	ActivityName="ShipOrders"	SLA	ElapsedTime < 2 seconds	1
	Notify when:	All objective	s are met			
	< Go B	Al least one At least one At least one	objective is met objective is NOT met	Cancel	Test Next-	

Figure 3.1.6.1-B. Notification

On the next screen, select the severity type from the **Severity** drop-down menu, specify the type of data to monitor – **Activities** or **Events** and how often you would like to get the reports. Click **Next** to continue.

Alert Wizard	
reate an Alert reate an Action anage alerts anage actions ogs	Severity: Notice What you want to monitor? * Activitie: * Activitie: * Events How often to report? • per occurrence: • Eveny • Eveny • Eveny • Eveny • Eveny
	< Ge Back Test Next →

Figure 3.1.6.1-C. Alert Cases

On the next screen, enter the **Name** of the alert, select the **Action type** – whether you would like an alert to be sent by email or to be written to a logfile. Choose the **Action** from the drop-down menu or **Create new** (*see Section 3.1.6.2, Create an Action*).

Within the **Mail To** field, enter the email addresses the alert should be sent to or select emails from the suggestion menu (click the **X** to remove emails).

Modify the **Subject** text and customize the content of the **Message**.

Click **Set default values** button to use predefined values or select the ones to add using the **Browse available placeholders** link immediately below the **Message** field. The *Available placeholders* window is displayed. Copy a placeholder or place your cursor in a message field and click to open this window.

reate an Alert		
reate an Action	Name: *	CABES TRO ACTORS
unage alerts	Harry.	
inage actions	Action type:	Send an email Write to a Logfle Write to a Logfle
Logs	Action:	NastelProvider Create now
	Mail To: *	Select Some Options
	Subject:	[\$(TriggerSeventy)] TriggerS(TriggerName)
	Message:	[\$[TriggerSeverity]] On \$[TriggerTime:date] at \$[TriggerTime:time] Trigger \$[TriggerName] found \$[RowCount] activities.
		Browse available discertoiders Set default voter

Figure 3.1.6.1-D. Alert Information

Available placeholders		
Placeholder	Description	
\$(TriggerTime)	Date-time when trigger was fired	
\$(TriggerTime date)	Date-time when trigger was fired (Formal the value as a date)	
S[TriggerTime time)	Date-time when trigger was fired (Format the value as a time of day)	
\$(TriggerTime:datetime)	Date-time when trigger was fired (Format the value with both date and time)	
\$[RepoiD]	Repository ID trigger is running in	
S(Triggerhlame)	Name of the Trigger	
S(TriggerSeverity)	Severity level from Trigger definition	
S(Condition)	The condition as defined in the Trigger definition (value of JKQL field)	
\${ActionName}	Name of the Action	
S(ProviderName)	Name of the Provider	
S(RewCount)	Number of rows in the trigger result set	
\${ColumnCount}	Number of columns in the trigger result set	
\$(Kool.itemType)	Type of JKQL item being monitored in condition (Event, Activity, etc.)	
S[TriggerResult]	The complete trigger result set, as a JSON string	
S(NewLine)	Line separator	
Copy placeholder or place curr	sor to field and open this window to insert placeholder on click	

Figure 3.1.6.1-E. Available Placeholders

Back on the *Alert Wizard* window, click the **Test** button (enabled when alert name and email address are specified) to send a test message to your email address.

Click **Finish** to save the newly created alert which is now seen on the window displayed by clicking **Manage alerts** from the side menu.

3.1.6.2 Create an Action

On the *Alert Wizard* window, select **Create an Action** from the side menu to specify the action for alerts. Alerts can either be written to a log file or sent to email.

To create an action for an alert, specify the **Choose action type**.

If **Send an email** was selected, populate the fields within the **Set up your email provider** section. All fields marked with an asterisk are required. If your email provider required to use STARTTLS, check the **Enable STARTTLS** option.

Create an Alert	Choose action type	😸 Send at email 🔘 V	Write to a Logfile	
Create an Action				
Menage elerts	Set up your emait provider			
Manage actions	Action/Provider Name: *		Mail From: *	
Loga	User Name: *		Mail To:	Swied Some Options
	Password: *		Mail Cc:	Select Some Options
	Mail Server: *			
	Port Number: *	25		
	Enable STARTTLS:	a		

Figure 3.1.6.2-A. Create an Action

When **Write to a Logfile** is selected (available only in the on-premises version), a window similar to the following appears. Populate all fields. The **Line** field can be filled with placeholders (see <u>Section 3.1.6.1, Create an Alert</u> for information on how to add placeholders).

Alert Wizard	
Create an Alert	Choose action type Send an email 🛞 Write to a Logile
Create an Action	Pendine almente
Manage alerts	Set up your file provider
Manage actions	Action@rovider Name:
Logs	File name: "
	<pre>\${TriggerTime] [\${Severity}] Trigger \${TriggerName} found \${RosCount} events\${NewLine}</pre>
	Line: Binvise available placeholdern Ser detaut values
	< Go Back Circel Circete

Figure 3.1.6.2-B. Write to a Logfile

A newly created action will appear on the **Manage actions** window.

3.1.6.3 Manage Alerts

On the *Alert Wizard* window, select **Manage alerts** from the side menu to maintain existing alerts. A list of all created alerts is displayed. Manage alert status (Active or Inactive), edit alerts by clicking the pencil icon \checkmark , delete alerts by clicking the trashcan icon alert or test an alert by clicking the check icon \checkmark . Click **Create** to create a new alert (see <u>3.1.6.1 Create an Alert</u>).

Alert Wizard							
reate an Alert	Alerts		Search by alert name				
reate an Action	Status	Name	Severity	Action			
lanage alerts	Inactive	Order	Notice	NastelPro	10	*	
lanage actions	Adhe	Orders	info	NastelPro	/ 0	~	
ogs	< Go	Back			Create		

Figure 3.1.6.3-A. Manage Alerts

3.1.6.3.1 3.1.6.3.1 Edit Alert

After clicking the pencil icon 🖍 to edit a selected alert, the same window seen when creating an alert will display. The only difference is that the **Test** button is now active.

Click the **Go Back** button to modify the previous steps configurations. Click **Test** to send a test notification to your email address (specified on the *Create an Action* window or updated on the *Manage actions* window). Click **Next** to continue editing. After all edits have been made, click **Finish**. See <u>3.1.6.1 Create an Alert</u> for detailed instructions.

Name an Adart Choose action type ® Send an email nage actions Set up your email provider page actions Action/Provider Name: * ptoolProvider pa User Name: * ptoolProvider Password: * Kooladmin@jkool.com Mail Ce: Select Some Options Mail Server: * w est.05100 server dat Port Number: * 25	10110-000-000				
Setup your small provider Moil Setup your small provider nage alerts Action/Provider Name: * ploolProvider Mail From: * plooladmin@jkool.com gs User Name: * kooladmin@jkool.com Mail To: Select Same Optime Password: * w.est.05100 server.dat Mail Cc: Select Same Optime Port Number: * 25 Select Same Optime	reate an Alert	Choose action type	(#) Send an email		
Set up your email provider Moil Provider Moil From: * #cooladmin@jkool.com ga Vaer Name: * #cooladmin@jkool.com Mail To: Select Same Options ga Vaer Name: * #cooladmin@jkool.com Mail To: Select Same Options Mail Server: * w.est.05100 server.dat Mail Co: Select Same Options Port Number: * 25 Select Same Options Mail Co:	eate an Action				
Action/Provider Name: KoolProvider Mail From: Rooladmin@jkool.com gs User Name: Kool3dmin@jkool.com Mail To: Select Same Options Password: west.05100.server.dat Mail Ce: Select Same Options Port Number: 25 Select Same Options	mage alerta	Set up your email provider			
ga User Name: * Kooladmin@jkool.com Mail To: Select Same Options Password: * Mail Ce: Select Same Options Mail Server: * w.est.05100.server.dat Port Number: * 25	mage actions	Action/Provider Name: *	KoolProvider	Mail From: *	(kooladmin@jkool.com
Pessword: * Mail Cc: Select Some Options Mail Server: * w est.05100 server dat Port Number: * 25	ga	User Name: *	Kooladmin@kool.com	Mail To:	Select Same Options
Meil Server: * west.05100 server dat Port Number: * 25 Euclos stretttri F. (k		Password: *		Mail Cc:	Select Same Options
Port Number: * 25		Mail Server: *	w.est.05100.server.dat		
Email STATITIE		Port Number: *	25		
Enable Statitus: 9		Enable STARTTLS;	2		

Figure 3.1.6.3.1-A. Edit Alert

3.1.6.4 Manage Actions

On the *Alert Wizard* window, select **Manage actions** from the side menu to view a list of all created actions. Users can edit (, see <u>Section 3.1.6.2, Create an Action</u> for more

information), delete (), copy () or test () selected actions. Click the **Create** button to create a new action.

Alert Wizard		
Create an Alert Create an Action	Actions	Search by action name
Manage alerts	Name NasProvider	100-
Manage actions	Singleton	100-
Logs	velshall	180-
	< Go Back	Create

Figure 3.1.6.4-A. Manage Actions

3.1.6.5 Logs

Alert Wizard				
Create an Alert	Logs			Search by alert or brigger name
Create an Action	Data	Farmely.	Alexe	Martin
Monago alerts	2/7/2019 6 31 01 PM	Info	Orders	Activities failes all that mat any of objectives "Activity"
	2/7/2019 6 30 55 PM	Info	Orders	Activities fields all that met any of objectives "Activity
Manage actions	2/7/2019 & 30 56 PM	Info	Orders	Activities fields all that met any of objectives 'Activity'
Logs	2/7/2019 6:30:41 PM	Info	Orders	Activities fields all that met any of objectives "Activity"
	2/7/2019 6 30 39 PM	info	Orders	Activities fields all that met any of objectives 'Activity'
	< Go Back			Retresh

Sent alert information is displayed when **Logs** is selected from the *Alert Wizard* side menu.

Viewlet 3.1.7

Select Viewlet from the side menu of Admin Settings (Figure 3.1.7-A) to specify maximum data points per viewlet page and maximum data groups in summary viewlets.

Maximum Data Points per Viewlet Page is the specified data amount that can be displayed in each viewlet. When a viewlet has more data records than the specified limit, additional pages will be present to view all data. The amount of data points displayed can be manually changed, see <u>Section 2.5.8.5, Viewlet Size</u>, for more information.

The **Maximum Data Groups in Summary Viewlet** defines how many data groups can be combined into one Summary viewlet (see <u>Section 2.5.4.10, Summary</u>, for more information on Summary viewlets).

Admin Settin	igs			
Branding		Maximum Data Points per Viewlet Page 100	Pointe	Reset
Logos Login Page Landing Page Index Page Logout Page Sets Organization Alerts		Maximum Data Groups in Summary Viewlet 10	Groups	
Viewiet				
Graph Features		Cancel		Save changes

Figure 3.1.7-A. Maximum Data Points and Groups

3.1.8 Graph

Select **Graph** from the side menu of *Admin Settings* (*Figure 3.1.8-A*) to customize default colors for severity and status fields used in charts.

Branding	w.,	Default color f	or severity								Reset
Logos Login Page Landing Page Index Page Logout Page		Unknown 📗 Failure 📕	•	Hat Error Debug	•	Fatal Warning Trace	• • • • • •	Critical		*	
Sets Organization Alerts Viewlet		Default color f Begin	or status	End	•	Exception	•				
Graph Features		Cancel							Sa	ve cha	nges

Figure 3.1.8-A. Color Customization

3.1.9 Features

Select **Features** from the side menu of *Admin Settings* (*Figure 3.1.9-A*) to view a list of features which are active and available to your organization.

Branding	×.	Feature	Description	Status
Logos		Branding	Allows customizing appearance, logo, landing page, web link and other organization elements	CANE TIME
Landing Page		ColdStore	Allows saving data and definitions to external data store for archiving and data recovery	GANNA (COMIN)
Index Page		DataImport	Allows importing data into the repository from external file sources	() Actors () manual
Sets		InputDataRules	Allows computing built-in or custom fields for streamed data based on specific criteria	Series Discontin
Organization		Machinei,earning	Allows use of advanced Machine Learning prediction and analysis facilities	Transa .
Alerta		Macros	Allows defining custom classes of data calculations	Territoria (C. Southers)
Viewlet		Sets	Allows grouping of Activities and Events based on defined orderia	() Allie
Features		Subscriptions	Allows using real-time queries to monitor streamed data as it is received	SASA STORES

Figure 3.1.9-A. Features

3.2 User Settings

There are settings that can be set at user level. Clicking **User Settings** from the **Main Menu** gives users the following options. See sections 3.2.1 – 3.2.7 for information on each option.



Figure 3.2-A. Main Menu > User Settings

3.2.1 Two-factor Authentication

Two-factor authentication (2FA) is used to ensure a secure login by requiring verification when logging in. A TFA app is required, for example, Google Authentication or FreeOTP.

3.2.1.1 Setup

For each user that will utilize 2FA, perform the following within each user's account to enable this feature:

1. Go to **Main Menu > User Settings > Two-factor Authentication**. The below window opens. Change the **Status** of two-factor authentication to **Enabled** and click **Save**.

requiring more than just a
Status
Enabled
Save

Figure 3.2.1.1-A. Two-factor Authentication

2. You will need to scan your personal token's QR code from your 2FA app. Click the QR icon 🚟 which displays after saving the 2FA status as enabled. Scan the code with your 2FA app.

Two-factor Authentication		
Two-factor authentication adds an additional layer of security to you password to log in. <u>Learn mor</u>	ır account by requiring <u>e</u> .	g more than just a
	QR code	Status
Two-factor authentication		Enabled
Close		Save

Figure 3.2.1.1-B. Two-factor Authentication – QR Code Generated



Figure 3.2.1.1-C. Two-factor Authentication – QR Code

3. From this point forward, the user will be required to enter a 6-digit code from the 2FA app when logging in.

3.2.1.2 Reset

To disable 2FA for a user, perform the below steps. Only organization users with admin roles have this ability.

- 1. Go to Admin Menu > Organization > Users.
- 2. Select the user.
- 3. Click **Reset two factor authentication**.

Figure 3.2.1.2-A. Reset Two-factor Authentication

3.2.2 Change Password

To change your user password, go to **Main Menu** > **User Settings** > **Change Password**. The following screen opens. Enter your current password within the **Existing Password** field. Enter your new password within the **New Password** and **Confirm New Password** fields. Click **CHANGE PASSWORD**.

	ASTEL Ray
🔎 Existing Passw	ord
🔎 New Password	
🔎 Confirm New P	assword
CANCEL	CHANGE PASSWORD

Figure 3.2.2-A. Change Password

3.2.3 Date & Time Range

Set the default date and time range for dashboards and their viewlets for the repository you currently have open. To set the default date and time range, go to **Main Menu** > **User Settings** > **Date & Time Range**. Use the options within the drop-down menus (*Figure 3.2.3-A*). For more information see <u>Section 2.3.5, Default Date & Time Range</u>).

Date & Time Range	
Predefined	•
This Year	•
Close	Save

Figure 3.2.3-A. Date & Time Range

Please note that the date and time range of viewlets and dashboards can still be updated, but the update will only be active within the current session. When logging back into the application, the default date and time range specified within the *Date & Time Range* dialog box above will be applied.

3.2.4 Configure Dashboards

The *Configure Dashboards* dialog box is used for customizing a user's dashboards. To open the Configure Dashboard dialog box, go to **Main Menu** > **User Settings** > **Configure Dashboards**. On this dialog box, users have the option to:

• Rename dashboards

- Change dashboard layouts
- Delete dashboards
- Disable / enable the **Summary** panel
- Disable / enable the displaying of the Landing Page
- Specify the refresh interval

3.2.4.1 Rename

To rename a dashboard, go to **Main Menu** > **User Settings** > **Configure Dashboards**. Click the pencil icon so of the dashboard you would like to rename.

		Search by name	
Dashboard Name		Layout	
Treasury Markets Tra	de cycle		<u>ا</u>
Business View		<i>a</i>	Ē
AppSupport			Ŵ
Summary Console	● On ◎ Off		
Landing page	○ On ● Off		
Refresh interval	○ Every minute ○ Every 3) seconds 🔘 Every 15 seconds 🔍 1	None

Figure 3.2.4.1-A. Configure Dashboard – Rename Dashboard

Enter a new name and click the check mark *****. Click **Save**.

3.2.4.2 Change Layout

Dashboard layouts can either be one, two or three columns. To change the layout of a dashboard, go to **Main Menu** > **User Settings** > **Configure Dashboards**.

The **Layout** field of each dashboard will have a blue box around the layout the dashboard is using. To change the layout of a dashboard, simply select the new layout and click **Save**.

Configure Dashbo	bard			
		Sea	irch by name	
Dashboard Name			Layout	
Treasury Markets Trac	de cycle	S A		圃
Business View		ø		圃
AppSupport		S		圓
Summary Console	● On ○ Off			
Landing page	○ On ⑧ Off			
Refresh interval	Every minute Every 30 second secon	onds O Ever	y 15 seconds 🔍 None	
Cancel			s	ave

Figure 3.2.4.2-A. Configure Dashboard – Dashboard Layout

3.2.4.3 Delete Dashboard

To delete a dashboard, go to **Main Menu** > **User Settings** > **Configure Dashboards**. Your list of dashboards will display. Scroll through the list to find the dashboard you would like to delete or use the **Search by name** search field. Click the trash button if to delete the selected dashboard.

		Se	earch by name		
Dashboard Name			Layout		
/ar		s *			Ô
1		ø			Ē
2		ø			Ŵ
Summary Console	🖲 On 💿 Off				
Landing page	On © Off				
Refresh interval	Every minute 🔘 Eve	ry 30 seconds 🔘 Eve	ery 15 seconds 🔘 Non	e	

Figure 3.2.4.3-A. Delete Dashboard

After clicking the delete button, an **Undo** button will appear. Click this button if would like to cancel the delete action.

		S	earch by i	eman	
ashboard Name			Layout	t	-
ar -		/			Undo
6		1			畲
E.		1			8
Summary Console	● On © Off				
Landing page	* On © Off				
Refresh interval	Every minute Sev	ery 30 seconds 😑 Ev	ery 15 sec	onds 🔹 None	

Figure 3.2.4.3-B. Delete Dashboard – Undo

To continue deleting, click **Save**. A confirmation dialog box appears. Click **Yes** to delete.

Click **No** to close the dialog box. You will be brought back to the *Configure Dashboard* screen where you can click **Undo** to cancel the deletion.

Con	nfirmation			
	Are you sure	you want to delete	e following dashboard v	ar?
		No	Yes	
		No	Yes	

Figure 3.2.4.3-C. Delete Dashboard Confirmation

A confirmation will appear stating that the dashboard has been successfully deleted.

Confirmation
Oashboards deleted successfully
OK
UK

Figure 3.2.4.3-D. Dashboard Successfully Deleted

3.2.4.4 Summary Console

The system can be configured to automatically have the Summary Console displayed or hidden every time you log in. Go to **Main Menu** > **User Settings** > **Configure Dashboards**. For **Summary Console**, select either **On** or **Off**.

Please note that if **Off** is selected, the Summary Console can still be viewed by clicking the **Summary** tab on the dashboard.

	Search by name	
Dashboard Name	Layout	
Treasury Markets Trade cycle	/ 0 🛄 000	Û
Business View	/ 📔 💷 💷 🛛	Û
AppSupport	/	Û
Summary Console 🔹 On 🔍 C Landing page 💿 On 🔹 O]	
Pafrash interval 🔗 Euon mi	e 💿 Every 30 seconds 💿 Every 15 seconds 💿 None	

Figure 3.2.4.4-A. Hide Summary Console by Default

3.2.4.5 Landing Page

The Landing Page displayed when logging into Nastel XRay can be configured to be disabled or always shown. This will allow the user to view their dashboard immediately upon logging in.

Go to **Main Menu** > **User Settings** > **Configure Dashboard**. Within the **Landing Page** section select either **On** or **Off**.

	Search b	y name	
Dashboard Name	Layo	out	
Treasury Markets Trade cycle	1		Û
Business View	1		自
AppSupport	1		ŝ
Summary Console 🔹 On 🗇 Off			
Landing page 💿 On 🔹 Off			
Refresh Internal 🖉 Evenuminuta 🖗 Eve	ry 30 seconds ① Every 15 s	econds 🔍 None	

Figure 3.2.4.5-A. Configure Dashboard – Landing Page

3.2.4.6 Refresh Dashboard

The dashboard refresh interval specifies how often viewlets will be refreshed in all dashboards. It is especially useful for viewlets which display real-time data.

To specify the refresh interval, go to **Main Menu** > **User Settings** > **Configure Dashboards**. Within the **Refresh interval** section, select the desired refresh time.

		Se	arch by name	
Oeshboard Name			Layout	
Treasury Markets To	ide cycle	1		9
Business View		1		8
AppSuppert		1		8
Summary Consol	e ≢on ©of			
Landing page	⊖ On ⊛ Off			
Refresh interval	C Every minute C Ever	30 seconds 🔍 Eve	iry 15 seconds 🕷 None	

Figure 3.2.4.6-A. Dashboard Refresh Interval

3.2.5 Configure Schemas

Select **Configure Schemas** from **User Settings** menu to create and maintain data view schemas. Schemas are used to customize how data is displayed in table viewlets using various filters. The **Schemas** window opens.

Click the pencil icon \checkmark to edit existing schemas. To delete a schema, simply click the trashcan icon . Click the **Create** button to create a new schema (<u>Section 3.2.5.1, Create /</u><u>Edit Schema</u>).

Schemas				
		Search by name		
Name	Applied for			
Activities	Activity		1 t	Ì ^
Snapshots	Snapshot		I t	Ì
IDs	Event		ø t	Ù
				*
Close		С	reate	

Figure 3.2.5-A. Schemas

3.2.5.1 Create / Edit Schema

To create a schema, click the **Create** button on the *Schemas* window (*Figure 3.2.5-A*). Specify the **Schema Name** (required). Multiple item types can be added to a schema (activity, event, snapshot). To add an item type, select it from the **Item Type** drop-down menu. Add filters to the item type by clicking the **Add fields** button.

Schemas				
Schema Name: *	events			
Item Type	Fields		Sort Field	
No item field visu	alization rules fou	nd for any type		*
				*
Item Type Select.	•	Add fields		
Select Event				
Clos Spapsh	not			Save
Citos onapar				Save

Figure 3.2.5-B. Create New Schema

On the window that opens, users specify what fields should be displayed in viewlets and the order in which they should be displayed.

From the **Available Fields** box located on the left side of the screen, select a field, and click the right arrow button to add the field to the **Selected Fields** section on the right side of the screen. Multiple fields can be selected and added at one time by holding down the **Ctrl** key. Select the **Move all** button with right arrows to move all available fields.

Use the left arrow button or the left Move all button **Move all** to remove the fields from the **Selected Fields** section.

On the right side of the Selected Fields section, use Move to Top 🔍, Move to Bottom 🖳

, **Move Up** and **Move Down** arrows to change the field sequence. This is the order the fields will appear in viewlets.

In the **Current item type fields sorted by** drop-down menu, all fields within the **Selected Fields** section will appear. Select a field to be used as the main field for sorting viewlets.

Schemas				
Schema Name: events		Item Type:	Event	
Available Fields		Selected Fi	elds	
All Custom Fields ApplName CharSet ChildFQN Closed CompCode Correlator DataCenterName DeviceName ElapsedTime Encoding Exception ExpireTime GenericSrcName GeoLocation	Move a	ActivityID Address AppServerN StartTime EventID EventID EventName EventType	lame	16 & > >1
Current item type fields sorted by:	Select		•	
	Select			
Close Go Back	ActivityID Address AppServerName StartTime		Alias	Apply
	EndTime EventID EventName EventType		Alias	Арру

Figure 3.2.5-C. Add Fields for Schema

You can specify alias names for the selected fields. These names will display in viewlets instead of the default names of the fields. To do this, click the **Alias** button. A screen opens listing all fields that were selected. Enter the alias name for all desired fields. If you do not want an alias name used for a field, simply leave it blank. In the below example, EventID will display as "ID" and EventName will display as "Name" in viewlets.

161

			Construction of the second		
ilable Fields			Selected Fields		
Custom Fields tivity/ID dress pServerName pIName arSet iidFQN issed mpCode rrelator taCenterName viceName ipsedTime coding		Move all 2	ActivityID Address AppServerName StartTime EndTime EventID as ID EventName as Name EventType]	1« « » »1
	,		Custom property	Add	
	Colds control buy Col	loct			

Figure 3.2.5-D. Alias Names

Click **Apply** when you are finished.

In the following window, the summary details of your newly created schema appear. Click the pencil icon \checkmark to edit, or the trashcan icon 1 to delete this schema. Click **Save** to save the configurations done.

Schemas			
Schema Name: * ev	ents		
Item Type	Fields	Sort Field	
Event	ActivityID, Address, AppServerName, StartTime, EndTime, EventID, EventName, EventType		ø 🖻
			Ť
Item Type Select	Add fields		
Close	Co Back		Save
Close	O Dack		Save

Figure 3.2.5-E. Schema Summary

The created schema now appears in a schemas' list. See <u>Section 2.4.2.8, Change Layout</u>, to learn how to apply a schema to a dashboard's viewlets.

Schemas					
		Search by name	1		
Name	Applied for				
Activities	Activity		æ	Ô	*
Snapshots	Snapshot		ø	Ô	
IDs	Event		æ	Ô	
events	Event		æ	Ô	
					~
Close			rea	te	

Figure 3.2.5-F. Schemas List

3.2.6 Repository

A repository can be specified as the default repository so that every time you log into Nastel XRay, the repository will automatically be loaded. Go to **Main Menu** > **User Settings** > **Repository**. The *Repository* dialog box opens. Select a repository from the drop-down menu and click **Save**. From this point forward, the selected repository will be loaded when logging into Nastel XRay.

Repository	, v
Default repository ID	T
Cancel	Save

Figure 3.2.6-A. Default Repository

3.2.7 Personal Tokens

Go to **Main Menu** > **User Settings** > **Personal Tokens** to view all tokens. Please note that the **Personal Tokens** option is only available on the **User Settings** menu when using a non-Global repository. Maintain existing tokens and generate new tokens with unique QR codes for repositories. Personal tokens with QR codes are useful for users of the mobile Nastel XRay application.

When **Stream** status is set to **Active**, real-time data will be supported. When **Query** status is set to **Inactive**, Nastel XRay API users using this token will not have the ability to run queries.

Click arrows
 to show / hide token information. Click the eye
 to show / hide the full token. Click the copy icon
 to copy a token to a clipboard.

Personal Tokens						
	Token	Repository Name	Organization Name	Stream	Query	Action
•	118f9c55-4990-4cb3-90f8-3a1b2 dfece1b	Topology	jKool	Inactive	Active	
Que	ery: Event,Activity,Snapshot,Log,Se	t,Job				
			Repositories Topology	-	Generate t	token

Figure 3.2.7-A. Personal Tokens

Click the blue square icon 🚟 within the **Action** column display the QR code.



Figure 3.2.7-B. Personal Tokens – Display QR Code

To generate a new token with a unique QR code for a repository, select a repository from the **Repositories** drop-down menu and click **Generate token**.

Click the red **X** button to delete a token.

Chapter 4: Functions

See below sections for the library of functions available in Nastel XRay.

4.1 General Functions

Table 3. General Functions		
Function	Definition	
	Converts expr to the specified type , where type is one of the following:	
	BINARY	
	BOOLEAN	
	DECIMAL	
Cast(expr, type)	INTEGER	
	STRING	
	TIMESTAMP	
	TIMEINTERVAL	
	If <i>expr</i> cannot be converted to the specified <i>type</i> , then NULL is returned.	
Coalesce(expr,)	Returns the first non-NULL argument, or NULL if all arguments are NULL.	
Convert (expr, type)	Synonym for Cast.	
FindIn(item, list)	Returns the 0-based index of <i>item</i> in <i>list</i> . If <i>item</i> is not found, returns -1.	
UUID()	Returns a newly generated UUID.	
ValueAt(pos, list)	Returns the item in 0-based position pos in list . Returns null if pos is negative or >= list size.	

4.2 Numeric Functions

Table 4. Numeric Functions		
Function	Definition	
Abs (x)	Returns the absolute value of x .	
Ceil(x)	Return the smallest integer value not less than x .	

Ceiling(x)	Synonym for Ceil.
Exp (x)	Returns Euler's number e raised to the power $\boldsymbol{x}(\boldsymbol{e}^{\mathbf{x}})$.
Floor(x)	Returns the largest integer value not greater than $oldsymbol{x}$.
Ln (x)	Returns the natural logarithm of x .
Log (x)	Synonym for Ln.
Log10 (x)	Returns the base-10 logarithm of x .
Pow (x , y)	Synonym for Power.
Power(x,y)	Returns $ imes$ raised to the power $oldsymbol{y}\left(oldsymbol{x}^{y} ight)$.
Round (x)	Returns the closest integer to x .
Sqrt (x)	Returns the square root of x .

4.3 String Functions

Table 5. String Functions		
Function	Definition	
Concat(expr,expr,)	Returns the string resulting from concatenating the string representation of each <i>expr</i> in order. NULL values are skipped.	
ConcatWS(<i>sep</i> , <i>expr</i> , <i>expr</i> ,)	Returns the string resulting from concatenating the string representation of each <i>expr</i> in order, with each value being separated by <i>sep</i> , which must be a STRING. NULL values are skipped.	
Lcase(<i>expr</i>)	Synonym for Lower.	
Left(<i>expr,len</i>)	Returns the left-most <i>len</i> characters from string representation of <i>expr</i> .	
Len(<i>expr</i>)	Synonym for Length.	
Length(<i>expr</i>)	Returns the length of the specified <i>expr</i> . If <i>expr</i> is a list, returns the number of items in the list. Otherwise, returns the number of characters in the string representation of <i>expr</i> .	
Locate(expr, substr, [pos,[occ]])	Synonym for Position.	

Nastel XRay User's Guide

LocateRE(<i>expr</i> , <i>regex</i> , [<i>pos</i> ,[<i>occ</i>]])	Synonym for PositionRE.
Lower(<i>expr</i>)	Returns the lower-case string representation of <i>expr</i> .
<pre>Position(expr, substr [,pos[,occ]])</pre>	Returns the 0-based index of the <i>occ</i> occurrence (default is 1) of <i>substr</i> in string representation of <i>expr</i> , starting at 0-based position <i>pos</i> (defaults to 0). Returns -1 if number of required occurrences of <i>substr</i> are not found.
<pre>PositionRE(expr,regex [,pos[,occ]])</pre>	Returns the 0-based index of the <i>occ</i> occurrence (default is 1) of substring matching <i>regex</i> in string representation of <i>expr</i> , starting at 0-based position <i>pos</i> (defaults to 0). Returns -1 if number of required occurrences of <i>substr</i> are not found.
Replace(expr,substr [,repl[,pos]])	Replaces each occurrence of <i>substr</i> in string representation of <i>expr</i> , starting at 0-based position <i>pos</i> (defaults to 0), with <i>rep1</i> . If <i>rep1</i> is not specified, then each occurrence of <i>substr</i> is removed.
Right(<i>expr,len</i>)	Returns the right-most <i>len</i> characters from string representation of <i>expr</i> .
<pre>StrAt(expr,pos[,sep])</pre>	Returns the string at 0-based position <i>pos</i> from result of splitting string representation of <i>expr</i> using <i>sep</i> as element separator. If <i>sep</i> is not specified, then string representation of <i>expr</i> is treated as a simple character array and returns the character at <i>pos</i> as a string.
<pre>SubStr(expr,start[,end])</pre>	Returns the substring from string representation of <i>expr</i> , starting at 0-based position <i>start</i> inclusive, ending at position <i>end</i> , exclusive. If <i>end</i> is not specified, then defaults to end of <i>expr</i> .
<pre>SubStrRE(expr, regex [,pos[,occ]])</pre>	Returns the <i>occ</i> (occurrence), or regex group (default is 1) of the substring from string representation of <i>expr</i> , starting at 0-based position <i>pos</i> (defaults to 0). Returns NULL if number of required occurrences of substring matching <i>regex</i> are not found.
Tokenize(<i>expr</i> [, <i>sep</i>])	Returns the list of strings formed by splitting the string representation of <i>expr</i> with <i>sep</i> being the separator between tokens (default is ", ").
Ucase(<i>expr</i>)	Synonym for Upper.
Upper(<i>expr</i>)	Returns the upper-case string representation of <i>expr</i> .

4.4 Date and Time Functions

Γ

1

Table 6. Date and Time Functions			
Function	Definition		
CurrentTime()	Synonym for Now.		
CurTime()	Synonym for Now.		
DateAdd(<i>tstamp</i> , <i>intvl</i>)	Adds time interval <i>intvl</i> to timestamp <i>tstamp</i> , returning the resulting timestamp.		
	Returns the timestamp resulting from adjusting the specified <i>tstamp</i> , based on the specified calendar component <i>cal</i> and the adjustment direction <i>dir</i> .		
<pre>DateAdjust(tstamp,cal[,dir])</pre>	<i>cal</i> is one of : YEAR, MONTH, DAY, HOUR, MINUTE, SECOND, MILLISECOND, MICROSECOND, WEEK		
	dir is one of: START, END (if omitted, defaults to START)		
	Example: DateAdjust(StartTime, 'DAY', 'START') returns the start of the day for timestamp in StartTime field.		
DateDiff(<i>tstamp1</i> , <i>tstamp2</i>)	Returns the difference between the 2 timestamps (tstamp1 - tstamp2) as a time interval.		
	Returns the value of the specified calendar component <i>cal</i> from timestamp <i>tstamp</i> .		
DateExtract(<i>tstamp</i> , cal)			
	<i>cal</i> is one of: YEAR, MONTH, DAY, HOUR, MINUTE, SECOND, MILLISECOND, MICROSECOND, WEEK		
DayOfWeek(<i>tstamp</i>)	Returns the day of the week that timestamp <i>tstamp</i> falls on.		
Now ()	Returns current time as a timestamp.		

4.5 Built-in Aggregate Functions

Table 7. Built-in Aggregate Functions			
Function	Definition		
	Returns the Apdex (Application Performance Index), which is a measure of satisfaction level, in the range 0.0 – 1.0, of the set of values for <i>expr</i> based on target value <i>target</i> and tolerable value <i>tolerable</i> , where 0.0 means totally unacceptable and 1.0 means totally satisfied.		
	The target value is the value below which all values are satisfactory, or acceptable. The tolerable value is the value at or below which the values are tolerable. This value defaults to 4 times the target value.		
	The Apdex formula is defined as follows:		
<pre>Apdex([DISTINCT] expr, target[,tolerable])</pre>	SatisfiedCount + 0.5(ToleratedCount) Apdex = TotalCount		
	Where:		
	<i>SatisfiedCount</i> is the number of <i>expr</i> values < <i>target</i>		
	<i>ToleratedCount</i> is the number of <i>expr</i> values >= <i>target</i> and <= <i>tolerable</i>		
	<i>TotalCount</i> is the total number of <i>expr</i> values (including those that are > <i>tolerable</i>).		
	If DISTINCT is specified, returns the Apdex value from set of distinct values.		
Average([DISTINCT] expr)	Synonym for Avg.		
Avg([DISTINCT] <i>expr</i>)	Returns the average of all expr values for group. If DISTINCT is specified, returns the average of distinct set of values.		
Close([DISTINCT] <i>expr</i> [,basedon])	Returns the "closing" or "ending" value of <i>expr</i> , which is the value of <i>expr</i> having the maximum value of <i>basedon</i> expression. If <i>basedon</i> is not specified, then the default date field for item type in statement is used. DISTINCT is accepted but is ignored.		

Count([DISTINCT] <i>expr</i>)	Returns the number of <i>expr</i> values for group. If DISTINCT is specified, returns the number of distinct values.
List([DISTINCT] expr)	Returns the comma-separated list of all <i>expr</i> values. If DISTINCT is specified, returns the list of distinct values.
Max([DISTINCT] <i>expr</i>)	Returns the maximum of <i>expr</i> values for group. DISTINCT is accepted but is ignored.
Maximum([DISTINCT] <i>expr</i>)	Synonym for Max.
Mean([DISTINCT] <i>expr</i>)	Synonym for Avg.
Median([DISTINCT] <i>expr</i>)	Returns the "middle" value, based on sorted order of all values for <i>expr</i> . If DISTINCT is specified, returns the middle value from set of sorted distinct values.
Min([DISTINCT] <i>expr</i>)	Returns the minimum of <i>expr</i> values for group. DISTINCT is accepted but is ignored.
Minimum([DISTINCT] <i>expr</i>)	Synonym for Min.
Open([DISTINCT] <i>expr</i> [, <i>basedon</i>])	Returns the "opening" or "starting" value of <i>expr</i> , which is the value of <i>expr</i> having the minimum value of <i>basedon</i> expression. If <i>basedon</i> is not specified, then the default date field for item type in statement is used. DISTINCT is accepted but is ignored.
StdDev([DISTINCT] expr)	Synonym for StdDevPop.
StdDevPop([DISTINCT] expr)	Returns the population standard deviation of all values for <i>expr</i> . If DISTINCT is specified, returns population standard deviation of distinct set of values.
StdDevSample([DISTINCT] <i>expr</i>)	Returns the sample standard deviation of all values for <i>expr</i> . If DISTINCT is specified, returns sample standard deviation of distinct set of values.
Sum([DISTINCT] <i>expr</i>)	Returns the sum of all $expr$ values for group. If DISTINCT is specified, returns the sum of distinct set of values.
Var([DISTINCT] <i>expr</i>)	Synonym for VariancePop.
Variance([DISTINCT] <i>expr</i>)	Synonym for VariancePop.
VariancePop([DISTINCT] <i>expr</i>)	Returns the population variance of all values for <i>expr</i> . If DISTINCT is specified, returns population variance of distinct set of values.

VarianceSample([DISTINCT] expr)	Returns the sample variance of all values for <i>expr</i> . If DISTINCT is specified, returns sample variance of distinct set of values.
VarPop([DISTINCT] <i>expr</i>)	Synonym for VariancePop.
VarSample([DISTINCT] <i>expr</i>)	Synonym for VarianceSample.

4.6 Built-in Analytic Functions

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Function	Definition
Anomaly(<i>expr, season</i>)	Will detect an anomaly on the value of expr. This function uses Netflix RAD Outlier detection which requires a season. The season will be either 'day/week' or 'hour/day'. Queries using this function must group by a time and bucket by either week or day (depending on the season chosen). For example: Get activity compute anomaly avg (ElapsedTime), 'day/week') where name = 'Orders' and startTime > '2017-01-02' and starttime < '2017-02-01' group by starttime bucketed by day
anomalyDeepDiveRogueEdges()	Once an anomaly is detected, anomalyDeepDiveRogueEdges can provide further insight into why the anomaly occurred. It will return records which when shown as a topology in the Nastel XRay UI, will color red and edges that contain numeric values that deviate from the norm for the edge by a specified margin.
Average(<i>expr</i>)	Synonym for Avg.
Avg(<i>expr</i>)	Returns the average of all expr values.

Table 8. Built-in Analytic Functions

BBands(expr [,window[,stdevs	Returns the Bollinger Bands based on value of <i>expr</i> .
[,useEMA]]])	Bollinger Bands are used to measure the "highness" or "lowness" of a value relative to previous values. They consist of:
	 a window -period (default is 20) moving average (MA). an upper band at stdevs (default is 2) times the N-period standard deviation above the moving average (MA + Kσ). a lower band at stdevs times an N-period standard deviation below the moving average (MA - Kσ). The moving average is computed as an Exponential Moving Average (EMA) if useEMA is true (the default), or as a Simple Moving Average (SMA) if useEMA is false.
<pre>BollingerBands(expr [,window[,stdevs[,useEMA]]])</pre>	Synonym for BBands.
EMA(expr [,window])	Returns the Exponential Moving Average (EMA) based on value of <i>expr</i> .
	An EMA is a <i>window</i> -period (default is 20) type of moving average that is similar to a simple moving average, except that more weight is given to the latest data. The general formula is:
	"curEMA = "(("curVal - priorEMA")" * weight")" + priorEMA"
	Where:
	<i>weight</i> = 2 / (window + 1)
Max(expr)	Returns the maximum of <i>expr</i> values.
Maximum(<i>expr</i>)	Synonym for Max.
Mean(<i>expr</i>)	Synonym for Avg.
Median(<i>expr</i>)	Returns the "middle" value, based on sorted order of all values for <i>expr</i> .
Min(<i>expr</i>)	Returns the minimum of <i>expr</i> values for group.
Minimum(<i>expr</i>)	Synonym for Min.

SMA(expr[,window])	Returns the Simple Moving Average (SMA) based on value of <i>expr</i> .
	average that gives equal weight to each data item. It is essentially the mean of the data items in the window.
StdDev(<i>expr</i>)	Synonym for StdDevPop.
StdDevPop(<i>expr</i>)	Returns the population standard deviation of all values for <i>expr</i> .
StdDevSample(<i>expr</i>)	Returns the sample standard deviation of all values for <i>expr</i> .
Subanomaly(begin, end, anomaly-begin, anomaly-end, season, expr)	Will provide further detail if an anomaly was detected when the Anomaly function was run from <i>begin</i> to <i>end</i> with the season and an anomaly was detected between anomaly- begin and anomaly-end. For example: get activity compute subanomalies('2017-01-02','2017-02- 01','2017-01-22','2017-01- 23','day/week','avg(elapsedTime)')
Sum(<i>expr</i>)	Returns the sum of all <i>expr</i> values for group.
Var(<i>expr</i>)	Synonym for VariancePop.
Variance(<i>expr</i>)	Synonym for VariancePop.
VariancePop(<i>expr</i>)	Returns the population variance of all values for <i>expr</i> .
VarianceSample(<i>expr</i>)	Returns the sample variance of all values for <i>expr</i> .
VarPop(<i>expr</i>)	Synonym for VariancePop.
VarSample(<i>expr</i>)	Synonym for VarianceSample.

Example

The following example is to compute the BollingerBands for events based on the average daily elapsed time based on a 10-day exponential moving average for this month:

jKQL> Get Events Compute BBands(Avg(ElapsedTime), 10) For This Month Group By StartTime Bucketed by Day

Chapter 5: Using jKQL

The jKQL Data Query Language allows you to *talk* to your data. Create viewlets and modify them to get visually represented information about your data.

To generate viewlets, queries require certain components at a minimum. The syntax of a jKQL query includes the operation or action to be used for a specific item type, as well as, various date &time, numeric expressions, limiting operators, result grouping modifiers and viewlet chart type names. The syntax of a jKQL query should appear as follows (required elements are bolded):

jKQL> <action> <numeric expression> <limiting operator> <item type>
<date/time expression> <comparison operator> <result grouping modifier>
<viewlet chart type>

The table below lists basic query elements.

Table 9. Query Syntax Elements	
Query Element	Expression
<action></action>	 Get (<u>Section 5.1</u>) Subscribe to (<u>Section 5.3</u>) Compare (<u>Section 5.4</u>) Find (<u>Section 5.4</u>)
<numeric expression=""></numeric>	Specify any number of data items, which should be included in a viewlet – 5, 8, 10, etc.
<limiting expression=""></limiting>	These operators limit the query results. If the number of items, to which the limits will be set was not specified, the default number will be "1". Best Bottom Earliest First Largest Last Latest Shortest Shortest Morst
<item type=""></item>	 jKQL recognizes singular or plural form of the expression, that is, Activity and Activities, so both forms are valid to use. Activity Event
	 Snapshot Source Resource Set Relative Field Provider Action Trigger Log Function Repository Team Organization User Parameter License Expressions 'Count of' or 'Number of' can be added before item type names.
-------------------------------------	---
<date expression="" time=""></date>	jKQL recognizes singular or plural expression forms, that is, Year and Years, so both forms are valid to use. Year Month Week Day Hour Minute Second Millisecond Microsecond These date and time expressions can be combined with numbers and limiting operators, for example last 5 years, latest weeks and so on. Below is a list of date and time limiting operators: Last Next Last Next Latest Earliest This Today Yesterday Tomorrow An exact time value can be added for certain time expressions, for example, yesterday at 9 am.

<comparison operator=""></comparison>	 Starts with all / any of <<i>listed items</i>>; Does not start Matches all / any / none of <<i>listed items</i>>; Does not match Contains all / any / none of <<i>listed items</i>>; Does not contain Ends with all / any / none of <<i>listed items</i>>; Does not end Is (=); Is not (!= or <>) in <<i>list of items</i>> Has all / any / none of <<i>listed items</i>>; Does not have Between; not between > or >= - greater than or equal to specified <i>expression</i> < or <= - less than or equal to specified <i>expression</i>
<result grouping<br="">modifier></result>	 Group by Sort by Order asc / desc (ascending / descending) Bucketed by See <u>Section 5.4, Additional Query Options</u>, for more information.
<viewlet chart="" type=""></viewlet>	'Show as' expression must be used before specifying the chart type. All chart types are noted in <u>Section 5.2, Show As</u> . 'Show as table' is the default.

For more information on the data model and functions jKQL supports, please see the *jKQL User's Guide*.

5.1 Get

The **Get** statement is used for retrieving items from the database. Please see *Table 10* below for examples.

	Table 10. Get Examples
Definition	Query Statement
To get default fields for all Activity items	jKQL> Get Activities
To get all fields for all Activity items in Set " <i>Purchasing</i> "	<pre>jKQL> Get Activity Fields All from 'Purchasing'</pre>
To get the number of Activity items in Set " <i>Purchasing</i> "	<pre>jKQL> Get number of Activities from 'Purchasing'</pre>

To get the number of Activity items in Set " <i>Purchasing</i> " that started today	<pre>jKQL> Get number of Activities from 'Purchasing' for today</pre>
To get the 10 longest running Activities in Set " <i>Purchasing</i> " that started today	jKQL> Get top 10 Activities from 'Purchasing' for today sort by ElapsedTime desc
To get the number of Activities in " <i>Payment</i> " last week grouped by their start time	jKQL> Get number of Activities from Payment for last week group by starttime
To get the number of Activities in Set "Purchasing" for each Activity status for the last week	jKQL> Get number of Activities from 'Purchasing' for last week group by Status
To get the number of Activities in Set "Purchasing" that met all objectives	<pre>jKQL> Get number of Activities from 'Purchasing' that met all objectives</pre>
To get the number of Activities in Set "Purchasing" that did not meet some objectives	jKQL> Get number of Activities from 'Purchasing' that have not met all objectives
To get the number of Activities in Set "Purchasing" that did not meet objectives "A" and "B"	<pre>jKQL> Get number of Activities from 'Purchasing' that have not met objectives 'A','B'</pre>
To get Activities in Set "Purchasing" that did not meet objectives "A" and "B" from set "Web Purchases"	<pre>jKQL> Get Activities from 'Purchasing' that have not met objectives 'A','B' from 'Web Purchases'</pre>

5.2 Show As

Users can specify the format of the displayed results by using **show as** at the end of a query. **Show as Table** is the default. Other **show as** viewlet type options are column chart ("colchart"), bar chart ("barchart"), line chart ("linechart"), pie chart ("piechart"), stack chart ("stackchart"), geo map ("geomap"), scorecard ("scorecard"), area chart ("areachart"), summary ("summary"), topology ("topology"), anomaly chart ("anomalychart"), compare table ("comparetable") and histogram ("histogram").

The following is an example:

jKQL> Get relatives show as topology

5.3 Subscribe To

The **Subscribe** statement is used for submitting real-time queries, which are queries that are evaluated as the data is streamed in. The following are examples:

- **jKQL>** Subscribe to Number Of Event group by Severity output every 5 seconds show as barchart
- **jKQL>** Subscribe to Number Of Event group by Severity output every 5 seconds ORDER BY severity show as piechart
- **jKQL>** Subscribe to number of events where eventname contains 'Order' group by eventname, severity order by severity output every 2 seconds show as colchart

5.4 Additional Query Options

Enrich your queries with additional items such as:

- Time ranges Month, day, hour jKQL> Get events for this month
- **Group by** Creates a row for each unique set of values for columns being grouped on jKQL> Get events fields location where eventname contains 'order' group by location show as barchart
- Buckets Bucketing allows multiple "group by" result rows to be combined into a single result row. Used when a "group by" statement returns too much data.
 Bucketing can only be applied to INTEGER, DECIMAL, TIMESTAMP, and TIMEINTERVAL data types

jKQL> Get number of events group by starttime bucketed by minute show as anomalychart * this query will use the auto bucketing type

jKQL> Get number of activities group by snapshotcount bucketed by size 7 show as histogram

* this query will use the "*size*" bucketing type. It displays data, divided in multiple intervals according to the size range specified.

jKQL> Get number of activities group by eventcount bucketed by count 3 show as table

* this query will use the "*count*" bucketing type. It displays data, divided in a specified number of intervals.

• Locations – Geolocation

jKQL> Get Event for This Month where Location ='London, England'

- Sort by Sorting criteria jKQL> Get Activities from 'Purchasing' for today sort by ElapsedTime desc
- Order by Sort data in ascending (asc) or descending (desc) ordering jKQL> Get Events order by eventID desc
- **Last** Filter data for a specified time range

jKQL> Get number of events for last 5 days

• **Latest** – Starts filtering from latest time period, which includes displayable data. This differs from "*last*" which could return nothing as there may not be any events in the last 5 days

 $\mathsf{jKQL}\mathsf{>}$ Get number of events for latest 5 days group by starttime bucketed by day, severity show as stackchart

• **Compare** – Compare two or more items (*section 2.5.4.1.1.8*). Use the expression "*only diffs*" to display only differences in the table.

jKQL> Compare Activity where ActivityID in ('activity ID of first selected activity', 'activity ID of second selected activity') show as comparetable

jKQL> Compare Event where EventID in ('event ID of first selected event', 'event ID of second selected event') show as comparetable

jKQL> Compare only diffs longest 2 event show as comparetable

• Find – Search through the items (<u>section 2.3.4</u>)

jKQL> Find 'order' in Activities

jKQL> Find 'critical' in Events

jKQL> Find 'CPU' in Snapshots

Modify – Filter viewlet data (<u>Section 2.5.8.1</u>). Use the expression, "where <item_type>=\${E:<item_type>:<item_type>}".

jKQL> get number of Event where EventType = \${E:event type:Event:EventType} group by Severity show as colchart

*Change the values between the curly brackets

jKQL> get relative where RelativeType = \${E:Relative Type:Relative:RelativeType} show as topology get Relative where RelativeType = 'SendTo' show as topology

iKQL> get event containing all of \${SM:<filter name>} show as table

KQL> get Event where Severity = \${E:severity:Event:Severity} AND ElapsedTime >

\${V:etime} AND CompCode >= \${E:compcode:Event:CompCode} show as table

* "AND" expressions can be used to apply multiple variables

Chapter 6: Use Case Examples

6.1 Root Cause Analysis of Application Performance Problems



Figure 6.1-A. Root Cause Analysis

Nastel XRay uses machine learning to detect anomalies in time-series data and can automatically determine the probable root cause of this anomaly. It can create a dynamic visualization of application topology and show the chain of causality between the anomaly and the applications that it has impacted. It can also detect if any business objectives or SLAs were impacted by this anomaly.

The sample viewlet above is using machine learning to detect anomalies. This scenario is based on real data representing airport terminals and flights. We have represented an airline at a terminal as an application, a terminal as a server, a data center as an airport, and the sky as a resource.

An anomaly was detected on February 18th with an average delay for the day of 45 minutes. If we click on the anomaly, we are transported to the console for a drill-down showing the topology of that anomaly. The graph shows a US Air flight traveling from Charlotte (CLT) to Phoenix (PHX). The red edges, called rogue edges, represent a problematic relationship between the terminal in Charlotte and the one in Phoenix. Clicking on the rogue edge provides a root-cause analysis of the problem. There was a delay at Charlotte, and it took 8

times longer than average to get into the air. The average delay was about 9 minutes, while the worst actual delay was about 1 hour and 16 minutes.

While this example used airports, it's easy to see how this would be applied to elapsed time for applications in an IT operation use case.

6.2 Real User Monitoring

<u>.</u>			_	
Real User Monthering				e
KOLE Get number of activities EUM_SMRY	group by geolocation show as geomep			図の実施の人
• • •	🔓 🔬	_ 8	1	
Paul & M.	Commack, New York, United States		-	
242	 End user monitoring 	Renter	uue (8	
E 25.3		- Avg	Max	100 C
	End user response line	7.025e	7.482+	all of
	First Syla bree	6.8731	7.3490	
2. 2	Server connection time	4.1319	4 1350	1990
	Response available time	2,7421	2,2170	
Contraction of the second s	Front and Sme	15102	177116	
Contraction of the second	Decement ready time	82119	10100	
	Document dovrmand time	20mi	-60m	and the second se
	Document processing time	54ms	76ms	100 C
	Page render time	10ms	77986	
	 Applications 		(1)	
	 Activities 		(100)	N
	 Evente 		(110)	

Figure 6.2-A. Real User Monitoring

The screenshot above shows a real user monitoring scenario focusing on users in North America. The popup on the geographic map is showing a full breakdown of the components and elapsed time for the user transaction.

Complete tracking of the end user's experience is provided in real-time. Browsers are automatically injected with instrumentation without a need to modify your applications. Nastel XRay can find the bottlenecks that cause a user to have a negative experience and correlate their problems with issues in the browser itself, applications that the user's session is dependent on such as JVMs or databases. Nastel XRay tracks transactions end-to-end starting at the user with a web browser and interacting with application servers, middleware, databases, and local or Cloud mainframes.

6.3 Managed File Transfer (MFT)

MFT Tracking_MFT Event Summary 490 events						
peaks get count of ever	onts where e	exception extras group by	seventy, eventuame, serventame, exc	eption order by severity desc show as scorecar	a ⊵o⊯≞ov	
Severity.	0.	EventName	Servertiano	Exception	Event Count	
() (() () ()		tuobaes	182,168,168,1	BFGI00001E File "C Userstuser/ACPIGADP tri" does not sold:	×	
				BFGA00001E. File "C'clameruser/AMERENWI,INGUARD 5/" doet rat evid.	1	
C Entrion		ReadOrder	PaymentServerSi/NFT	SQLException: unknown column cushid	17	
M WARREND		EvaluateFraud	FraudDetection	Provible fault	ŧ,	
		completed	182,168,168,1	BFGRP0(34: The file bandler request has completed with no files being transferred.	2	
NOTICE		completed	192, 168, 168, 1	BFGR/100325. The fix transfer request has numerofully completed.	277	
THE PERF		completed	192,188.188.1	BFGRP00321: The life barefor request has successfully completed	144	

Figure 6.3-A. Managed File Transfers

The Nastel XRay dashboard above has been set up to analyze managed file transfers (MFTs). There are various viewlets to track MFTs by application, agent, resource, destination, and status.

Nastel XRay tracks all data movement across complex topologies. All MFT transfers relate to downstream events from sources including other MFTs, middleware, brokers, and other business applications. Metrics on MFTs are captured in real-time and evaluated in terms of SLAs and business objectives. Appropriate notifications are sent out for missed objectives. A search capability is provided to review past transfers and their attributes. Nastel XRay provides a dynamic topology of all MFT transactions.

6.4 Application Performance Monitoring

KQL> Get re	latives show as topology						
	Server 📷 Application	DataCenter	Resource E Database	😲 Oueue — Sent Mes	sagar Acts On myapş) 🏚 Dad	Enclosed x jar y	ndroid-tools jar -)
Ξ	Acceptance	Ÿ					ə 💓
19 - 19	Activities	(24)			I		NEC:
	ActivityStatus	Count (24)		com/nastel/test/Tools.java	utis	jar mysql	-connector-5.1.7 jar
	L Exception	0				• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	ə 🐻
	Others	24					- TF
	Events (9	0)		Gradle	myAndroi	sApp jar	
	Severity	Count (90)				، (reject-Android
	Others	ieverity Count (90) Perror 23 Others 67 Project Android Acceptance myAppl-Oracle	Í				
Jenkins Bu	iid Workflow × vent for This Year where se	rvemame in ('Acceptanc	eStaging") and AppiName in (Acceptance') and sevently in (1	Frror') show as table	Control	
EventNar	me StartTime	ElapsedTir	ne EventType	Message	Severity	Exception	EventID
RunTest2	2017-01-27 1	4:38:40.92254 22ms	CALL	Running acceptanc	O ERROR	Failed to run test 1 02	193/5e41-21e7-11
RunTest2	2017-01-27 1	4.39.10.70168 22ms	CALL	Running acceptanc	O ERROR	Failed to run test 1 51	2m5ef3-21e7-11e6
RunTest2	2017-01-27 1	4.47.31.62609 25ms	CALL	Running acceptanc	O ERROR	Failed to run test 1	5a951e28-21e8-11
RunTest2	2017-01-27 1	4.47.31.86294 23ms	CALL	Running acceptanc	O ERROR	Failed to run test 1	5ab92076-21e8-11
RunTest2	2017-01-27 1	4:38:41.08802.25ms	CALL	Running acceptanc	C EBROR	Failed to run test 1 81	1e583ccd-21e7-11
😐 RunTest2	2017-01-27 1	4 39 10 58219 23ms	CALL	Running acceptanc.	O ERROR	Failed to run test 1	2fee58ae-21e7-11
RunTest2	2017-01-27 1	4.39.10.78103.21ms	CALL	Running acceptanc .	C ERROR	Failed to run test 1 013	3008e501-21e7-11
RunTest2	2017-01-27 1	4:39:08:34032 25ms	CALL	Running acceptanc	O ERROR	Failed to run test 1	21e6b773-21e7-11
DunTert?	2017-01-27 1	4 38 41 00757 3Ame	(*AL)	Dunning president	Aceene	Epilarith nin fact t (1)	104/1711.7107.110

Figure 6.4-A. Application Performance Monitoring

The Nastel XRay dashboard example above for application performance monitoring (APM) is illustrating how to monitor the DevOps Jenkins based continuous build-deploy process. The top viewlet is an automatically discovered topology map showing applications and their relationships to other applications such as "Maven" to "Deploy" as well as resources such an Oracle database and a log4j jar file. It shows the flow of a deployment process and any exceptions incurred. The bottom viewlet is called the Console and it opens when a user drills down into an object on a viewlet to get additional details.

Nastel XRay provides deep-dive monitoring of the performance and availability of applications end-to-end across Web Services, application servers (Java, .Net), middleware, mainframes, and more. Its automation eliminates the need for constant "eyes-on-screen" monitoring to eradicate false alarms and provide automated notification of real situations that require attention.

6.5 Mobile Analytics



Figure 6.5-A. Mobile Analytics

The sample mobile analytics dashboard above is highlighting a scenario where performance is compared to mobile app version, carrier, and device. Using our mobile APIs we can track user experience through every mobile app screen, analyze user experience and determine which app versions, devices and carriers deliver the best experience.

Nastel XRay provides end-to-end visibility into mobile application behavior and performance for both iOS and Android. RESTful APIs for streaming data and real-time tracking are provided. Mobile apps can stream their data to Nastel XRay, submit interactive queries, and subscribe to real-time analytics. Crashes can be captured and analyzed for forensic purposes. The APIs enable complete analysis of a user's interaction with your applications, relating the specific click path through an application correlated with app version, device information, and even business behavior such as purchasing or cart abandonment.

6.6 Kafka Monitoring



Figure 6.6-A. Kafka Monitoring

The viewlet above shows the auto-discovered, publish-subscribe topology of a Kafka network including senders, readers, and topics. Each edge (the lines between nodes) has statistics showing average elapsed time and count. This image shows the topology of a Kafka sender publishing messages with topics and several Kafka readers subscribed to specific topics.

A single-point-of-truth is provided to track performance, latency, logs, auditing, and content surveillance. Nastel XRay provides complete message flow analytics relating applications to the messages they publish to Kafka and the applications that subscribe to them.

Chapter 7: Troubleshooting

The following are examples of jKQL query errors and suggestions on how to resolve them.

Case 1: The message, *No record found*, is displayed in the viewlet.

 \rightarrow Try to modify the viewlet's date and time range. Confirm that your repository has imported data.



Figure 7-A. No Record Found Message

 \rightarrow Try to modify the query conditions if the date and time range do not work.

Viewlet 21			
jKQL> Get Activity fields ActivityIC), starttime, Endtime, Elapsedtime, date	diff(starttime,Endtime) where DateDiff(S	tartTime,Endtime) >10Sec
		No record found	

Figure 7-B. No Record Found – Modify Query

-	Viewlet 21					
jKQ	L> Get Activity fields Ac	tivityID, starttime, Endtim	ne, Elapsedtime, datedif	f(starttime,Endtime) wher	e DateDiff(StartTime,End	ime) <10Sec
	ActivityID	StartTime	EndTime	ElapsedTime	DateDiff(StartTime,EndTirr	
	7da95ccc-9ef8-11e9-85ec-0	(<u>7/5/2019, 1:12:50 PM</u>	7/5/2019, 1:12:50 PM	<u>43µs</u>	-43µs	
	0076e2eb-9ef8-11e9-85ec-0	7/5/2019, 1:09:20 PM	7/5/2019, 1:09:20 PM	<u>56µs</u>	-56µs	
	b6b0aed8-9ef1-11e9-85ec-0	7/5/2019, 12:24:20 PM	7/5/2019, 12:24:20 PM	<u>34µs</u>	-34µs	
	92e85fc7-9ef1-11e9-85ec-00	7/5/2019, 12:23:20 PM	7/5/2019, 12:23:20 PM	<u>221µs</u>	-221µs	
	6f22cfd6-9ef1-11e9-85ec-00	7/5/2019, 12:22:20 PM	7/5/2019, 12:22:20 PM	<u>67µs</u>	-67µs	
	4b577385-9ef1-11e9-85ec-0	7/5/2019, 12:21:19 PM	7/5/2019, 12:21:19 PM	<u>38µs</u>	-38µs	
	506abc39-9ef1-11e9-81e4-0	7/5/2019, 12:20:59 PM	7/5/2019, 12:21:29 PM	30s 51ms	-778µs	
	3e834d33-9ef1-11e9-81e4-0) <u>7/5/2019, 12:20:40 PM</u>	7/5/2019, 12:20:59 PM	<u>19s 865ms</u>	-314µs	
	2ced59af-9ef1-11e9-81e4-0	(<u>7/5/2019, 12:20:20 PM</u>	7/5/2019, 12:20:29 PM	<u>9s 920ms</u>	-495µs	
	2ca04b09-9ef1-11e9-81e4-0	7/5/2019, 12:20:20 PM	7/5/2019, 12:20:29 PM	<u>9s 950ms</u>	-231µs	
	2ca0721b-9ef1-11e9-81e4-0	7/5/2019, 12:20:20 PM	7/5/2019, 12:20:29 PM	<u>9s 935ms</u>	-448µs	
			ान २व	Page 1 of 87 🏎 🕨	1	

Figure 7-C. No Record Found – Modify Query

Case 2: The viewlet message displays the requirements of the query.

 \rightarrow Update your query according to the viewlet's message.



Figure 7-D. Query Requirements Message

Case 3: The viewlet message states that the query needs to be modified.

 \rightarrow Modify the query's expressions. Confirm that the appropriate data is supplied for the chart axes.

A notification similar to the example below is displayed when a Y axis has incorrect data defined, for example, "String." Another example would be when a histogram's X axis has "Timestamp" defined.



Figure 7-E. Query Requirements Message

Case 4: System displays an error message.

 \rightarrow Modify the query using the information provided in the error message.

Using the example below, many times the solution is to increase "Bucketed by size."



Figure 7-F. Query Error Message

When data of "enum" data type (for example, severity, compcode) are queried to display, the data type values must be used. The severity name can be replaced with the ID from the severity values table, specified by the query.

jKQL> Get enumeration for severity

For example: jKQL> Get events where severity is ('3')



Figure 7-G. Query Error Message

"String" functions such as "Starts With," "Ends With," "Contains," cannot be defined for "Enum" data types.



Figure 7-H. Query Error Message

Case 5: System displays invalid field.

\rightarrow Modify the query by using the function prop before the field.



Figure 7-I. Invalid Field

Some fields are property fields which must be used with the function "prop."

jKQL> get events fields prop('LONGITUDE') order by start time

jKQL> get events fields	prop('LONGITUDE') order by starttime	▶ 3 Ш 🛱 ℃ ∨
LONGITUDE		
<u>13.41053</u>		
<u>-118.24368</u>		
-0.12574		
-0.12574		
-0.12574		-
	i⊲ ≪ Page <mark>1 of 22 ▶> ▶1</mark>	View 1 - 50 of 1,088

Figure 7-J. Prop Function

Case 6: Access required error

An error similar to the one below is displayed when trying to access sets, but this feature is disabled.

KQL> Get sets	m c	m 3 •	• 🕼
😰 com nastel jkool jkql admin JKQLNotLicensedException: Access to Set requires features: Sets			



 \rightarrow Enable sets from the **Features** tab of the *Admin Settings* window.

Branding >	Feature	Description	Status	
Sate		specific criteria		
Permissions	MachineLearning	Allows use of advanced Machine Learning prediction and analysis facilities	C Active O Inactive	
Alerts Schemas	Macros	Allows defining custom classes of data calculations	O Active	
Viewlet	Sets	Allows grouping of Activities and Events based on defined criteria	C Active O Inactive	
Graph Get Collectors	Subscriptions	Allows using real-time queries to monitor streamed data as it is received	O Active	
Features	Triggers	Allows monitoring of activity analysis taking specific actions, or raising alerts, when specific criteria are met	Active Active Inactive	
License	Views	Allows defining precomputed, cached query results	O Active	

Figure 7-L. Enable Sets

Case 7: Syntax error.



Figure 7-M. Syntax Error

As the error above mentions, only one where clause should be mentioned as seen in the example below.

Nastel XRay User's Guide



Figure 7-N. One Where Clause

Syntax error query > Get events fields avg(elapsedtime), min(elapsedtime), max(elapsedtime) where elapsedtime exists where starttime between '2018-12-10 0:0:0' and '2019-12-31 23:59:59' group by starttime bucketed by day show as anomalychart

Correct syntax > Get events fields avg(elapsedtime), min(elapsedtime), max(elapsedtime) where elapsedtime exists and starttime between '2018-12-10 0:0:0' and '2019-12-31 23:59:59' group by starttime bucketed by day show as anomalychart



Case 7.1: When passing a field name to a function, do not use the 'symbol.

Figure 7-0. Syntax Error Due to 'Symbol

Nastel XRay User's Guide

Chapter 7: Troubleshooting



Figure 7-P. Passing Field Name

For

example:

jKQL> Get events fields avg(elapsedtime), min(elapsedtime), max(elapsedtime) where elapsedtime exists and starttime between '2018-12-10 0:0:0' and '2019-12-31 23:59:59' group by starttime bucketed by day show as anomalychart

Case 8: Request time out is displayed.

 \rightarrow Try to refresh the viewlet by clicking on the **Refresh** button \bigcirc located at the top right corner of the viewlet.

Sometimes the response can take longer than expected due to various reasons, for example, a network issue.



Figure 7-Q. Request Timeout

Case 9: "Show as" type is invalid.

 \rightarrow An incorrect viewlet chart type was used. Specify a valid chart type to display the data (see the subsections of <u>2.5.4</u> for available chart types to use).

jKQL> Get Number of Events show as chart	> C ≦ ≦ C ≤
🙁 Invalid "show as" type	

Figure 7-R. Invalid Type

Case 10: Error message when using the Relative function.

 \rightarrow The Relative function currently only works for activities.



Figure 7-S. Relatives Error

Index

About Nastel XRay1
Accessing Nastel XRay5
Actions148
Activity Concept2
Alerts143
Anomaly
Branding116
Collectors
Console Panel
Dashboard
Drilldown
Dashboards22
Arrangement28
Assign to Teams26
Asterisk22
Close
Configure154
Сору27
Create
Create Temporary Viewlet41
Default27
Delete156
Export113
Import112
Layout27, 155
Menu25
Open25
Override112
Refresh Interval159
Rename155
Samples22
Save27
Data 4
Import109
Data Model2
Data Points18, 22, 149
Date & Time Range
Default154
Set for Repository19
Viewlet
Demos
Document Historyv
Drilldown40, 41
End User Monitoring
Event Concept2
Export
Dashboards113
Sets115

Viewlets	112
Features	150
Feedback	22
Filtering	98
Form	34
Functions	165
Built-in Aggregate Functions	169
Built-in Analytic Functions	171
Date and Time	167
General	165
Numeric	165
String	166
Generate Token	164
Get	176
Graph	150
Help	18
Import	
Dasbhoards	112
Data	109
Sets	114
Viewlets	111
Import / Export	
Data	6
jKQL	174
Additional Query Options	178
Get	176
Show As	177
Subscribe To	178
jKQL Scripts	140
Key Benefits	2
Landing Page	6
Disable / Enable	158
License	22
Logos	117
Logout	18
Logout Page	120
Logs	149
Main Menu	21
Modify	98
Open	
Dashboards	25
Viewlet	42
Organization	117, 128
Password	153
Personal Tokens	163
Policies	139
Queries	
Edit	43

Refresh Viewlet	95
Repository	17
Configuration	135
Create	
Default	
Edit	
Manage	
Samples	
Reset Query	43
Sample Dashboards	22
Save / Save As	
Dashboard	27
Schemas	28 <i>ЛЛ</i>
Create	160
Scrints	1/0
Soarch	10
Searc	
Create	120
Delete	120
	123
Euli	ZZ I
Export	
Import	
Override	
Show As	
Snapshot Concept	2
Subscribe To	
Summary Console	
Disable / Enable	157
Summary Panel	29
Teams	131
Create	134
Edit	132
Manage	.132, 134
Tear Off Viewlet	75, 103
Tokens	163
Generate Token	136
Personal Token	163
Toolbar	16
Two-factor Authentication	.129, 151
Users	
Create	131
Create New	
Delete	
Edit	
Organization	

Repositories	135
Teams	131
Variables	98
Viewlets	
Anomaly	
Area	69
Asterisk	
Auto-Play	
Bar	
Collapse	103
Color Customization	150
Column	
Create Viewlet with a Form	
Data Points per Viewlet	149
Edit	
Ellipses	102
Expand	103
Export	112
Geo Map	
Histogram	
Import	111
Line	
Menu	
Move to Dashboard	
Open Existing Viewlet	
Överride	112
Pie	60
Redo	43
Refresh	
Scorecard	65
Scroll Bars	100
Settings	149
Share	104
Show / Hide	103
Show / Hide Chart Elements	102
Size	102
Stack	61
Summary	70
Table	
Tear Off	103
Topology	79
Tree	
Undo	
Zoom In	101
Views	